
PLANNING COMMITTEE

10.00 am

THURSDAY
27 JANUARY 2022

CABINET SUITE - SHIRE HALL, 
GLOUCESTER

MEETING PAPERS





PLANNING COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Thursday 27 January 2022
VENUE: Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Andrea Griffiths

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
To receive declarations by members of (a) personal interests 
(including their nature) and (b) prejudicial interests under the 
Code of Conduct. Members who have an interest to declare are 
asked to complete the Declarations of Interests form at the back 
of the chamber.

Andrea Griffiths

3.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
To answer any written public questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10am on 
Thursday 20th January 2022.

Andrea Griffiths

4.  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 
To answer any written members’ questions about matters which 
are within the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10.00am 
on Thursday 20th January 2022.

Andrea Griffiths

5.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 14)
The Committee is asked to approve the minutes of the previous 
meeting.  

Andrea Griffiths

6.  MEMBERS SITE VISIT (Pages 15 - 26)
To receive the notes of the Members Site Visit held on 20th 
January 2022. 

Sarah Pearse



7.  SITE: WINGMOOR FARM EAST, STOKE ROAD, BISHOP’S 
CLEEVE, CHELTENHAM, GLOUCESTERSHIRE, GL52 7DG  
APPLICATION NO: 19/0066/TWMAJW (Pages 27 - 154)
The Committee is asked to consider the proposed application for 
the variation of condition 7 (Buildings, plant and machinery) and 
19 (Hours of operation) relating to planning consent 
17/0066/TWMAJW dated 19/10/2017.  

Marcus Sparrow

8.  DELEGATED DECISIONS REPORT (Pages 155 - 162)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Sarah Pearse

NOTES

MEMBERSHIP –Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Paul Baker, Cllr David Brown, 
Cllr Alastair Chambers, Cllr Linda Cohen, Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Terry Hale, 
Cllr Nick Housden, Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, Cllr Chris McFarling, 
Cllr Graham Morgan, Cllr Gill Moseley, Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, Cllr Robert Vines and 
Cllr Susan Williams

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Rob Ayliffe 01452 428506
 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the 
meeting. 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect 
reports relating to any item on this Agenda or have any other general queries 
about the meeting, please contact 
Andrea Griffiths, Democratic Services Unit 
: 01452 324206   e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) TRAINING/SUBSTITUTION – All members must have received recent training 
before they can sit on the Committee and take part in discussion and vote. 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Thursday 8 July 2021 
commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Alastair Chambers
Cllr Linda Cohen
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-
Charrington

Cllr Chris McFarling
Cllr Graham Morgan
Cllr Dominic Morris
Cllr Gill Moseley
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE
Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Susan Williams

Apologies: Cllr Paul Baker and Andy Birchley

1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRPERSON 

On calling for nominations for the Chairmanship of the Committee, Cllr Mackenzie-
Charrington was proposed and duly seconded.  There being no other nominations, 
the Committee 

Resolved

That Cllr Mackenzie-Charrington be elected as Chairman for the ensuing civic 
year.

2. APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIRPERSON 

On calling for nominations for the Vice-Chairmanship of the Committee, Cllr Hale 
was proposed and duly seconded.  Councillor Fisher was also proposed and duly 
seconded.  On being put to the vote, Councillor Hale was duly appointed as the 
Vice-Chair of the Planning Committee

Resolved

That Cllr Hale be elected as Vice-Chairman for the ensuing civic year.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

4. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions were received.

5. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

No Members questions were received.  

6. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

Resolved 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 18th March 2021 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.

7. LIMEKILN FARM MIDDLE LYPIATT STROUD GL6 7LR  APPLICATION 
REFERENCE: 20/0056/STMAJW (DISTRICT REFERENCE S.20/2711/CM) 

A summary of the application was presented by Nick Bainton, Senior Planning 
Officer aided by a power point presentation.  (A copy of the presentation is attached 
to the signed minute book)

It was explained that this was a planning application, reference number:  
18/0065/CWMAJM had been made for the proposed use of field as pet cemetery.  
The use of the site was for a waste transfer station for the temporary storage of 
clinical waste; retention of 2no. Cremators for clinical waste burning (ABP Cat 1 
material – domestic pets) and extended office building, together with associated 
works, at Lime Kiln Farm, Middle Lypiatt, Stroud, Gloucestershire. 

The various elements of the application were described as the following: 
- Pet cemetery: In planning terms, the land use was classified as a landfill. In 

real terms, this would involve the burial of fully combusted ashes in the 
ground. There would be associated minor memorials if requested by owners. 
The use of the land for waste disposal dictates that the proposal was a 
county matter. 

- Waste Transfer Station (WTS): there was currently temporary storage of 
clinical waste: animals prior to cremation and bandages, coverings, etc. The 
proposal allowed for that to continue on site. It was noted this had been 
occurring in excess of 20 years. 

- Cremators: The existing Stroud District Council permission limited the use to 
specified cremators. The use of the replacement cremator represented a 
technical breach of condition of that permission.

- Buildings: No further built forms were proposed. It was noted that no visible 
changes were proposed to the site. The buildings and ancillary equipment 
had been on site for a period exceeding 4 years.

The Committee were referred to the plan of the application site.  The sites proximity 
to the surroundings towns and villages were explained in detail.  The site was 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

situated on a prominence in the landscape between a number of valleys, but due to 
the existing mature vegetation and the topography, there were no far reaching 
views of the site.  

In terms of the block plan, it was explained that the application site was central to 
the plan, which contained the reception building, storage building, incinerator 
building and field where the proposed cemetery would be located. Members were 
advised that the public highway ran north to south past the site, it was essentially a 
rural lane. The access was shown as were the two public footpaths, which do not 
use the access road because they terminate either end of it. The committee noted 
the two closest dwellings were Little Limekilns and The Limekilns.

Members noted at slide 5 the view was looking to the north from the end of the 
access, to the left was the office building, central was the main parking area and to 
the right was the storage building.  The Committee were provided with numerous 
photographs of the site and the surrounding area during the course of the 
presentation, as it was not appropriate under Covid regulations to conduct a site 
visit.    

Slide 6 displayed a photograph of the incinerator building, with the access road 
leading off east to the left.  The view to the west, where footpath 7 began towards 
the direction of Stroud was displayed at slide 7.  

Slide 8 showed the view from The Lime Kilns, with the top of the incinerator building 
visible. It was noted the incinerator was undertaking a burn cycle at this time and 
there was no visible smoke.

At slide 9 the view from the public footpath to the west of the site was shown and 
the Lime Kilns was visible to the left of the picture. Members were advised that the 
application site was behind the large clump of trees.

Slide 10 displayed the view along the public footpath to the west of the site, looking 
north, it was noted the mature hedgerow was continuous.  Slide 11 was the view 
from the access road, into the field where the proposed cemetery would be located, 
it was explained that the path was not a designated footpath.

Slide 12 – 16, gave various views of the field and the junction of the access track 
with the public highway, looking east. The public footpath began on the other side 
of the road.  Views of the access road looking west from the public highway were 
clearly displayed in various directions.  

Slide 17 showed the view from public footpath looking North West in the direction of 
the application site. This footpath joined the public highway south east of the site 
and north of Middle Lypiatt Manor.

It was highlighted at slide 18 there was limited view in the distance from a gap in 
the hedge along a minor road running east to west from Middle Lypiatt Manor. Slide 
19 showed the view towards the site from Middle Lypiatt Manor. Grade 1 listed 
building.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

The case officer concluded that planning permission should be granted for the 
proposed use of field as pet cemetery.  Including the use of site as waste transfer 
station for the temporary storage of clinical waste; retention of 2no. Cremators for 
clinical waste burning (ABP Cat 1 material – domestic pets) and extended office 
building, together with associated works, for the reasons summarised in paragraphs 
7.54 to 7.56 of the report.

The Chairman invited the following registered speakers to address the Committee: 

Objecting: Mr Richard Claridge:
“I live in Middle Lypiatt House, so I am in close proximity to the application site.  The 
application is supported by a transport statement which acknowledges that access 
to Middle Lypiatt and the site is via a single access lane and the lane to Bisley Road 
are 2.4m to 2.6m wide and 2.5m to 3m respectively, with limited and tight verges 
and passing places.  

HGV’s are restricted and there are numerous signs to this effect and it is very 
narrow and windy lane, which is frequented by walkers as well as horses and other 
animals.  Passing on this lane is already very difficult, even for small cars.  It is a 
very quiet road and it relates to vehicles, befitting its characteristics and its location.  

The application proposes that traffic to the site will effectively double, this is against 
the sites current use, which as noted and acknowledged in the application is in 
breach of planning approvals.  

It is therefore entirely reasonable to assume that the application would in fact cause 
a far greater increase in traffic when considered against the smaller use of the 
lanes were the site currently in compliance with planning.  IT is this greater increase 
that should be relevant to the current application, not against the use which is in 
breach of planning.  

This significant increase also assumes that the applicant’s assumptions regarding 
the use of the site and additional traffic to LimeKiln farm are correct and not 
understated and we have serious concerns about whether these assumptions will 
prove to be correct.  If they are understated, there would be no redress and the 
impact on residents and others would be very significant.  There is no proposed 
mitigation.  We note that the applicant proposes a new car park in addition to the 
current parking, so the applicant is evidently contemplating visitors far in excess to 
what the transport statement estimates.  

The application also estimates one burial a day, which in addition to other visitors 
will be unrestricted, as well as trucks, HGVs and other vehicles going to and from 
the site implies a greater increase in traffic than the application admit.  We therefore 
have serious concerns that the traffic on this narrow single access road will 
increase significantly and the road is not equipped for this.  

The Waste Core Strategy (WCS19) explains that “development would have an 
adverse impact on the highway network which cannot be mitigated will not be 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

permitted” The increase in traffic will make the lanes dangerous to other users.  It is 
not appropriate in the context of the site location and its tight single access, 
therefore it should not be permitted.  

The site lies in the Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and great 
weight should also be given to that and the application should not be permitted”  

Objecting: Jacqueline Kroft: 

“There is a lot of data about the chemical impact euthanasia chemicals 
Phenytoin/Pentobarbital have as its cause’s rapid euthanasia through multiple 
pathways, including brain death, cessation of breathing.  

Imagine the slow drip of this drug combination and antibiotics being released daily 
from the graves of hundreds and eventually thousands of pets into Stroud and our 
surrounding villages.  Middle Lypiatt is on a higher altitude and there is only way for 
the rainwater to go and this is into our pastures, many of which are directly next to 
the proposed site and water systems.  Lime Kiln is 161metres higher than Stroud, 
the water ways from this elevation is large.  

Please pay attention to the ad on the internet from Stroud Cremation Service –
“Award Winning Service”- that they trusted by 60,000 + families.  

That is a lot of pets, a lot of graves and a lot of Phenytoin/Pentobarbital and 
antibiotics reaching our local waterways that will contaminate animals grazing on 
local pastures and human drinking water.  

There are a large number of kidney cancer patients in the area, of which I found out 
first hand by my husbands death of kidney cancer.  

My father was a pollution expert practicing pollution control from the early 60’s.  He 
always tried to find affordable ways for companies to prevent contamination of the 
environment.  

If we must have pet graves then it must be on a lower altitude and bodies must be 
prevented from leaking toxic chemicals.  Contamination needs to be contained and 
needs to be lower down, and it’s so dangerous at LimeKiln Farm.  

It’s our responsibility to protect the environment and our health” 

Objecting: Daniel Burgon: 
“'I am speaking against Time Right’s planning proposal at Lime Kiln Farm and I 
intend to focus on the irreversible and tragically damaging impact it will have on its 
surrounding landscape, it will have an irreversible impact.

Lypiatt is one of the most beautiful, untouched and idyllic areas within the Cotswold 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. It is loved and enjoyed not only by its residents 
but by the countless visitors it receives every day in the form of walkers from 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

around the Stroud District and even further afield. Lots of people walked the area 
during the pandemic.

As Lypiatt lies within the AONB it is given the greatest level of protection possible. 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) explains in paragraph 172 that 
“Great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic 
beauty in … Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest status of 
protection.” 

Lime Kiln Farm is a farm. It always has been a farm and when the incinerator was 
first built it was by a local farming family for small-scale agricultural purposes and 
not intended to be an industrial waste disposal operation. If this had been 
expressed from the outset then it would certainly have been rejected. It should not 
be granted, as this is a slow and disingenuous move to industrial use.  

Lime Kiln Farm and its surrounding land’s use as a farm, with grazing land for 
sheep, is in line with its surroundings. A pet cemetery is not in line with its 
surroundings. This represents a clear breach of the policy outlined from the NPPF 
above for this development neither ‘conserves’ nor in any way ‘enhances’ the 
‘landscape and scenic beauty’ of the area; in fact, with the expansion of their offices 
and car park and the change of use of a four-acre agricultural field into a pet 
cemetery it does the complete opposite: it causes great harm to the ‘landscape and 
scenic beauty’ of the area. Therefore the policy laid down in the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) makes it absolutely clear that this cannot be permitted. 
The only conceivable benefit of this development would be to the corporate 
interests of Time Right Ltd. at the expense of everybody else and walkers in Lypiatt.  
As a resident, it is very visible and it is not in keeping with the local landscape.  

Waste Core Strategy policy WCS14 also reads:

“Proposals for waste development within or affecting the setting of the Cotswolds … 
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) will only be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that:

• There is a lack of alternative sites not affecting the AONB to serve the 
market need;’

However, the applicant has not demonstrated that there is no alternative site for this 
use not in the AONB. The applicant has also not demonstrated that there is a 
prevailing market need.  Thank you.”

Agent: Chris Wilkes: 
“The application before you seeks permission to retain two incinerators located in 
the agricultural barn to the south of the unnamed lane for use of disposal of animal 
remains, the use of whole site as Waste Transfer Station for the temporary storage 
of clinical waste, retention of extended office building and change of use of the field 
parcel to a pet cemetery. I would also highlight that there is an existing consent for 
incinerators on the site, which have since been replaced by more modern, cleaner 
models. 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Despite the small scale of the proposals and the existing established use, there 
have been a number of objections from local residents. The concerns raised in 
respect of highway safety, pollution and impacts upon the surrounding AONB. In 
response, I would make the point that the objections raised do not reflect the 
findings of the specialist consultees. It is noted that there have been a number of 
photos submitted as part of these objections showing smoke being omitted from the 
cremators, whilst the applicant has noted and investigated the cause, the events 
are being dealt with as part of the environmental licence which the site holds. I 
would also add that these incidents were caused by human error and occurred on 
only a hand full of occasions over a number of years. 

The proposed pet cemetery is expected to be a very small part of the ongoing 
business, the number of visitors is expected to be negligible and estimated based 
on other UK sites.   

In terms of planning policy, the NPPF and Stroud District Plan encourage 
expansion of existing employment sites. Furthermore, the Local Plan is also 
supportive of farm diversification for appropriate uses. The adopted Gloucestershire 
Waste Local Plan and Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy are also supportive of 
waste developments which do not have an unacceptable impact upon residential 
amenity. 

In summary, the proposal does tick all of these boxes:
- It will support the continued employment of several members of the local 
community, with wider contributions to the local economy through the operational 
needs of the business and third party businesses 
-Provides a local and valuable service to local veterinary clinics and members of the 
public
-and, is located in a relatively isolated location which results in no adverse impact 
upon the surrounding local residents.  

With regard to technical considerations, the application is accompanied by a 
comprehensive suite of supporting work, and the application is presented to you 
with the support of all technical consultees on the application, including the 
Environment Agency, the Council’s Landscape Consultant, the County Air Quality 
Advisor, the Highways Authority, the Landscape and Visual Architect Consultant 
and indeed your planning officer.

In summary therefore the proposals are fully aligned with all levels of planning 
policy insofar as it would provide an acceptable expansion of the existing business 
which operates from the site. All technical constraints have been carefully 
addressed by the applicant and the application is supported by all technical 
consultees and your officer. I would therefore urge you to support the application.”

County Councillor for Minchinhampton, Chalford, Brimscombe & Thrupp: 
Chloe Turner: 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

“Good morning, I’m grateful for the opportunity to speak briefly in relation to this 
application, which concerns a site in the outer reaches of my division of 
Minchinhampton. I would like to echo the comments of my predecessor, Cllr Rachel 
Smith, in her objection to this application and the proposed further industrialisation 
of a site that sits within the Cotswold National Landscape.  

I’m grateful to the Senior Planning Officer for his in-depth examination of the 
application and for his helpful clarification of various points to date. However, I 
would have liked to see a business plan for the applicant’s proposed new 
operations at Limekiln, because without that it is difficult to see why a national 
cemetery operator could have a commercial interest in a new activity in Middle 
Lypiatt that is only proposed to generate 2 burials per calendar month, and of 
course the level of activity has a profound impact on the major factors on which the 
decision must be made: transport movements, water and air quality impacts. 
 
I would echo the comments of Stroud District Council in requesting that “the 
assessment of this application should carefully consider the impact of any 
increased vehicular movements, over and above the use of the local highway 
network and in particular consider the potential conflict to amenity users”, walkers 
and horse riders particularly with a public right of way commencing adjacent to the 
site. Also the request from the district council for a Ground Water Risk Assessment, 
given that the Senior Contaminated Land Officer at the district council advises that 
the site is located on a principal aquifer, and that there are private water supplies 
within 500m of the site. The catchment for the site spills down to The Heavens, an 
area widely used by families whose children play in the streams – I note the 
Environment Agency’s comments and that the applicant will need to abide by the 
Regulatory Position Statement regarding the burial of pet ashes, which will need to 
be enforced if permission is granted.  

Finally, in the event that the committee is minded to follow the officer’s 
recommendation, I note and greatly support the advice of the GCC Principal 
Ecologist for conditions to secure specific landscape & ecology mitigation measures 
and the control of excavation and external lighting, also the GCC Landscape and 
Visual Architect’s recommendation that these conditions be strengthened, with 
regard to details of the parking area, new gates and walls and proposed 
headstones – I am pleased to see these reflected in the Conditions (although not 
the gates and walls), and trust that all of these would be carefully enforced. I would 
also like to see a specific condition requiring that only cremated remains (as 
opposed to carcasses, the burial of which carries a higher risk profile) will be buried 
on site, and that no cremated remains will be brought to the site to be buried from 
the group’s other sites (not all of which have a permit for burial - any additional 
deliveries would clearly have an impact on the transport assessment)”. 

The Chairman invited questions from Members following the presentation.  

The Committee entered into questions.  

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Councillor Fisher wished to know if the pet graves would be marked and what was 
the visibility.  The Senior Planning Officer referred members to Condition 15, page 
62 of the report which clearly stated that memorials would be laid flat and should 
not be any higher than 10cm above ground level.  

Councillor Awford asked if the Environment Agency (EA) and public health had 
raised any concerns.  Members were advised that Public Health were consulted 
and they had raised no objection to the application, as confirmed at paragraph 6.6, 
page 41 of the report.  In addition, the EA had stipulated that only full combusted 
ashes could be interred on the site and any pollutants would be removed from the 
residual ashes, their response was available in details at paragraph 6.5, page 40 of 
the report.  

At this point Councillor Vines declared that his Grandfather had previously bought 
land in Middle Lypiatt.  He wishes to know how the graves would be dug.  Members 
were advised that it was a superficial burial of the remains, which equated to 3-5% 
of combusted ash.  Therefore only a small hole would be required and this could be 
dug by hand with a shovel.  

Councillor McFarling wish to confirm that there were no burials of physical 
carcasses and questioned the emissions.  It was noted that it was only ashes, the 
carcasses were cremated on site and there was a condition to prevent carcasses 
being buried directly.  In terms of emissions into the atmosphere, it was reported 
they were within the lawful amounts permitted.  The Senior Planning Officer 
reminded the Committee in planning terms the concern would be was it acceptable 
to have that use, in that building.

Councillor McFarling also wished to know the number of interments that could take 
place on the site.  The Committee were informed that this could be three burials per 
month.  Councillor McFarling questioned its viability based on this figure and 
remarked that it was different to what was within the report.  The Senior Planning 
Officer explained that number of cremations undertaken during the day was 
dependent on the incinerator capability and storage space available.  Councillor 
McFarling felt there was potential for congestion, including pedestrian traffic and 
horse riders, as all would have a deleterious impact on the access road and will 
undoubtedly be harmful to local residents.  

In addition, he wished to know if there were any private water supplies within 500m 
of the application site.  It was explained that the EA lead on water and they were 
content with the application as confirmed within their technical advice.  Members 
were advised that in terms of pollution control regimes, Stroud Environmental 
Health could include conditions for water monitoring on the Environmental Permit if 
they wished to.  

Councillor Chambers wished to know if it was a family business, as he had 
undertaken his own research and found that it was part of a much larger company 
who was not registered at that address.  The Senior Planning Officer confirmed that 
it was a family business operating on site and that Condition 3 clearly stated that.  
He also advised the committee that the incinerators on site could only do two burns 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

per day, and that was also limited by the length of the working day.  Members were 
informed that the application had been submitted by ‘Time Right Ltd’ at the Lypiatt 
address.  

Councillor Chambers felt that the application should clearly state whether it was a 
local family business or national company.  On the advice of the Legal 
representative, the agent was asked to confirm the status.  Mr Wilks confirmed that 
it was a family owned business, which was part of a larger company but Lime Kiln 
Farm was an independent family business.

Councillor Chambers referred to Companies House, as he felt it could give rise to 
precedent.  Once again he questioned who the business belonged too.   The 
Committee were advised that the application was by Time Right Limited, based at 
Lypiatt in Stroud.  Members were reminded that the Committee were there to 
consider if it was appropriate to incinerate and bury the ashes on site.  It was noted 
that the EA and other statutory consultees had no objection to the application 
operating on the site.  Councillor Chambers disagreed with the Planning Officer, he 
felt that the technical consultees had based their advice on incorrect information.  

 The Principal Lawyer reminded  the Committee that under planning legislation, 
anyone could apply for planning permission anywhere, regardless of where they 
resided.  

The Principal Planning Officer informed the Committee that Condition 2 limited what 
the applicant could do and the development being applied for was quite clear.  In 
addition Condition 3 stated that no external waste could be dealt with on the site.  
Members were reminded that it was not possible to condition ‘what if’s’ it was only 
possible to condition what was before the Committee.  

Councillor Tracey wished to know if it was just domestic pets that would be 
cremated on site and if there was much smoke.  It was confirmed that it would only 
be small domestic animals, such as cats, dogs, guinea pigs, etc. and there was no 
smoke, this was detailed at paragraph 6.1 of the report.  

Councillor Cohen questioned the business plan and asked whether it should be 
included within the application.  She also asked what was the expected numbers of 
people that would visit a pet cemetery.  The Senior Planning Officer explained that 
business plan were not required to consider a planning application and Highways 
had been consulted in relation to the traffic assessment and they had not raised any 
concerns either.  

Councillor Fisher referred to WCS14 in relation to the Cotswold AONB, and that 
applications should only be granted if there were a lack of alternate site.  He felt 
there were alternative sites in the local area.  

Councillor Brown felt that a site visit would have been helpful and questioned why it 
had not taken place.  Members were advised that under normal circumstances a 
site visit would have taken place, however Covid regulations were still in place.  
Officers advised the Committee that there was no legal requirement to conduct a 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

site visit.  Given the transport logistics involved if members were to use their own 
vehicles or the use of coach to social distance members it was not considered 
appropriate at this time, given the volume of traffic this would  involve and the 
climate change considerations.  

The Principal Lawyer advised the Committee that it was within their gift if they 
wished to defer the application to undertake a site visit at this stage.  

Councillor Williams remarked that she also lived locally and was aware of the lanes 
and questioned the number of visitors to the site.  Members were advised that a 
traffic assessment had been undertaken and Highways had raised no objection to 
the application. In addition the transport assessment had factored in visits to the 
graves.  It was noted that there would only be the employee’s vehicles on site and 
vans delivering the carcasses, so there were no parking concerns either.  

Members requested in the future, site visits are undertaken.  
During the questions, members were reminded that the Stroud application was 
separate to the GCC application and height of the flue had already been consented 
too.  The height of the chimney flue was detailed in paragraph 2.44 of the report.  It 
was noted that the total height of the building was 8.5m.  

Councillor Chambers asked in terms of  enforcement, if the levels changed would it 
be investigated.  The Senior Planning Officer explained his role in relation to 
enforcement and if the levels were found to change, the County Council would be 
responsible for undertaking the investigation.  

Councillor Hale referred to paragraph 2.78 of the report and questioned the storage 
of carcasses.  It was explained that control mechanisms would be in place for the 
washing down and disinfecting of vehicles if the application were permitted.  

Councillor McFarling proposed that the application be deferred at this stage for a 
site visit to be undertaken.  

Councillor Moseley felt that a site visit would have been useful, however the 
photographs provided in the officer presentation had proven useful.  She made 
reference to the leylandi hedge and the brambles and wondered if there was a 
condition for the continuation of screening or hedging.  The Committee were 
informed that there was recommendation to do so by the technical consultees and 
the context of the photo was to illustrate the view.  It was not possible to condition 
the leylandi trees as they were not part of the site.  However Condition 17, at the 
request of the County Ecologist stipulated that no hedges should be removed.  

The Chairman recapped there were a number of interesting questions on many 
levels relating to highways, the environment, inert ashes and the risk to the water 
courses, etc.  He felt that it was not possible to know what the number of people 
visiting the site would be in ten years.  

Councillor Fisher referred to the Principal Lawyer’s advice regarding deferral for a 
site visit and requested a site visit once the Covid regulations had been lifted.  

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

Councillor Awford was sympathetic to this request but questioned what the reasons 
were for deferral. 

The Principal Lawyer advised the Committee that reasons for deferral needed to be 
clear.  Councillor Fisher felt that WCS14 was a reason for deferral.  Other members 
wished to visit the site to see the highway for them and questioned the water and 
pollution impacts.  

The Principal Planning Officer explained that if the application were to be deferred 
for site visit, then application could only be determined on those points, WCS 14: 
the impact on the AONB, alternative sites, highways, water and pollution.   The 
Senior Planning Officer reiterated there had been no objections from the technical 
consultees to any of the points raised.  

Councillor Vines felt the Committee was duty bound to make a decision, as this 
could be deemed as non-determination and the applicant could then request an 
appeal on those grounds.  Councillor McFarling seconded Councillor Fisher’s 
request for deferral for a site visit to be undertaken.  On being put to the vote, the 
motion for deferral was lost (4 in favour, 7 against).  

At this juncture the committee adjourned for a short break (12:20pm).  Councillor 
Cohen had to leave the meeting at this stage.  

The Committee reconvened at 12:30pm and entered into debate.  

Councillors Chambers felt the photographs of the hedgerows gave a false 
impression of the site, as the view would be different in the Autumn/Winter and the 
application would have a detrimental effect on the conservation area and the 
AONB.  He reiterated his concerns in relation to the application being a large 
multinational business based in York and not a local family business.  

Councillor McFarling felt the application would have an impact on the narrow roads 
and the impact of visitors would have a cumulative impact and cause harm to the 
AONB.  

Councillor Hale remarked he could see no reason to refuse the application and he 
fully supported it.  

Councillor Fisher objected to the development in the AONB, he had no issue with 
the cremation part but felt the AONB should be treated with respect and there were 
alternative sites available.  

Councillor Vines proposed that permission be granted, subject to the strengthening 
on Condition 15 and a minimum/maximum depth be stipulated depending on the 
ground conditions.  Councillor Tracey supported Councillor Vines’ proposal.  

Councillor McFarling asked if a condition could be applied in relation to external 
lighting.  It was confirmed that the County Ecologist comments on lighting were 
included within Condition 10.  

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

Councillor Fisher proposed a refusal of the application on the basis of WCS 14 and 
highways grounds.  This proposal was seconded by Councillor Brown.  On being 
put to the vote, this motion was lost (6 in favour and 7 against).  

Councillor Vines’ proposal to grant the application, subject to an amendment to the 
minimum depth being 12 inches at Condition 15, this was seconded by Councillor 
Tracey.  On being put to the vote, the application was granted (7 in favour and 6 
against).  

The Planning Committee therefore: 

Resolved

That planning permission was GRANTED for the proposed use of field as pet 
cemetery. Use of site as a waste transfer station for the temporary storage of 
clinical waste; retention of 2no. cremators  for clinical waste burning (ABP 
Cat 1 material – domestic pets and extended office building, together with 
associated works, for the reasons summarised in paragraphs 7.54 to 7.56 of 
the report.

8. ENFORCEMENT REPORT 

During the discussion, members questioned the status of the Clearwell Quarry 
application.  Officers agreed to clarify the position with the enforcement report and 
report back to the Committee in due course.  

Resolved

That the report be noted.  

9. DELEGATED DECISIONS REPORT 

Resolved 

That the report be noted

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.56 pm

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



Members Site Visit – Briefing Notes 

Application 19/0066/TWMAJW at Grundon, Wingmoor Farm East, 
Stoke Road, Bishop’s Cleeve, Gloucestershire, GL52 7DG. 

Thursday 20th January 2022 

 

The retrospective planning application to which this site visit relates is for the 

variation of condition 7 (Buildings, plant and machinery) and 19 (Hours of 

operation) of planning consent 17/0066/TWMAJW dated 19th October 2017.  

 

The proposed change for condition 7 involves the substitution of the word 

“and” for “or”, thereby enabling the bulking and transfer of residual waste to be 

considered in association with, rather than ancillary to, the Integrated Waste 

Management Facility. 

 

The scope of the development for condition 19 involves changes to the hours 

of operation that would allow vehicle movements and Materials Recovery 

Facility operation on one Bank Holiday (Good Friday) between 9am and 

4.30pm. It is also proposed to allow the longer operation of the Materials 

Recovery Facility (including vehicle servicing) until 4.30pm on seven 

Saturdays in the year, after the Bank Holidays. The Waste Disposal Authority’s 

examination of the weighbridge data at the Grundon site shows that the 

importation of residual municipal solid waste has taken place on days that are 

sought by the variation of condition 19. Therefore, the variations sought to both 

planning condition 7 and 19 are retrospective as the activity has already taken 

place on the site. The development to which these two variations relate are 

also concurrent and prospective until the GCC contract expires on the 5th July 

2022. 

 

Wingmoor Farm East is an existing and well established Integrated Waste 

Management Facility site that covers an area of approximately 78.7 hectares.  

The area of operation to facilitate the development covers an area of 14,712 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



square metres. The existing MRF building has a footprint of 3,818 square 

metres, the consent for which was renewed on the 11th November 2011 under 

planning application 09/0028/TWMAJW. Under the current extant planning 

consent 17/0066/TWMAJW, the MRF is to cease its operations on or before 

31st December 2028 with all structures being dismantled and removed on or 

before 31st December 2029 prior to the site being fully restored by 30th June 

2030. 

 

The M5 motorway is approximately 2.8km to the west. Properties on the 

eastern fringe of Stoke Orchard are approximately 1.8km to the north-

northwest. The boundary of the Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

is approximately 2.5km to the east. The Bristol to Birmingham railway line is 

approximately 822 metres to the west and separates the Integrated Waste 

Management Facilities of Wingmoor Farm East (operated by Grundon) and 

Wingmoor Farm West (operated by Enovert). 

 

The site overlies a Minor Aquifer. There are also several public footpaths in the 

vicinity to the site and the site lies within the Gloucester to 

Cheltenham/Cheltenham to Bishop’s Cleeve Green Belt, the northern 

boundary of which follows Stoke Road. 

 

On the north side of Stoke Road the nearest residential dwelling house is 

Haydon, which is located 137 metres off the northwest corner of the MRF 

building. There is also a planned mixed development for commercial and 

residential properties on the north side of Stoke Road, which includes 215 

dwelling houses that were approved on appeal. The nearest of those proposed 

dwellings would be approximately 264 metres from the north facing end 

elevation of the MRF building. Beyond the rugby football ground to the 

northeast of the MRF is the nearest commercial premises known as Elliott 

Aggregates, the curtilage of which is approximately 190 metres from the MRF. 

Those residential properties whose curtilages form the western most fringe of 

Bishop’s Cleeve are approximately 400 metres from the MRF building. 

Page 16



The prevailing wind direction is from the southwest. 

 

The waste operations at WFE comprise hazardous and non-hazardous 

landfills, a hazardous waste treatment plant, materials recovery facility, and an 

anaerobic digestion plant site operated by Andigestion. Associated activities 

within WFE include a workshop, a clinical waste transfer service, 

weighbridges, offices and HGV depot parking for approximately 30 vehicles. 

 

Weighbridge data between 01 May 2020 and 30 April 2021 shows 46,554 

tonnes of waste was received into the MRF at WFE. This figure is comprised 

of 10,151 tonnes of commercial and industrial waste materials that are both 

mechanically and manually sorted, bulked and transported off site for further 

use or treatment, and 36,403 tonnes of residual household waste that is 

bulked and transferred to the EfW facility at Javelin Park. This equates to a 

combined average of 20 one-way daily RCV and HGV movements inbound 

and outbound at the MRF site that are associated with the residual household 

waste, 4 or 5 of which are daily one-way HGV movements from the MRF site 

to the EfW plant at Javelin Park. It should be noted that householder food 

waste forms part of a segregated kerbside collection within the Boroughs of 

both Tewkesbury and Cheltenham.  

 

Whilst the importation of residual household waste and the operational 

activities associated with the MRF increases the number of vehicle 

movements, this increase does not exceed the 50,000 tpa output full capacity 

limits that have previously been assessed and permitted at this site. 

 

 

The End 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Figure 1: Wingmoor Farm East MRF weighbridge /12 months data (01.05.2020 – 30.04.2021)/ 

 

Summary

  

Inbound 
RCV&HGV 
movement 
(one way ) 

Inbound 
(total weight) 
tonnes 

Outbound 
RCV&HGV 
movement 
(one way) 

Outbound 
recovered 
(total weight) 
tonnes 

Total 
RCV&HGV 
movement 
(one way) 

Average 
RCV&HGV 
movement 
(one way)  

  per month per month per month per month per month per day    

May-20 

recycling 161 484.4 38 473.8 199 10 

residual  453 3029.3 125 2858.1 578 28 

total 614 3513.7 163 3331.9 777 38  

Jun-20 

recycling 222 552.8 26 379.0 248 10 

residual  476 3163.5 135 3141.2 611 25 

total 698 3716.3 161 3520.3 859 36  

Jul-20 

recycling 286 798.5 50 756.1 336 13 

residual  483 3209.4 141 3222.3 624 25 

total 769 4007.9 191 3978.4 960 38  

Aug-20 

recycling 277 804.0 57 703.6 334 15 

residual  414 2712.4 119 2661.5 533 24 

total 691 3516.3 176 3365.1 867 39  

Sep-20 

recycling 359 1031.2 73 956.6 432 18 

residual  454 3070.2 134 3037.6 588 25 

total 813 4101.4 207 3994.2 1020 43  

Oct-20 

recycling 349 1084.2 72 1063.0 421 17 

residual  460 3079.6 129 3008.2 589 24 

total 809 4163.9 201 4071.3 1010 41  

Nov-20 

recycling 302 852.4 68 927.2 370 16 

residual  432 2922.1 127 2938.2 559 24 

total 734 3774.5 195 3865.3 929 40  

Dec-20 

recycling 331 1180.7 68 987.6 399 17 

residual  457 3035.8 127 2908.6 584 25 

total 788 4216.5 195 3896.1 983 43  

Jan-21 

recycling 291 910.3 57 901.0 348 15 

residual  498 3211.3 141 3262.3 639 28 

total 789 4121.6 198 4163.3 987 44  

Feb-21 

recycling 280 761.0 60 907.3 340 15 

residual  411 2713.4 116 2714.3 527 24 

total 691 3474.3 176 3621.6 867 39  

Mar-21 

recycling 284 864.3 50 909.4 334 13 

residual  477 3170.3 134 3085.5 611 24 

total 761 4034.6 184 3994.9 945 38  

Apr-21 

recycling 286 826.9 44 736.5 330 14 

residual  460 3086.0 133 3083.0 593 26 

total 746 3912.9 177 3819.5 923 40 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

Member Site Visit Meeting 

20th January 2022 

Weather conditions: Initially dry, cold and overcast, turning sunny later. 

Started at 10.25 

Planning Committee Member Attendance: 

Councillors: 

AWFORD, Cllr Philip 
BAKER, Cllr Paul 
BROWN, Cllr David 
CHAMBERS, Cllr Alistair 
COHEN, Cllr Linda 
FISHER, Cllr Bernard 
HALE, Cllr Terry** 
HOUSDEN, Cllr Nick 
 

P 
P 
P 
Ap 
P 
P 
P 
Ab 

MACKENZIE-CHARRINGTON, Cllr Mark* 
MCFARLING, Cllr Chris 
MORGAN, Cllr Graham 
MOSELEY, Cllr Gill 
TRACEY, Cllr Pamela 
VINES, Cllr Robert 
Williams, Cllr Sue 
 

P 
P 
Ap 
P 
Ap 
P 
P 
 

Chairperson*  Vice Chairperson ** 

Key: P=present, Ab=absent, Ap= Apologies 

Officers in attendance:  

Sarah Pearse (SP) Principal Planning Officer, Kevin Phillips, (KP) Team Manager, 

and Marcus Sparrow, (MS)Senior Planning Officer (Case Officer). 

Members were joined on site by Cllr Nigel Adcock (Woodmancote Parish Council, 

Barbara Farmer (local resident) and Monika Gogol and Owen George representing 

Grundon Waste Management Limited. 

Planning application 19/0066/TWMAJW by Grundon Waste Management 

Limited for the variation of condition 7 (Buildings, plant and machinery) and 19 

(Hours of operation) relating to planning consent 17/0066/TWMAJW dated 

19/10/2017, on land at Wingmoor Farm East, Stoke Road, Bishop’s Cleeve, 

Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, GL52 7DG.  

Owen George (OG) representing Grundon Waste Management Limited made a brief 

health and safety introduction. 

 

 

Page 23



2 
 

Members initially met outside of the MRF building in the forecourt because it was too 

noisy in the building to hear the presentation. The case officer described the site and 

the surroundings (see attached Members Site Visit – briefing notes).   

Member Questions: 

Cllr Fisher asked about the size of vehicle that would take the bulked-up material 

away. With the permission of the chair, OG pointed to a parked articulated lorry and 

explained that it carried approximately 22 tonnes of ‘black bag’ waste, the equivalent 

of 3 to 4 RCV’s. 

Cllr Baker asked if the need to change the working hours resulted from a demand 

from the LA’s. MS and SP explained that the staff operating the RCV’s expressed a 

preference to work on bank holidays keeping their weekends free. The need to work 

on a Saturday following a bank holiday was to ensure the operator was able to 

accommodate a possible backlog of waste and to ensure that waste is removed 

within 24 hours of it arriving at the site.  

Cllr Brown asked if this was only to serve LA collections. This was confirmed by MS. 

Cllr Vines asked how long the waste was stored on site. MS explained that the 

residual municipal solid waste is stored for a maximum of 24 hours. 

Parish Cllr Adcock pointed out that many of the black bags were split open once 

tipped in the storage bay. He works in the care industry in a small scale facility, 

which is not big enough to have a commercial bin so their soiled personal care items 

are disposed of with the black bag waste and can be in the bins for up to two weeks. 

MS responded that a very low percentage of the overall waste was nappies/soiled 

items. 

Cllr Fisher asked how waste was accepted. Concern was expressed about liquids in 

the waste received at the site. 

OG explained that the black bag/residual waste goes into the articulated vehicles 

loose, however those vehicles are sealed. The floor of the MRF building is also 

sealed and any liquids caught by drains and interceptors. 

MS added that the waste was scooped up by the loading shovel and put into the 

lorry and transported to the EfW plant at Javelin Park. 

Cllr Baker asked how many additional days there would be? 

MS explained that it would only be on Good Friday and the 7 Saturdays following a 

bank holiday. In addition, the permission sought is retrospective, concurrent and 

prospective only until the 5th July 2022. There is already a lot of actual data. MS had 

made calculations and offered to provide a further explanation of vehicle movements 

before the Committee meeting. 

Page 24



3 
 

Cllr Moseley asked why it has taken so long from receiving the application to taking it 

to committee. MS explained that activities started in July 2019 and an application 

was submitted in December 2019. The reasons behind the delays are explained in 

the committee report but have followed due process and are procedural. 

Parish Representative: Parish Cllr Adcock asked where care home commercial 

waste goes. Although not relevant to this application MS explained that it would 

probably go to either landfill or to the EfW at Javelin Park. This application was to 

accommodate circa. 36,000 tpa of LA residual waste. 

District Councillor: Not present. 

Local resident: Barbara Farmer asked how often the roller shutter doors were closed 

during the day?  OG explained that the first large door was only opened to allow 

vehicles to reverse in. The remaining two doors were always open during operating 

hours to facilitate ventilation and light. 

Local County Councillor: Not present 

At 10.50, after Hearing Members Questions, the group moved inside the building, to 

view the site while operations were briefly suspended, and machinery switched off. 

OG described the operations. The RCV reverses in and unloads into the designated 

bay. There is an adjacent bay to quarantine loads which may contain things like gas 

bottles which have to be removed.   Opposite there are bays to store recycled wood 

waste, metal cans and plastic. It was clarified that these relate to the 

commercial/industrial waste operation and do not form part of this current variation 

application. Very little waste from the MRF goes to landfill. There is no further 

material recovered from the residual waste before it is transported to the EfW. OG 

pointed out the bulky waste such as mattresses that are also collected by the LA’s. 

Barbara Farmer asked what systems were in place for odour and dust suppression.  

OG explained that the vehicle cabs are air conditioned. The staff within the building 

wear lapel badges/ filters which are analysed. 

MS confirmed that inside the building there is no mechanical air handling equipment.  

Cllr Baker asked about commercial waste. MS explained that this application was 

only about the GCC contract for residual waste. 

 

 

Meeting closed at 11.08 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



1

RECOMMENDATION: Planning permission is GRANTED for the reasons summarised 

in paragraphs 7.160 to 7.168 and subject to the conditions set out in section 8.0 of this 

report.

1.0 LOCATION

1.1 The Wingmoor Farm East (WFE) Integrated Waste Management Facility (IWMF) site 

covers an area of approximately 78.7 hectares and falls within the administrative 

boundaries of the Parish of Bishop’s Cleeve, the Borough of Tewkesbury and the 

County of Gloucestershire. The site to which this application relates is located 

approximately 0.5km to the west of Bishop’s Cleeve, approximately 2 km east of 

APPLICATION NO: 19/0066/TWMAJW VALIDATION DATE: 18 Dec 2019

DISTRICT REF: 21/00807/CM 

AGENT: Grundon Waste Management Limited, Estates Office, Grange 

Lane, Beenham, Berkshire, RG7 5PY.

APPLICANT: Grundon Waste Management Limited, Estates Office, Grange 

Lane, Beenham, Berkshire, RG7 5PY.

SITE: Wingmoor Farm East, Stoke Road, Bishop’s Cleeve, Cheltenham, 

Gloucestershire, GL52 7DG.

PROPOSAL: Variation of condition 7 (Buildings, plant and machinery) and 19 

(Hours of operation) relating to planning consent 

17/0066/TWMAJW dated 19/10/2017.  

PARISH OF Bishop’s Cleeve Parish Council

SITE AREA: 14,712 square metres

GRID REF: 393942 (E)  227368 (N)

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



2

Stoke Orchard and 2.5 km to the north of Cheltenham. The application site boundary 

is bounded on its northern side by Stoke Road and the Bristol to Birmingham railway 

line to the west. There are agricultural fields and a rugby football ground to the east, 

with the Bishop’s Cleeve bypass between 600-700 metres beyond. Land to the north 

of the application site, on the opposite side of Stoke Road, benefits from the grant of 

outline planning permission for up to 215 dwellings and up to 2.24 hectares of 

commercial uses (Tewkesbury Borough Council ref: 18/00249/OUT, ‘Land at Stoke 

Road’).

1.2 The waste operations at WFE comprise hazardous and non-hazardous landfills, a 

hazardous waste treatment plant, materials recovery facility (MRF), and an anaerobic 

digestion (AD) plant site operated by Andigestion. Associated activities within WFE 

include a workshop, a clinical waste transfer service, weighbridges, offices and HGV 

depot parking for approximately 30 vehicles.

1.3 WFE has two accesses onto Stoke Road serving different operations within the IWMF 

facility. The eastern access serves the MRF, its offices, weighbridge, workshop, 

depot parking and the non-hazardous landfill area in the southeastern part of the site. 

The western access serves the waste treatment plant, hazardous landfill and the 

Andigestion AD plant site. The MRF building, also shared by the workshop, offices 

and the parking and servicing area for the applicant’s fleet of collection vehicles is 

accessed via the eastern entrance to the IWMF.

1.4 To the west of the site and beyond the railway line is another IWMF that consists of a 

landfill site for non-hazardous waste and a composting facility that is owned and 

managed by Enovert. Within the curtilage of that IWMF is a Household Recycling 

Centre (HRC) that is operated on behalf of Gloucestershire County Council by Ubico 

Ltd.

Page 28

https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=P5HI2VQD0IA00&activeTab=summary


3

Inset Map No.1: Site Location

Inset Map No.2: Site Plan

Page 29



4

Inset Map No.3: MRF

Constraints
1.5 The boundary of the Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) is 

approximately 2.5km to the east. Wingmoor Farm Meadow, which is a Key Wildlife 

Site as identified in the Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan, adjoins the operational site’s 

southern boundary. The site overlies a Minor Aquifer. There are also several public 

footpaths in the vicinity to the site and the site lies within the Gloucester to 

Cheltenham/Cheltenham to Bishop’s Cleeve Green Belt.

1.6 On the north side of Stoke Road the nearest residential dwelling house is Haydon, 

which is located 137 metres off the northwest corner of the MRF building. Beyond the 

rugby football ground to the northeast of the MRF is the nearest commercial premises 

known as Elliott Aggregates, the curtilage of which is approximately 190 metres from 

the MRF. Those residential properties whose curtilages form the western most fringe 

of Bishop’s Cleeve are approximately 400 metres from the MRF building.

1.7 In terms of environmental sensitivities of the geographical area within which the MRF 

is located, the neighbouring land uses can be defined as being predominantly 

agricultural to the north/northwest; commercial and residential to the east/north-east, 

waste management facilities to the west/south-west and agriculture to the east/south-

east.

Page 30



5

1.8 The Waste Planning Authority (WPA) have also considered the future residential 

development of 13.56ha of agricultural land north of Stoke Road, which was 

approved under reserved matters application 21/00214/APP on the 10th Sept 2021 by 

Tewkesbury Borough Council for the residential element pursuant to outline consent 

18/00249/OUT for the erection of 215 dwelling houses, public open space, 

landscaping and a sustainable urban drainage scheme. At its nearest point, the 

proposed residential development would be approximately 264 metres from the north 

facing end elevation of the MRF building. The WPA are also aware that the land 

between the proposed residential development (app.21/00214/APP) and the MRF 

site received outline planning permission (18/00249/OUT) on appeal for a commercial 

development consisting of 2.24ha of light industrial/storage and 0.2ha of retail uses.

1.9 With regards to the sensitivities of the cultural and historic environment, it is noted 

that the nearest listed building or structure is The Grange (Grade II Listed) in Bishop’s 

Cleeve, which is located 985 metres southeast of the MRF. The nearest Scheduled 

Ancient Monument is located over 3.6km to the southeast at a moated site 570m 

west of Laxton Meadow Farm.

 1.10 Having conducted a site visit, reviewed historical maps of the area and spoken to the 

Conservation Officer at Tewkesbury Borough Council, the WPA is satisfied that there 

is no visibility of non-designated heritage assets from the site and no historic 

connection between those assets and the site.

2.0 THE PROPOSAL

2.1 Grundon Waste Management Limited (‘Grundon’), the Applicant and the owner of the 

land at Wingmoor Farm East at Bishop’s Cleeve, has applied to Gloucestershire 

County Council in its capacity as WPA to vary condition 7 (buildings, plant and 

machinery) and condition 19 (hours of operation) of previously consented planning 

application 17/0066/TWMAJW, dated 19th October 2017.

2.2 Planning condition 7 is concerned with the restriction of the MRF, vehicle service 

area and associated offices as an ancillary operation of the IWMF:

“Buildings, plant and machinery

Page 31

https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=QOO4OTQD0IA00&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=P5HI2VQD0IA00&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=QOO4OTQD0IA00&activeTab=summary
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=P5HI2VQD0IA00&activeTab=summary


6

The Materials Recycling Facility and its building as shown on plan no GRU004 (dated 

30/04/2009), the vehicle service area and associated offices shall be used

solely in association with and ancillary to the operation of the Waste Management 

Facility.

Reason: The site is within the Green Belt and there is a need for the Mineral and 

Waste Planning Authority to retain control over the site and in accordance Policy 37

 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.”

2.3 Planning condition 19 restricts the hours of operation associated with the MRF:

“Hours of operation.

The following restrictions shall apply to the operations of the site:

a) there shall be no acceptance of waste to the Materials Recovery Facility, no 

transportation of waste, or landfilling operations, or mineral operations (including the 

manoeuvring, loading, unloading of vehicles, or any primary or ancillary activity 

associated with the waste management facility or mineral extraction operations), on 

the Site and with the exception of deliveries to the waste treatment plant, no HGVs 

shall enter or leave the site except between the following hours: (excluding HGVs 

parked by the MRF/workshop area that are allowed to leave the site via eastern site 

entrance from 06:00 on Monday to Friday)

07:00 -18:00 Monday to Friday; and

07:30 -13:00 Saturday,

b) operations within the MRF building, including vehicle servicing shall only take 

place between the following hours:

06:30 - 21:00 Monday to Friday; and

07:00 - 14:00 Saturday,

c) Access to the waste treatment plant (APC treatment plant) for deliveries is 

permitted 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

Page 32



7

Except in emergencies (details of which shall be communicated to the Minerals and 

Waste Planning Authority as soon as possible after the event) and with the exception 

of operations within the Materials Recycling Facility building, there shall be no waste 

delivered to the site and no operations at the Site on Sundays, Bank or Public 

Holidays except for essential maintenance work or in response to any emergencies.

Reason: In the interests of limiting the effects on local amenity, to control the impacts 

of the development in accordance with saved Policy 38 of the Waste Local Plan and 

as in accordance with the application document.”

2.4 The proposed change for condition 7 involves the substitution of the word “and” for 

“or”, thereby enabling the bulking and transfer of residual waste to be considered in 

association with, rather than ancillary to, the IWMF. Whilst appearing rather 

innocuous and minor in nature, this change is significant, the implications of which 

have been highlighted in numerous letters of objection, as summarised at section 5.5 

of this report.

2.5 The scope of the development for condition 19 involves changes to the hours of 

operation that would allow vehicle movements and MRF operation on one Bank 

Holiday (Good Friday) between 9am and 4.30pm. It is also proposed to allow the 

longer operation of the MRF (including vehicle servicing) until 4.30pm on seven 

Saturdays in the year, after the Bank Holidays. The Waste Disposal Authority’s 

(WDA) examination of the weighbridge data at the Grundon site shows that the 

importation of residual MSW has taken place on days that are sought by the variation 

of condition 19. Therefore, the variations sought to both planning condition 7 and 19 

are retrospective as the activity has already taken place on the site. This raises the 

question of whether the application ought to have been made under s.73A of the 

1990 Act (for retrospective planning permission). The WPA do not consider that the 

application must be rejected for this reason. The case of Lawson v Secretary of State 

for Communities and Local Government, Wakefield Metropolitan District Council 

[2015] EWCA Civ 122 confirms that a planning authority may grant permission under 

s.73A for an application that was formally made under s.73. The judge in this case 

confirmed that in his view, theoretically, section 73 enables an application to be made 

where the development is already in progress or has been completed. The WPA 

considers that the Lawson principles apply in respect of this application. 

Page 33



8

2.6 The proposed variations to the extant planning permission for the site are required by 

the applicant to regularise the bulking and transfer of residual municipal waste inside 

the existing MRF building as part of a contract having an initial term of 3 years with 

an option to extend for a further 3 years. Within the WDA’s email to the WPA dated 

11th Oct 2021 the WDA confirm that they “would be happy to exercise the contract 

extension”, subject to “the outcome of the current planning application, consultation 

with Cheltenham and Tewkesbury B.C WCAs and also [GCC’s] own 

governance/decision making process.”  

2.7 This retrospective application concerns the use of two bays, which covers an area of 

approximately one seventh of the internal floorspace of the existing MRF building at 

the Grundon Waste Management Limited’s facility at WFE to receive residual 

municipal solid waste (MSW) for bulking and onward transfer to the energy from 

waste plant at Javelin Park. The activity to which this s.73 application relates 

commenced in July 2019 and forms part of the new waste contract with GCC that 

deals with Tewkesbury and Cheltenham Borough Council’s residual MSW. 

2.8 The area of operation to facilitate the development covers an area of 14,712 square 

metres of a much larger existing and well-established IWMF. The area of the 

Grundon IWMF shown edged red on drawing DG/WF/VAR7&19/02 dated July 2019 

is 76.93 hectares.

2.9 The existing MRF building has a footprint of 3,818 square metres, the consent for 

which was renewed on the 11th November 2011 under planning application

09/0028/TWMAJW. Under the current extant planning consent 17/0066/TWMAJW, 

the MRF is to cease its operations on or before 31st December 2028 with all 

structures being dismantled and removed on or before 31st December 2029 prior to 

the site being fully restored by 30th June 2030.

2.10 The vehicles delivering residual MSW are weighed on entering the site and are then 

directed to a dedicated bay within the MRF building where the residual waste is 

bulked separately from where the commercial and industrial waste is deposited.

2.11 The MRF building houses both mechanical and manual waste sorting systems. The 

commercial and industrial waste materials arriving at the MRF are sorted by manual 

picking where the recoverable materials are being collected, sorted, bulked and 

Page 34



9

transported off site for further use or treatment. Any commercial and industrial waste 

that cannot be recovered are being disposed of to the adjacent non-hazardous 

landfill.

2.12 The residual MSW does not go through the MRF’s mechanical sorting system. 

Instead, any unacceptable materials such as tyres and gas bottles that are observed 

within the residual waste bay are removed by mechanical grab or by hand and placed 

in a separate pile awaiting appropriate removal.

2.13 For operational, logistical and contractual reasons, the residual MSW collected 

cannot be directly delivered to the energy from waste plant at Javelin Park, and 

needs to be bulked and transferred close to where it is collected by a third party 

contractor.

2.14 The application as submitted comprises the following documents and plans:

 Application Form

 Site Location Plan: Drawing No.DG/WF/VAR7&19/01 dated July 2019

 Site Plan: Drawing No.DG/WF/VAR7&19/02 dated July 2019

 Planning Supporting Statement dated December 2019

 Appendix 1: Legal advice from Hogan Lovells dated 7th March 2019

 Appendix 2: Abstract from weighbridge data for March 2018

 Appendix 3: Noise Technical Note produced by WBM Acoustic Consultants 

dated 8th July 2019

 Figure 1: Site photographs

 Grundon letter dated 30th July 2021 that provides additional information and 

clarification to comments made by consultees and the public.

 Figure 1: Wingmoor Farm East MRF weighbridge /12 months data (01.05.2020 

– 30.04.2021)

 Figure 2: Tewkesbury Borough Council residual waste direct deliveries to 

Javelin Park (12 months data, 01.05.2020-30.04.2021)

 Figure 3 (Revised 4th October 2021): Residual waste traffic movement around 

Bishop’s Cleeve, Stoke Road.

 Figure 4: Wingmoor Farm East ‘Monitoring point locations and cell boundaries’ 

dated 20.03.2019. Drawing Ref. BISH1903-MP. Drawing No.1. Version ‘A’.

Page 35



10

 Grundon letter dated 4th October 2021 containing further supporting 

information.

 Appendix A: Table 1 – List of EA permitted facilities with a permit that allows 

waste transfer.

 Appendix B: Map of existing alternative sites.

 Appendix C: Notification of contract award from GCC dated 13th December 

2018.

 Appendix D: Further information on GCC procurement process to GCC’s 

waste contract.

Environmental Impact Assessment 

2.15 Application 19/0066/TWMAJW is a s.73 variation of previously consented s.73 

application 17/0066/TWMAJW dated 19th October 2017. Application 

17/0066/TWMAJW is a s.73 variation of previously consented substantive application 

09/0028/TWMAJW dated 22nd September 2011. Any planning permission granted 

pursuant to s.73 takes effect as a separate independent permission to carry out the 

same development as previously permitted, but subject to new or amended 

conditions. The original permission will subsist alongside the new one. As such, a 

s.73 application is approached in that context as if it were a new application for 

planning permission under the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 

Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as amended).

2.16 The original substantive application 09/0028/TWMAJW was EIA development and the 

subject of a new ES that covered the activities of the whole IWMF at WFE.

2.17 A negative screening opinion was issued by the WPA on the 2nd May 2017 under 

17/0025/SCREEN in connection with the development to which application 

17/0066/TWMAJW related. No ES or addendum to ES was required for application 

17/0066/TWMAJW.

2.18 Application 19/0066/TWMAJW was not accompanied by an ES. The WPA has 

screened the proposal to determine if there are any likely significant environmental 

effects as if a screening opinion had been requested by the applicant under 

regulation 6(6) of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 

Assessment) Regulations 2017 (as amended). The variations in conditions sought by 

Page 36



11

application 19/0066/TWMAJW falls within Schedule 2 (13) (b) - Changes and 

extensions and should therefore be screened against the categories within Schedule 

3 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 

2017 (as amended).

2.19 The proposal arises pursuant to an existing planning permission (17/0066/TWMAJW) 

which was itself screened for the need for an environmental statement under 

reference 17/0025/SCREEN. The WPA considered all the evidence available, and 

concluded that the proposal would not have an impact on the environment for the 

purposes of requiring an EIA due to instances of odour, intensification of traffic 

movements and noise. For the avoidance of doubt, the WPA considered the EIA 

submissions made in support of application 09/0028/TWMAJW (permitted in 2011) in 

order to satisfy itself that there were no significant impacts arising that were not 

considered within the scope of those original proposals. Through the consideration of 

the application itself, the WPA has considered these impacts as part of the WPA’s 

assessment of the material planning matters pertaining to the proposal.

2.20 The WPA did not consider that the cumulative impacts would be significant in EIA 

terms. In reaching this conclusion, the WPA considered the measures proposed by 

the applicant to mitigate the environmental impacts. The WPA concluded that the 

proposed measures are sufficient in terms of not requiring an EIA.

2.21 The screening opinion adopted by the WPA on the 22nd April 2021 was as follows: 

“Whilst the proposed S.73 amendment to the MRF falls within the scope of Schedule 

2 it would not, in the opinion of this Authority be likely to have a significant effect on 

the environment in terms of the requirement for an EIA. The most significant potential 

change proposed is the increase/change in highway movements, but having 

consulted with the Highway Authority, it is considered that the proposed amendments 

would not have a significant effect on the environment to warrant the production of an 

Environmental Impact Assessment. An Environmental Statement has therefore not 

been requested.”

2.22 Application 19/0066/TWMAJW is not the subject of an ES or an addendum to an ES 

and not considered by the WPA to be EIA development.

Page 37

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_SCREEN_OPIN.PDF


12

Additional Information Submitted

2.23 During the consideration of planning application 19/0066/TWMAJW additional 

information was submitted by Grundon on the 4th August 2021 in response to a 

request from the planning case officer (email dated 1st July 2021) for clarification on 

matters related to RCV/HGV traffic movements around Bishop’s Cleeve area, along 

with queries raised in respect of the robustness of evidence that ‘very special 

circumstances’ for this proposal to be located within the Green Belt exist. These 

matters were raised by the WPA following receipt of comments from statutory 

consultees, representations received from the public and the observations made by 

the planning case officer. Re-consultation on the response received from the 

applicant took place with relevant technical consultees between the 5th and 26th 

August 2021.

2.24 On the 17th September 2021 the WPA wrote to the applicant informing them, inter 

alia, that 

“it is the opinion of the Waste Planning Authority (WPA) that the development to 

which the above retrospective s.73 application relates is ‘inappropriate development’ 

in the Green Belt. Having read the submitted supporting information (including our 

exchange of emails), along with the representations from objectors / supporters / 

consultees, the WPA are of the view that the ‘very special circumstances’ needed to 

satisfy national and development plan policies pertaining to the Green Belt have not 

been adequately demonstrated.”

2.25 In response, the applicant submitted additional supporting information on the 4th 

October 2021, which sought to expand upon Grundon’s reasoned argument for the 

‘very special circumstances’ that are set out within section 3.3(b) of their letter dated 

30th July 2021. As application 19/0066/TWMAJW is not the subject of an ES or an 

addendum to an ES and not considered by the WPA to be EIA development, the 

WPA is of the opinion that the additional supporting information submitted by the 

applicant does not fall to be formally advertised and consulted upon under regulation 

25 of the EIA Regulations. However, in the interest of keeping the public and 

consultees informed about additional supporting information received from the 

applicant, the WPA re-consulted with both contributors (18th October 2021 to 8th 

November 2021) and consultees (8th October 2021 to 22nd October 2021).

Page 38

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gccdocs/gcc_docs_start.aspx?action=show&appName=planning&appNumber=19/0066/TWMAJW


13

3.0 PLANNING HISTORY

3.1 Wingmoor Farm East has been the subject of multiple planning applications, the most 

relevant of which are set out in the table below:

Application Number Description of Development Decision 
/date

18/0044/TWMAJW

(Andigestion AD Plant)

Removal of 1 no. effluent tank and 1 no. 

water tank and the erection of a food waste 

mixing tank at existing AD Plant site.

Approved

20.09.2018

17/0066/TWMAJW

(Grundon)

Variation of condition 20 (Hours of 

operation) of planning consent 

09/0028/TWMAJW dated 11/11/2011.

Approved

19.10.2017

17/0025/SCREEN

(Grundon)

Screening request to vary condition 20 (a) 

of planning consent 09/0028/TWMAJW 

dated 14/05/2009 to allow for HGVs to 

leave the site an hour earlier than currently 

permitted.

02.05.2017

16/0127/PAPP3

(Grundon)

Pre app advice to allow the HGV depot 

relating to operating hours.

02.03.2017

16/0071/TWMAJW

(Andigestion)

Install a second combined heat and power 

generating engine at the existing AD plant.

Approved

12.01.2017

15/0048/COMPLI

(Grundon)

Compliance with condition 32 (detailed 

surface water drainage strategy for the 

restoration phase(s)) of planning 

permission 09/0028/TWMAJW dated 

11/11/2011.

16.02.2018

14/0084/TWMAJW

(Andigestion)

Variation of condition 2 (Definition of 

Permission) of planning permission 

13/0094/TWMAJW dated 20/05/2014 to 

allow the installation of a biomethane gas 

unit and grid entry unit, along with 

associated alterations to previously 

approved scheme, including installation of 

solar panels, creation of water 

Approved

09.02.2015

Page 39

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


14

management area and relocation of switch 

room and engine.

14/0083/TWMAJW

(Andigestion)

Retrospective application for extension to 

approved development area of planning 

permission 13/0094/TWMAJW for the 

development of an anaerobic digestion 

plant to allow for the installation and 

retention of a weighbridge, propane gas 

tank and Process Water Pond with 

associated works.

Approved

11.02.2015

13/0094/TWMAJW

(Andigestion)

Development of an Anaerobic Digestion 

Plant.

Approved

20.05.2014

13/0010/NONMAT

(Grundon)

Non-material amendment to the location of 

a workshop door, position of vehicle 

washdown and fuelling point and changes 

to vehicle parking as a result relating to 

planning permission 09/0028/TWMAJW 

dated 14/05/2009.

Approved

26.02.2013

09/0028/TWMAJW

(Grundon)

Continuation of mineral extraction and 

restoration through the importation of 

wastes at Wingmoor Farm Integrated 

Waste Management Facility (East), Stoke 

Orchard Road, Bishop’s Cleeve. Extraction 

of sand, gravel and clay; restoration of land 

to the profile approved in 1996 (planning 

permission reference: 95/8446/1099), 

through the importation of non-hazardous 

and hazardous wastes; operation of the 

waste treatment plant; operation of a  

Materials Recovery Facility; parking of 

collection vehicles; use of the landfill gas 

control system and associated landfill gas 

engines; use of ancillary infrastructure, 

such as leachate treatment plant, 

weighbridges, sand and gravel processing 

plant, vehicle servicing facilities, offices 

Approved

22.09.11

Page 40

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gccdocs/gcc_docs_start.aspx?action=show&appName=planning&appNumber=13/0010/NONMAT
https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


15

and mess facilities required for the 

operation and restoration of the site.

07/0046/TWMAJW

(Grundon)

Installation of double-gated entrance. Approved

19.10.2007

07/0042/TWMAJW

(Grundon)

Variation of condition 12 of planning 

permission T.05/4037/1317 which relates 

to the occupancy and use of the 

offices/workshop.

Approved

19.09.2007

05/0065/TWFUL

(Grundon)

The erection of a MRF including 

replacement ancillary vehicle servicing and 

offices, replacement weighbridge facilities 

including control cabin, inert waste 

classification storage and transfer shed 

and storage of baled recovered materials.

Approved

05.04.2006

T/04/4037/0648/Ful Erection of a MRF, including a replacement 

ancillary vehicle servicing and offices, 

replacement weighbridge facilities 

including control cabin, inert waste 

classification storage and transfer shed 

and storage of baled recovered materials.

Refused

30.04.2005

04/8446/0118/Ful The installation of landfill gas engine, 

landfill gas flare, control cabin, and 

associated plant within compound. 

Consent 

T/01/8446/0723/Ful Renewal of permission for lightweight 

aggregate plant.

23.05.2001 

T/98/8446/0015 Lightweight aggregate plant. 12.06.1998

97/8446/0130 Erection of gravel processing plant. 14.05.1997 

96/8446/0510 Variation of Condition 28 of planning 

permission 88T/8446/0l/02.

01.10.1996 

95/8446/1099 The joining together of two landfill sites and 

adjustments of final levels in order to 

create a single contoured restoration.

09.04.1996

95/8446/0222 Change of condition 3 of planning 

permission 88T/8446/01/02 for the re- 

phasing of scheme of working.

19.04.1995

Page 41

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=IKJIBBHN60000


16

94/8446/0992 Erection of an ash conditioning plant. 10.10.1994

90T/8446/01/11 Variation of condition 11 of planning 

permission 88T/8446/0l/02 [limiting 

extraction of sand and gravel only] for clay.

28.07.1990

88T/8446/01/02 Extraction of sand and gravel [50ha] with 

restoration to agriculture by controlled 

waste tipping. Formation of new access.

12.05.1989

T4402/H Use of land for tipping. 28.02.1979

3.2 Paragraph 1.3.3 of the Planning Supporting Statement (dated December 2019) states 

that ‘all operations at Wingmoor Farm East are temporary and are to be finalised by 

December 2029 and the site is to be fully restored by June 2030.’

4.0 PLANNING POLICY 

Development Plan Policies for Gloucestershire

4.1 Under Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, planning 

applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise.  The development plan relevant to this 

planning application comprises the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (adopted 

November 2012); Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (adopted October 2004), the 

Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011-2031 (Pre-Submission Version (October 2019)) and 

the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031.

Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy 2012 (Adopted November 2012)

4.2 Gloucestershire’s Waste Core Strategy (GWCS), adopted 21st November 2012 

provides the planning framework for waste management development in the county 

for the period 2012-2027.  The following policies from the WCS are considered to be 

most relevant to the development:

 WCS1 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development

 WCS6 – Other Recovery

 WCS10 – Cumulative Impact

 WCS13 – Green Belt

Page 42

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_SUPP_STATE.PDF
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/14056/adopted_wcs_211112-53886.pdf


17

 WCS18 – Bulking and Transfer

 WCS19 – Sustainable Transport

4.3 Within Policy WCS10 (Cumulative Impact) of the GWCS it states that “in determining 

proposals for waste related development for new or enhanced waste management 

facilities the Council will have regard to the cumulative effects of previous and 

existing waste management facilities on local communities alongside the potential 

benefits of co-locating complimentary facilities together. Planning permission will be 

granted where the proposal would not have an unacceptable cumulative impact.” This 

policy sets out the following three broad categories when considering the issue of 

cumulative impact pertaining to a development:

1. Environmental quality;
2. Social cohesion and inclusion; and
3. Economic potential.

4.4 Policy WCS18 (Bulking and Transfer) of the GWCS states that planning permission 

will be granted, subject to three criteria of which criterion 1 is relevant to noise as it 

requires development of new and expanded bulking and transfer facilities to 

demonstrate that the impact on the environment and neighbouring land uses is 

acceptable. Criterion 2 seeks to ensure that highway access is suitable for the 

proposed vehicle movements and criterion 3 states that the proposal would need to 

contribute towards “providing a sustainable waste management system for 

Gloucestershire.”

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012 (Saved Policies)

4.5 The Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (WLP) was adopted in October 2004.  

However, following the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government’s 

Direction (dated 5 October 2007) the following WLP policies are ‘saved’ until replaced 

by Development Plan Documents contained in the Minerals and Waste Development 

Frameworks. The following ‘saved’ policies are considered compliant with the 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and relevant to the determination of this 

application:

Page 43

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/5853/adopted_gloucestershire_waste_local_plan_-2002_-_2012-22434.pdf


18

Policy 33 – Water resources – pollution control

4.6 “Proposals for waste development will only be permitted where there would be no 

unacceptable risk of contamination to surface watercourses, bodies of water or 

groundwater resources.”

Policy 37 – Proximity to Other Land Uses 

4.7 “Proposals for waste development will be determined taking into account such 

matters as the effect on the environment, occupants’ and users’ amenity and health, 

the countryside, the traditional landscape character of Gloucestershire, the local 

highway network, any hazardous installation or substance and any adverse 

cumulative effect in combination with other development in the area. Where 

appropriate, suitable ameliorative measures shall be incorporated in the proposals to 

mitigate, attenuate and control noise, dust, litter, odour, landfill gas, vermin, leachate 

and flue emissions.”

Policy 38 – Hours of Operation

4.8 “The waste planning authority will where appropriate impose a condition restricting 

hours of operation on waste management facilities to protect amenity.”

Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011-2031 (Pre-Submission Version (October 2019))

4.9 Having reviewed the emerging policies within the Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011-

2031, it is the opinion of the WPA that none of the emerging policies are of relevance 

in the consideration of the development to which this application relates.

Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan 2001-2011 (Adopted March 2006)

4.10 Upon reviewing those policies that were ‘saved’ by the Secretary of State’s Direction 

(dated 25th March 2009) under paragraph 1(3) of Schedule 8 to the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, the WPA are of the opinion that any policies that are 

applicable to this application have been superseded by policies in the adopted 

Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (JCS) 2011-2031.

Page 44



19

Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031

4.11 The JCS was adopted on 11th December 2017 and is an 

important part of the development plan for Gloucester City, Cheltenham Borough and 

Tewkesbury Borough. “The JCS sets out the long-term vision and objectives for the 

area together with strategic policies for shaping new development and locations for 

new development up to 2031. Together, these policies help to provide a strategic 

planning framework for the JCS area, which guides future planning decisions and 

helps to achieve the overall vision for the area.”

4.12 It is the opinion of the WPA that the following policies within the JCS are of particular 

relevance to the determination of this application:

 Policy SD1: Employment – Except Retail Development

 Policy SD5: Green Belt

 Policy SD6: Landscape

 Policy SD14: Health and Environmental Quality

 Policy INF1: Transport Network

 Policy INF2: Flood Risk Management

4.13 Within para.4.15.4 of the supporting text within the JCS, it states that Policy SD14 

recognises that “the quality of the environment around us is an important determinant 

of human health.” Within Policy SD14, it states that “high-quality development should 

protect and seek to improve environmental quality. Development should not create or 

exacerbate conditions that could impact on human health or cause health inequality.” 

Of the eight requirements listed in criterion 2 of Policy SD14, the WPA considers the 

following two points to be relevant in the consideration of noise impact from the 

bulking and transfer operation, which must:

i. “Cause no unacceptable harm to local amenity including the amenity of 

neighbouring occupants.”

ii. “Result in no unacceptable levels of air, noise, water, light or soil pollution or 

odour, either alone or cumulatively, with respect to relevant national and EU 

limit values.”

Page 45

https://jointcorestrategy-my.sharepoint.com/personal/website_jointcorestrategy_onmicrosoft_com/_layouts/15/onedrive.aspx?id=%2Fpersonal%2Fwebsite_jointcorestrategy_onmicrosoft_com%2FDocuments%2FJoint%20Core%20Strategy%20(JCS)%20website%2FHome%2FJCS%20Plan%20Adopted%20Version%2011%20December%202017.pdf&parent=%2Fpersonal%2Fwebsite_jointcorestrategy_onmicrosoft_com%2FDocuments%2FJoint%20Core%20Strategy%20(JCS)%20website%2FHome


20

National Planning Policy Framework

4.14 The NPPF has been revised most recently in July 2021 and sets out the 

Government’s planning policies, which should be applied with immediate effect.  The 

NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions and must be taken into 

account.

4.15 The following paragraphs within the NPPF (2021) are considered to be of particular 

relevance:

Part 2: Achieving sustainable development

 Paragraph 7 advises that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to 

the achievement of sustainable development.  Sustainable development 

means that 3 overarching objectives of building a strong and competitive 

economy, maintaining healthy and vibrant communities and protecting the 

environment need to be pursued.  

 Paragraph 11 advises that decision takers should apply a presumption in 

favour of sustainable development by: approving development proposals that 

accord with an up to date development plan without delay; or where there are 

no relevant development plan policies or the policies are out of date, granting 

permission unless the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or 

assets of particular importance provide a clear reason for refusing the 

proposed development or any adverse impact of doing so would significantly 

and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in 

the NPPF taken as a whole.

Part 4: Decision-making

 Paragraph 38 advises local planning authorities that they should use the full 

range of planning tools available, and work proactively with applicants to 

secure developments that will improve the economic, social and environmental 

conditions of the area.

 Paragraph 48 advises that local planning authorities may give weight to 

relevant policies in emerging plans according to:

a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced

Page 46

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf


21

its preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);

b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies 

(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that 

may be given); and

c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to

this Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the 

policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).

 Paragraph 56 states, amongst other matters, that planning conditions should 

be kept to a minimum and only imposed where they are necessary, relevant to 

planning and to the development to be permitted, enforceable, precise and 

reasonable in all other respects.

Part 6: Building a strong, competitive economy

 Paragraph 81 states, amongst other matters, that planning policies and 

decisions should help create the conditions in which businesses can invest, 

expand and adapt.

 Paragraph 82 advises, amongst other matters, that planning policies and 

decisions should recognise and address the specific locational requirements of 

different sectors.

 Paragraph 84 supports the rural economy allowing for sustainable growth and 

expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both through conversion of 

existing buildings and well designed new buildings, as well as the 

diversification of agricultural and other land based rural businesses.

Part 9: Promoting sustainable transport

 Paragraph 110 advises in assessing proposals for development it should be 

ensured that a safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all 

users, while paragraph 111 states that development should not be refused on 

highway grounds unless there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 

safety or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 

severe.  

Page 47



22

 Paragraph 113 states that all developments that will generate significant 

amounts of movement should be required to provide a travel plan, and the 

application should be supported by a transport statement or transport 

assessment so that the likely impacts of the proposal can be assessed.

Part 11: Making effective use of land

 Paragraph 119 advises, amongst other matters, that planning policies and 

decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for 

homes and other uses, while safeguarding and improving the environment and 

ensuring safe and healthy living conditions.

Part 13: Protecting Green Belt land

 Paragraph 137 informs us that the Government attaches great importance to 

Green Belts, and that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent 

urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; the essential characteristics 

of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence.

 Paragraph 147 informs us that inappropriate development is, by definition, 

harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 

circumstances.

 Paragraph 148 advises that local planning authorities should ensure that 

substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special 

circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by 

reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, 

is clearly outweighed by other considerations.

 Paragraph 150 sets out the following six forms of development that are not 

inappropriate in the Green Belt, provided they preserve its openness and do 

not conflict with the purposes of including land within it:

a) mineral extraction;

b) engineering operations;

c) local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a

Green Belt location;

d) the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent

Page 48



23

and substantial construction;

e) material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor 

sport or recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds); and

f) development, including buildings, brought forward under a Community 

Right to Build Order or Neighbourhood Development Order.

Part 14: ‘Meeting the challenge of climate change’ flooding and coastal 

change.

 Paragraph 152 states that the planning system should support the transition to 

a low carbon future in a changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and 

coastal change. It should help to: shape places in ways that contribute to 

radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, minimise vulnerability and 

improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing resources, including the 

conversion of existing buildings; and support renewable and low carbon 

energy and associated infrastructure.

Part 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

 Part e) of paragraph 174 states, inter alia, that planning policies and decisions 

should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 

preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at 

unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of 

soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability.

 Paragraph 183 advises that planning policies and decisions should ensure that 

a site is suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground conditions and 

any risks arising from land instability and contamination.

 Paragraph 185 advises that planning decisions should ensure that new 

development is appropriate for its location, taking into account the likely effects 

(including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the 

natural environment. This includes noise generating activities that give rise to 

“significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of life” and the potential 

sensitivities of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the 

development.  In so doing they should mitigate and reduce to a minimum 

potential adverse impacts resulting from noise from new development and 

Page 49



24

avoid noise, giving rise to significant adverse impact on health and the quality 

of life.

 Paragraph 186 advises that planning policies and decisions should sustain 

and contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values or national 

objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality 

Management Areas and Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from 

individual sites in local areas.

 Paragraph 187 advises that existing businesses and facilities should not have 

unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of development permitted 

after they were established. Where the operation of an existing business or 

community facility could have a significant adverse effect on new development 

(including changes of use) in its vicinity, the applicant (or ‘agent of change’) 

should be required to provide suitable mitigation before the development has 

been completed. 

 Paragraph 188 states that the focus of planning policies and decisions should 

be on whether proposed development is an acceptable use of land, rather than 

the control of processes or emissions (where these are subject to separate 

pollution control regimes). Planning decisions should assume that these 

regimes will operate effectively. Equally, where a planning decision has been 

made on a particular development, the planning issues should not be revisited 

through the permitting regimes operated by pollution control authorities. 

4.16 The focus of planning decisions should be on whether the proposed development is 

an acceptable use of land rather than the control of processes or emissions where 

these are subject to separate pollution control regimes.  Planning decisions should 

assume that these regimes will operate effectively.

4.17 The NPPF does not contain specific waste policies as these are published in the 

National Planning Policy for Waste (Oct 2014) as part of the National Waste 

Management Plan for England.

4.18 The DEFRA Noise Policy Statement for England (NPSE) is referred to in the NPPF 

and this sets out that government policy is to “avoid significant adverse impacts on 

health and quality of life” due to noise.

Page 50



25

National Planning Practice Guidance

4.19 The government first published the NPPF in March 2012 with the latest revision 

published in July 2021. The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) was first 

published in March 2014. Together, the NPPF and NPPG set out what the 

government expects of local authorities. The NPPG adds further context and 

guidance to the NPPF and it is intended that the two documents should be read 

together. As with the NPPF, the NPPG is also a ‘material consideration’ when taking 

decisions on planning applications.

4.20 The following topics within the NPPG are considered by the WPA to be of most 

relevance in the consideration of this application:

Air Quality

4.21 Paragraph: 005 Reference ID: 32-005-20191101 of the NPPG states:

“Where air quality is a relevant consideration the local planning authority may need to 

establish:

 the ‘baseline’ local air quality, including what would happen to air quality in the 

absence of the development;

 whether the proposed development could significantly change air quality 

during the construction and operational phases (and the consequences of this 

for public health and biodiversity); and

 whether occupiers or users of the development could experience poor living 

conditions or health due to poor air quality.”

“For large and complex industrial processes, the Environment Agency should also be 

able to help by identifying:

 if an environmental permit is also required before the proposed development 

can start operating;

 if there are any significant air quality issues that may arise at the permitting 

stage (so there are ‘no surprises’); and

 whether there are any special requirements that might affect the likelihood of 

getting planning permission (such as the height of chimneys).”

Page 51

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/air-quality--3


26

4.22 Paragraph: 006 Reference ID: 32-006-20191101 of the NPPG states:

“Considerations that may be relevant to determining a planning application include 

whether the development would:

 Lead to changes (including any potential reductions) in vehicle-related 

emissions in the immediate vicinity of the proposed development or further 

afield. This could be through the provision of electric vehicle charging 

infrastructure; altering the level of traffic congestion; significantly changing 

traffic volumes, vehicle speeds or both; or significantly altering the traffic 

composition on local roads. Other matters to consider include whether the 

proposal involves the development of a bus station, coach or lorry park; could 

add to turnover in a large car park; or involve construction sites that would 

generate large Heavy Goods Vehicle flows over a period of a year or more;

 Introduce new point sources of air pollution. This could include furnaces which 

require prior notification to local authorities; biomass boilers or biomass-fuelled 

Combined Heat and Power plant; centralised boilers or plant burning other 

fuels within or close to an air quality management area or introduce relevant 

combustion within a Smoke Control Area; or extraction systems (including 

chimneys) which require approval or permits under pollution control legislation;

 Expose people to harmful concentrations of air pollutants, including dust. This 

could be by building new homes, schools, workplaces or other development in 

places with poor air quality;

 Give rise to potentially unacceptable impacts (such as dust) during 

construction for nearby sensitive locations;

 Have a potential adverse effect on biodiversity, especially where it would affect 

sites designated for their biodiversity value.”

4.23 Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 32-007-20191101 of the NPPG states, amongst other 

matters:

“It is not necessary for air quality assessments that support planning applications to 

duplicate aspects of air quality assessments that will be done as part of non-planning 

control regimes, such as under Environmental Permitting Regulations. Air quality is a 

consideration in Environmental Impact Assessment, if one is required, and also in a 

Habitats Regulations Appropriate Assessment.”

Green Belt

Page 52

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/green-belt


27

4.24 Paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 64-001-20190722 of the NPPG states:

“Assessing the impact of a proposal on the openness of the Green Belt, where it is 

relevant to do so, requires a judgment based on the circumstances of the case. By 

way of example, the courts have identified a number of matters which may need to be 

taken into account in making this assessment. These include, but are not limited to:

 openness is capable of having both spatial and visual aspects – in other 

words, the visual impact of the proposal may be relevant, as could its volume;

 the duration of the development, and its remediability – taking into account any 

provisions to return land to its original state or to an equivalent (or improved) 

state of openness; and

 the degree of activity likely to be generated, such as traffic generation.”

Transport

4.25 Paragraph: 013 Reference ID: 42-013-20140306 of the NPPG states:

“Paragraph [113] of the National Planning Policy Framework sets out that all 

developments that generate significant amounts of transport movement should be 

supported by a Transport Statement or Transport Assessment.

Local planning authorities must make a judgement as to whether a development 

proposal would generate significant amounts of movement on a case-by-case basis 

(i.e. significance may be a lower threshold where road capacity is already stretched 

or a higher threshold for a development in an area of high public transport 

accessibility).

In determining whether a Transport Assessment or Statement will be needed for a 

proposed development local planning authorities should take into account the 

following considerations:

 the Transport Assessment and Statement policies (if any) of the Local Plan;

 the scale of the proposed development and its potential for additional trip 

generation (smaller applications with limited impacts may not need a Transport 

Assessment or Statement);

 existing intensity of transport use and the availability of public transport;

Page 53

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-and-statements


28

 proximity to nearby environmental designations or sensitive areas;

 impact on other priorities/strategies (such as promoting walking and cycling);

 the cumulative impacts of multiple developments within a particular area; and

 whether there are particular types of impacts around which to focus the 

Transport Assessment or Statement (e.g. assessing traffic generated at peak 

times).”

Waste

4.26 Paragraph: 005 Reference ID: 28-005-20141016 of the NPPG states:

“Local planning authorities can ensure that waste is handled in a manner which 

protects human health and the environment through testing the suitability of proposed 

sites, both in developing their Local Plans and in considering individual planning 

applications, against the policies in paragraphs 4 to 7 and the factors in Appendix B 

of National planning policy for waste. Other ways in which they can deal with this 

include:

 putting in place suitable planning conditions, and adequate enforcement and 

monitoring

 working closely with Environmental Health colleagues

 consultation with Public Health England and the Environment Agency (which is 

mandatory in certain cases) for advice on public health matters and pollution 

control

 ensuring land raising or landfill sites are restored to beneficial after-uses (e.g. 

agriculture, biodiversity, forestry, and amenity at the earliest opportunity and to 

high environmental standards.”

4.27 Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 28-007-20141016 of the NPPG states:

“…..there is no expectation that each local planning authority should deal solely with 

its own waste to meet the requirements of the self-sufficiency and proximity 

principles. Nor does the proximity principle require using the absolute closest facility 

to the exclusion of all other considerations. There are clearly some wastes, which are 

produced in small quantities for which it would be uneconomic to have a facility in 

each local authority. Furthermore, there could also be significant economies of scale 

Page 54

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/waste


29

for local authorities working together to assist with the development of a network of 

waste management facilities to enable waste to be handled effectively.

The ability to source waste from a range of locations/organisations helps ensure 

existing capacity is used effectively and efficiently, and importantly helps maintain 

local flexibility to increase recycling without resulting in local overcapacity.”

4.28 Paragraph: 045 Reference ID: 28-045-20150415 of the NPPG states:

“Reflecting the close co-operation expected between waste planning and district 

authorities in respect to developing waste planning policy through the duty to 

cooperate, a collaborative approach should also apply in respect to waste 

development planning applications. Specifically, pre-planning application discussions 

between counties and their districts is strongly encouraged. On receipt of 

applications, county planning authorities are required to consult district authorities 

(who are statutory consultees under Schedule 4 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 and then consider any 

subsequent representations as material considerations to be taken into account 

before determining applications.”

4.29 Paragraph: 047 Reference ID: 28-047-20141016 of the NPPG states:

“The waste planning authority should not assume that because a particular area has 

hosted, or hosts, waste disposal facilities, that it is appropriate to add to these or 

extend their life. It is important to consider the cumulative effect of previous waste 

disposal facilities on a community’s wellbeing. Impacts on environmental quality, 

social cohesion and inclusion and economic potential may all be relevant. 

Engagement with the local communities affected by previous waste disposal 

decisions will help in these considerations.”

4.30 Paragraph: 050 Reference ID: 28-050-20141016 of the NPPG states:

“The planning system controls the development and use of land in the public interest. 

This includes consideration of the impacts on the local environment and amenity 

taking into account the criteria set out in Appendix B to National planning policy for 

waste.

Page 55



30

There exist a number of issues which are covered by other regulatory regimes and 

waste planning authorities should assume that these regimes will operate effectively. 

The focus of the planning system should be on whether the development itself is an 

acceptable use of the land and the impacts of those uses, rather than any control 

processes, health and safety issues or emissions themselves where these are 

subject to approval under other regimes. However, before granting planning 

permission they will need to be satisfied that these issues can or will be adequately 

addressed by taking the advice from the relevant regulatory body.”

4.31 Paragraph: 051 Reference ID: 28-051-20141016 of the NPPG states:

“The role of the environmental permit, regulated by the Environment Agency, is to 

provide the required level of protection for the environment from the operation of a 

waste facility. The permit will aim to prevent pollution through the use of measures to 

prohibit or limit the release of substances to the environment to the lowest practicable 

level. It also ensures that ambient air and water quality meet standards that guard 

against impacts to the environment and human health.”

Waste Management Plan for England (2021)

4.32 The Waste Management Plan for England (WMPE) is non-site-specific, and provides 

analysis of the current waste management situation in England. The plan does not 

introduce new policies or change how waste is managed in England. Its aim is to 

bring current government waste management policies together under one national 

plan.

4.33 The WMPE is a national plan, produced by a public body, required by legislation and 

covers waste management.

4.34 Whilst the most relevant statements of government waste policy on the issues raised 

by this proposal are contained within the National Planning Policy for Waste (2014) 

document, the following extracts from the WMPE are of particular relevance to the 

development to which this application relates:

Page 56

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/955897/waste-management-plan-for-england-2021.pdf


31

Proximity principle

 “The principle of ‘proximity’ is set out in paragraph 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 1 to 

the Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011. This is within the context of 

the requirement to establish an integrated and adequate network of waste 

disposal installations for recovery of mixed municipal waste collected from 

private households. The requirement includes where such collection also 

covers waste from other producers. 

The network must enable waste to be disposed of, or be recovered, in one of 

the nearest appropriate installations, by means of the most appropriate 

methods and technologies, in order to ensure a high level of protection for the 

environment and public health. 

The network shall be designed in such a way as to enable a movement 

towards the aim of self-sufficiency in waste disposal and the recovery of 

waste. However, consideration must be given to the geographical 

circumstances or the need for specialised installations for certain types of 

waste.

This principle must be applied when decisions are taken on the location of 

appropriate waste facilities.”

Collection infrastructure

 “The government supports comprehensive and frequent rubbish and recycling 

collections that meet the needs of local residents. Local authorities in England 

are under a legal obligation under the Environmental Protection Act 1990109 

to provide waste collections to households. From 2003, they have also been 

under a duty to collect at least two types of recyclable waste separately where 

they have a duty to collect household waste. Local authorities have a duty to 

collect waste paper, metal, plastic or glass by way of separate collection where 

this is necessary to ensure that waste undergoes recovery operations and to 

comply with the waste hierarchy and to facilitate or improve recovery.”

Within the borough of Tewkesbury the following types of residential kerbside 

waste collections are made:

Page 57



32

 Green refuse bin: non-recyclable household waste collected fortnightly.

 Food waste caddy: food leftovers & peelings collected weekly.

 Blue bin: dry recyclables i.e. card, cardboard, cartons, metal cans, tins, 

foil, aerosols, glass bottles, glass jars, plastic containers/packaging and 

mixed paper, which is collected fortnightly.

 Brown wheelie bin: garden waste collected fortnightly as a paid 

subscription service.

Within the borough of Cheltenham the following types of residential kerbside 

waste collections are made:

 Green refuse bin: non-recyclable household waste collected fortnightly.

 Food waste caddy: food leftovers & peelings collected weekly.

 Green box 1: dry recyclables i.e. plastic pots, tubs, trays, bottles, tins, 

foil & cans collected fortnightly.

 Green box 2: dry recyclables i.e. glass bottles, jars and paper collected 

fortnightly.

 Blue bag: cardboard collected fortnightly.

 Brown wheelie bin: garden waste collected fortnightly as a paid 

subscription service.

Evaluation of the development of waste streams in the future

 “The policies that are summarised in this document are designed to achieve 

the aims of the Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 and the 

Resources and Waste Strategy. These are: to protect the environment and 

human health by preventing or reducing the generation of waste, the adverse 

impacts of the generation and management of waste and by reducing overall 

impacts of resource use and improving the efficiency of such use.”

Technologies for managing residual waste

 “The Resources and Waste Strategy promotes efficient energy recovery from 

residual waste, but the government does not express a preference for one 

technology over another, since local circumstances differ. Efficient energy 

recovery from residual waste which can deliver environmental benefits, reduce 

carbon impacts and provide economic opportunities, and innovative 

Page 58



33

technologies which improve the environmental outcome for the treatment of 

residual waste are welcomed.”

“The Resources and Waste Strategy recognises that energy from waste is 

generally the best management option for waste that cannot be reused or 

recycled in terms of environmental impact and getting value from the waste as 

a resource.”

Other recovery

 “Residual waste generally refers to the waste collected from households or 

businesses in a black bag or wheelie bin. The government supports efficient 

energy recovery from residual waste – energy from waste is generally the best 

management option for waste that cannot be reused or recycled in terms of 

environmental impact and getting value from the waste as a resource. It plays 

an important role in diverting waste from landfill. In 2016, 6.2 million tonnes of 

residual waste were disposed of in energy from waste facilities.”

National Planning Policy for Waste (2014)

4.35 The National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) was issued in October 2014 and has 

not yet been subject to review like the NPPF. It sets out the Government’s ambition to 

work towards a more sustainable and efficient approach to resource use and 

management, and states that positive planning plays a pivotal role in delivering this 

country’s waste ambitions through the delivery of sustainable development and 

resource efficiency, including provision of modern infrastructure, local employment 

opportunities and wider climate change benefits, by driving waste management up 

the waste hierarchy.

4.36 The Government expects that decisions on waste applications should have regard to 

policies in the NPPF so far as they are relevant.  When determining waste planning 

applications, the WPA should only expect applicants to demonstrate the quantitative 

or market need for new or enhanced waste management facilities where proposals 

are not consistent with an up to date Local Plan.  In such cases, the WPA should 

consider the extent to which the capacity of existing operational facilities would satisfy 

any identified need. 

Page 59

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/364759/141015_National_Planning_Policy_for_Waste.pdf


34

4.37 The NPPW states that the government is seeking a more sustainable and efficient 

approach to resource use and management and identifies positive planning as 

playing a pivotal role in achieving this.  In testing the suitability of sites in determining 

planning applications, WPAs are asked to consider 12 locational factors set out in 

Appendix B of the NPPW.  WPAs should not concern themselves with the control of 

processes which are a matter for the relevant pollution control authorities. In reaching 

planning decisions, WPAs are entitled to assume that the relevant controls will be 

properly applied and enforced. Whilst WPAs should consider the locational 

implications of any advice on health from the relevant health bodies, they should 

avoid carrying out their own detailed assessment of epidemiological and other health 

studies.

4.38 The 12 locational considerations set out in Appendix B of the NPPW are as follows:

a) Protection of water quality and resources and flood risk management;

b) Land instability;

c) Landscape and visual impacts;

d) Nature conservation;

e) Conserving the historic environment;

f) Traffic and access;

g) Air emissions including dust;

h) Odours;

i) Vermin and birds;

j) Noise, light and vibration;

k) Litter; and 

l) Potential land use conflict.

4.39 In Appendix B (Locational Criteria) of the NPPW, criterion (j) includes noise and the 

considerations that need to be given to the proximity of sensitive receptors and the 

noise that can arise from both inside and outside a building, including noise and 

vibration from goods vehicle traffic movements to and from a site. 

4.40 Part 7 of the NPPW states that when determining waste planning applications, waste 

planning authorities should:

 only expect applicants to demonstrate the quantitative or market need for new 

or enhanced waste management facilities where proposals are not consistent 

Page 60



35

with an up-to-date Local Plan. In such cases, waste planning authorities 

should consider the extent to which the capacity of existing operational 

facilities would satisfy any identified need;

 recognise that proposals for waste management facilities such as incinerators 

that cut across up-to-date Local Plans reflecting the vision and aspiration of 

local communities can give rise to justifiable frustration, and expect applicants 

to demonstrate that waste disposal facilities not in line with the Local Plan, will 

not undermine the objectives of the Local Plan through prejudicing movement 

up the waste hierarchy;

 consider the likely impact on the local environment and on amenity against the 

criteria set out in Appendix B and the locational implications of any advice on 

health from the relevant health bodies. Waste planning authorities should 

avoid carrying out their own detailed assessment of epidemiological and other 

health studies;

 ensure that waste management facilities in themselves are well-designed, so 

that they contribute positively to the character and quality of the area in which 

they are located;

 concern themselves with implementing the planning strategy in the Local Plan 

and not with the control of processes which are a matter for the pollution 

control authorities. Waste planning authorities should work on the assumption 

that the relevant pollution control regime will be properly applied and enforced;

 ensure that land raising or landfill sites are restored to beneficial after uses at 

the earliest opportunity and to high environmental standards through the 

application of appropriate conditions where necessary.

Neighbourhood Plans

4.41 There is no adopted Neighbourhood Plan for the area in which the development is 

located. Bishop’s Cleeve Parish Council applied to designate a neighbourhood area 

for the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan, which was validated on the 1st March 

2017. The application site is within the designated area. The Neighbourhood Plan 

appears to have made little progress and is still in its early stages. As draft policies 

have yet to be published, no weight can be attached to the Neighbourhood Plan.

Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy (December 2019)

Page 61



36

4.42 The Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy (GCCS) was approved by Cabinet at 

its meeting on 20 December 2019. The strategy provides an overarching framework 

for Gloucestershire over five years, setting out what Gloucestershire County Council 

will do, working with local communities and partners. The strategy’s Vision is that:

“By 2050 we will create a carbon neutral county that provides quality of life now and 

for future generations, having improved the quality of our natural environment. By 

2030 we will have reduced our carbon emissions by 80%.”

5.0 REPRESENTATIONS

5.1 The application was publicised by a public notice placed in the Gloucestershire Echo 

on 13th May 2021 and by the posting of three site notices in the vicinity of the 

application site on 12th May 2021.  Comments on the application proposals were 

requested by 3rd June 2021.  

5.2 On the 12th May 2021, forty-four letters requesting comments by 10th June 2021 were 

sent to local residents.

5.3 Following receipt of additional supporting information on the 4th October 2021 a 

period of re-consultation took place with contributors between the 8th and 22nd 

October 2021.

5.4 As a result of this publicity a total of 138 public representations have been received at 

the time of writing this report, of which 134 object to the development, 2 are neutral 

and 2 are in support, which are the Cabinet Member for Waste, Recycling & Street 

Services at Cheltenham Borough Council, along with a joint letter of representation 

from the Head of Community Services at Tewkesbury Borough Council and the 

Environmental Partnerships Manager at Cheltenham Borough Council.

5.5 A summary of objection issues raised are set out in the table below:

Page 62



37

Odour

 Odour nuisance and the negative impact upon air quality from odorous 

putrescible residual waste and vehicular traffic that is impacting human 

health, both physically and mentally;

 Adverse impact upon residents’ amenity when odorous smells force 

people indoors with doors and windows closed and unable to carry out 

daily activities e.g. hang out washing;

 Any change of use like this proposal will exacerbate existing odour 

problems. Point 2.6.17 of Grundon’s Planning Support document it 

states that 'new proposal introduces waste more prone to odour';

 The site is reported to be smelt from further afield, from the 

Racecourse, centre of Bishop’s Cleeve, and sometimes from 

Cheltenham town centre and Gallagher Retail Park;

 It is this non-recyclable waste that is the cause of the unpleasant 

odours;

 Odour can penetrate into residents’ homes, and then cannot open 

windows for ventilation;

 The smell does depend on the wind direction but it has definitely 

increased in its frequency and strength.

Noise pollution

 Increased noise, pollution and vibration to local houses from HGVs 

along Stoke Orchard Road.

Litter

 Stoke Orchard Road is often littered with materials from HGVs. Lorries 

appear to drop waste products along the road, which gets blown around 

the nearby residential area.

Vermin, flies and birds

 The area suffers badly with flies and pigeons, attracted by the site.

Page 63



38

Planning policy and application process

 The development would lead to a continuation of Wingmoor Farm East 

as a waste management facility beyond the expiry dates set out in 

planning condition 2 (Duration) of extant permission 17/0066/TWMAJW;

 Lack of accordance with national policy in NPPF and those applicable 

policies set out in the development plan;

 No intensification in waste developments should be permitted. The 

application is presented as a “relatively minor adjustments”. However, 

the consequence of granting consent will be major for the community;

 This proposal should have been the subject of a full planning 

application. Concern that the Council’s legal opinion has taken a very 

narrow view, not addressing the full implications of the proposed 

variations;

 The MRF facility was built on the grounds that it would be used for 

clean waste and not for green bin contents. The application should have 

been a conversion;

 Inappropriate development in the Green Belt, with no evident “very 

special circumstances”;

 Application goes against the approach of the County moving to 

incineration from landfill, to allegedly to reduce the environmental 

impact of its waste disposal;

 This site was given planning consent to sort mixed recyclables but this 

retrospective application changes that use into handling residual waste, 

increasing the impact on the environment. The fact that this is a 

retrospective application demonstrates that Grundon’s do not care 

about the local neighbourhood and are contravening the planning 

process;

 How can a company materially change the use of a building with the 

planning consent given to a totally different sort of use. Grundon have 

clearly done this, being awarded a contract from the County Council 

and are now applying for retrospective planning consent from materials 

recovery (recycling) to the management of residual waste prior to 

removal to Javelin Park for disposal.

Page 64



39

Air Quality

 Concern for dust pollution in the air. The only justification to this is that 

the excess pollution is already considered under existing terms of their 

contract;

 Concern over constant layer of dust and dirt which covers homeowner 

items;

 Concern over damage to the local hedgerows, flora and fauna from dirt 

and dust.

Site & Location

 A more remote facility should be found. Existing facility is unsuitable for 

proposed use;

 Appropriateness of the location and lack of alternative site assessment;

 The area including the processing plant could be a lot better screened 

by planting trees. This could off set the company carbon footprint, make 

them and the smell less noticeable;

 Stoke Orchard and Bishop’s Cleeve are ever expanding villages. It is 

not justifiable to approve planning permission to dispose of different 

rubbish in this manner at Wingmoor;

 It is too large & too close to residential areas e.g. 400m, and those 

proposed e.g. Spitfire homes will be 50m to 100m from the MRF.

Highways

 Concern over accumulation of traffic from future developments planned 

in the area and with the works planned to Junction 10 of the M5 that will 

all have a large impact on the level of traffic on Stoke Orchard Road;

 Increased risk to highway safety by virtue of larger and more frequent 

HGV movements;

 Increase in size and number and intensity of HGVs (e.g. 20-30 vehicles 

per hour for 12+ hours per day) having negative impact on local 

highway network e.g. Stoke Road, and the amenity of local residents;

 The railway bridge is not fit for the size and number of vehicles currently 

crossing it;

Page 65



40

 This road is the only route from Stoke Orchard to the local farm shop 

and to Bishop’s Cleeve, and local amenities. Stoke Orchard Road is 

already difficult to walk or ride a bike, with the additional number of 

lorries it will be too dangerous to consider walking or riding. Should be 

encouraging less use of cars, not more;

 Increased vibration to houses and garden walls along Stoke Orchard 

Road from HGV’s. This has caused financial cost for some residents;

 Question over how the traffic movement study has been carried out and 

how has current increase movement and future planned traffic 

movement been considered;

 Speeding of lorries along Stoke Orchard Road;

 Lorries are often found parked on the corner of Stoke Orchard Road 

reducing visibility and increasing the risk of accidents;

 Pot holes on local roads due to HGVs, causing a highway safety issue.

Handling of waste

 The legal advice submitted with the application pre-supposes that all 

waste will be bagged, yet it is suspected this will not be the case. It is 

expected that the mechanical means used to move the emptied residual 

waste into containers will result in some bagged waste being exposed 

to the air.

Hours of operation

 Application seeks for a variation of Condition 19 to permit additional 

working on Saturdays after Bank Holidays, which will mean that these 

additional negative impacts occur on every working day, six days a 

week.

General comments

 Financial impact on local families in terms of devaluing properties;

 Concern over what other types of pollutants are being discharged;

 Concern over longer term impacts;

Page 66



41

 A planning application to build more housing opposite the MRF will be 

even more profoundly affected should either planning application be 

allowed in the future;

 Disappointment and frustration towards the business operators and how 

they have handled the operation, without planning permission and at

the expense of and total disregard to the local community, and 

disregard to the planning and legal processes;

 Concern over the nature of the decision to change contract by the 

County Council without local consultation supporting this change 

without formal consent;

 Little action seems to have been taken when issues and numerous 

complaints are reported to the Environment Agency. These will only 

increase;

 Some people have moved to the area and were not made aware how 

bad the smells were, and informed that the site had a limited life and 

was due to close;

 Concern that decision makers do not know or are from the local area, 

and that a decision will be based on outdated figures;

 Residents should not have to live with this just because it's a 

convenience. Appears to residents that nothing is being done about the 

odours;

 As they do not have planning consent, Planning Enforcement should 

immediately stop this illicit operation immediately;

 Many residents may launch individual and collective actions against not 

only the proposals but the current failure to secure and properly 

regulate the omission of foul stench.

To view the representations in full click here or visit the Public Access website   

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/ 

5.6 A summary of matters raised in support are set out in the table below:

 As Cheltenham Borough Council's cabinet member for waste, recycling 

and street services I am committed to supporting initiatives which 

Page 67

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=neighbourComments&keyVal=PXLYD7HNJD200
https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/


42

improve our environment and therefore the climate emergency facing all 

of us. I am therefore writing to you as cabinet member in strong support 

of the above mentioned planning application.

To view this representation in full click here

 We write on behalf of Tewkesbury Borough Council [Head of 

Community Services] and Cheltenham Borough Council [Environmental 

Partnerships Manager] in support of the above mentioned planning 

application.

Under direction from Gloucestershire County Council, the WDA, both of 

our councils have used Grundon's Waste Management at Wingmoor 

Farm (East) Stoke Road Bishop’s Cleeve as a waste transfer site for 

household residual waste (refuse) before onward transportation to 

Javelin Park energy from waste (EfW) site for the last 2 years which is a 

separate facility from the landfill site operated nearby. Work has been 

undertaken to seek to source an alternative waste transfer station and 

there are none available with the logical geographical area.

To view this representation in full click here

 In their capacity as a “third party”, Tetra Tech were asked to produce a 

Site Options Appraisal (dated October 2021) on behalf of Tewkesbury 

Borough Council [Head of Community Services] and Cheltenham 

Borough Council [Environmental Partnerships Manager]. This document 

raised the following matters in support of the above mentioned planning 

application:

- The MRF that houses the current bulking operation is already built, is 

operating, and has planning permission to operate as a waste use.

- The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl 

by keeping land permanently open. This application would clearly not

impact on this fundamental aim.

Page 68

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_CABINET_WASTE_10AUG21.PDF
https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_COMMUNI_SERV_09AUG21.PDF


43

- Alternative sites would require the waste operator to work more 

hours and potentially employ more staff, which may not be feasible.

- The site assists with the management of waste in accordance the 

principles of the Waste Hierarchy.

- The co-location of waste facilities is encouraged by national and 

local policy.

- The site is allocated as a waste site in GCC’s GWCS and is also 

included in Zone C (preferred area for strategic waste management 

facilities).

- The current and ongoing need to manage residual waste collected 

from the Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Borough Authorities means 

that “only sites with appropriate planning and environmental 

permitting consents are suitable”.

- Three of the four alternative sites identified that are located outside 

of the Green Belt have a small building, in which it would likely not be 

possible to carry out the operations required to facilitate bulking and 

transfer.

- Any alternative site is required to be available immediately.

- The five ‘proposed sites for strategic waste facilities’ in the GWCS 

cannot be considered suitable alternative sites by virtue of three of 

the five sites (Wingmoor Farm East & West and The Park) being 

within the Green Belt.

- The bulking facility for waste collected in Cheltenham and 

Tewkesbury Borough could clearly not be located at Javelin Park or 

Moreton Valence.

- The principle of bringing waste into the site is already established 

through the extant permission.

- No suitably located facilities, with appropriate infrastructure, 

permitting and planning consents are available for the operations to 

be sited in the short term.

- If the MRF site did not exist, waste would have either to be landfilled 

or transported directly to Javelin Park.

- The opportunity to restore the site in line with the principles of the 

Green Belt would remain if this application were granted.

Page 69



44

To view this representation in full click here

6.0 CONSULTATIONS

Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC)

6.1 Date comment received: 26.08.2021

Recommendation: Objection

Comments made:

 “Thank you for inviting Tewkesbury Borough Council to comment on the above 

planning application which falls within our administrative area. The Council’s 

Planning Committee considered the application on 17 August 2021. The report 

is available on the Council’s website as item 6a on the committee agenda.

At the Planning Committee meeting, Members resolved to OBJECT to the 

application on the following grounds:

1. The original planning permission does not allow the site to be used for the 

processing of residual household waste. The committee considered that the 

site should be used for the handling of recyclables only, to minimise odour 

pollution to residential properties within vicinity of the application site.

2. The committee considered that the ongoing use of the site for the bulking 

and onward transfer of residual household waste is causing additional odour 

pollution in the local area which is to the detriment of local residents and users 

of the Cheltenham North Rugby Football Club. This is evidenced by the 

number of objections received by Gloucestershire County Council in respect of 

this application. The committee resolved that it would be irresponsible for 

Tewkesbury Borough Council not to object to the current proposal in respect of 

additional /cumulative odour pollution, particularly when taking account of the 

residential development for 215 houses on the opposite side of Stoke Road 

(ref: 18/00249/OUT) which was allowed on appeal. Future occupants of these 

properties would be unduly affected by the odour pollution arising from the use 

of the MRF as a waste transfer station.

Page 70

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_SITE_OPT_APP_18NOV21.PDF
https://publicaccess.tewkesbury.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?keyVal=P5HI2VQD0IA00&activeTab=summary


45

I trust that the contents of this letter, which should be taken as the Council’s 

formal consultation response, will be considered in the determination of the 

planning application.”

Tewkesbury Borough Council (Environmental Health Officer)

6.2 Date comment received: 19.05.2021

Recommendation: No objection

Comments made:

 Noise: “The submitted Noise Technical Note concludes that noise associated 

with the proposed changes to the operating times are not significant in noise 

terms and given the proposed changes are fairly limited I would tend to agree. 

Additionally, the operator appears to be monitoring noise levels at the nearest 

sensitive receptors with a view to ensuring any permitted noise levels are not 

exceeded and taking action if they are. Therefore, I have no objection to the 

application in terms of noise nuisance.”

 Odour: “The proposed measures to monitor, and if necessary mitigate, odour 

from the processing of potentially more odorous wastes appears acceptable. 

Therefore, I have no objection to the application in terms of odour nuisance.”

County Councillor (Alex Hegenbarth – Bishop’s Cleeve Division)

6.3 Date comment received: 14.06.2021

Recommendation: Objection

Summary of issues raised:

 Objects ‘on the grounds of disamenity’;

 “Decades of variations of conditions at Wingmoor” has resulted in 

intensification in “traffic”, “tonnages of waste” and changes in the nature of the 

waste brought to Wingmoor;

 Rewording of condition that changed the restriction on the type of imported 

waste from “general non-putrescible waste” to “general non-hazardous waste” 

without the applicant having requested the change;

 Lack of challenge by Gloucestershire County Council to legal opinion that “has 

enabled this huge change of purpose to be presented as a Section 73 instead 

of a brand new planning application.”;

Page 71



46

 MRF designed to recover dry, clean recyclables not bulking and transfer of 

“mixed residual waste” containing “soiled, contaminated items”.;

 Detrimental impact of odour upon local residents across Bishop’s Cleeve;

 Difficulty in substantiating odour complaints;

 In November 2020 the Environment Agency succeeded in substantiating that 

the MRF was the source of odour;

 Residual municipal waste more prone to odour emissions compared with those 

materials recovered at the MRF;

 Unacceptable that “no objections have been raised by key statutory 

consultees.”;

 Measures to mitigate offsite odours “simply do not work”;

 Variation of wording in condition 7 from “and ancillary to” to “or ancillary to” will 

mean that “any non-hazardous waste that is not permitted to go into landfill 

could be brought into the MRF purely for transfer purposes.” “This is a serious 

departure from the intended purpose of this building.”;

 “If this variation is granted, any future application for use of the MRF beyond 

2029 will rely on this decision as acceptance that the MRF stands alone and is 

not linked to the rest of the operations.”;

 “This variation of Condition 7 has the impact of permitting a general waste 

transfer station in the green belt, close to residential housing.”;

 “This variation to separate the MRF from the rest of the Wingmoor activities 

should be refused on the grounds of inappropriate activity in the green belt.”;

 Receiving residual municipal waste at the MRF “means a change in the nature 

of vehicles entering and leaving site.”;

 “This application increases the vehicle movements and size of vehicles on a 

daily basis, not only on the additional Saturday afternoons sought by varying 

Condition 19.”;

 “The change in nature of the vehicles to transport much larger loads than the 

refuse and recycling collection vehicles will have a huge impact on the homes 

along the approach roads.”;

 The effect of permitting additional working on Saturdays and Bank Holidays 

“will enable Grundon to carry out this new waste transfer process. That will 

mean that these additional negative impacts occur on every working day, six 

days a week.”;

Page 72



47

 “If this variation is permitted, Grundon would be able to bring in waste purely 

for transfer up to their maximum input of 50,000 tonnes per year so the 

number of much larger vehicles would also increase.”;

 The application should be refused “on the ground of potential disamenity from 

odour, increased impacts of articulated lorries and inappropriate activity in the 

green belt.”;

To view these comments in full click here

6.4 Date comment received: 11.08.2021

Recommendation: Objection

Summary of issues raised:

 Application “not submitted in a timely fashion”;

 Residents “are already experiencing significant disamenity”;

 “Disappointed that Gloucestershire County Council’s legal teams did not 

confirm the new activity as a change of use”;

 People “feel bitterly disheartened by the constant variations of planning 

conditions”;

 Historical incremental increases in traffic movements associated with the site;

 Cumulative intensification in traffic movements from multiple waste activities;

 MRF that “is accepting three times as much residual waste as dry recyclables 

is not fulfilling its intended purpose”;

 Intensification of odours from bulking and transferring 36,000 tonnes of “mixed 

residual waste so close to Bishop’s Cleeve” causing harm to Green Belt;

 “disingenuous to pretend” that the duration of the waste contract “is a 

temporary arrangement”;

 “the figures quoted show that recycling target are not being met if the MRF has 

such a huge capacity gap”;

 “negative impact of introducing a completely different waste stream at this 

location.”;

 Odour nuisance: “Unsuitable” activity “so close to major residential 

development.”;

 “The only sure way to prevent additional odours is not to bring additional 

odorous waste to the site.”;

 Suitability of residual municipal waste being deposited in close proximity to 

those people working inside the MRF;

Page 73

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_CLLR_A_HEGENARTH_14JUN21.PDF


48

 “As you are aware, planning decisions need to made on balance, considering 

benefits versus harms. The increase in vehicular movement, potential impact 

on highway safety, increased noise/odour issues on local residents and the 

impact of the increased use of the waste management site on the openness of 

the Green Belt are all considered planning harms which outweigh the 

positives. It is therefore respectfully requested that members refuse planning 

permission for this application.”;

To view these comments in full click here

6.5 Date comment received: 13.10.2021 (letter dated 12.10.2021)

Recommendation: Objection

Comments made:

 “I write in response to the additional Information provided by Grundon in 

relation to Application 19/0066/TWMAJ at Wingmoor Farm East.

Grundon Waste Management are going to great lengths to convince GCC 

planning committee that this is the best option for the location for the transfer 

station to service movement of residual household waste from the Cheltenham 

and Tewskesbury Borough Council collections to Javelin Park incinerator.

It is interesting that they have included details from the procurement proves to 

explain why they were the preferred bidder. I note that: 

To the best of GCC's knowledge, Bidder 2 does not currently treat residual 

household waste at the site that it proposed and is also believed to be located 

within the green belt.

Until this contract was awarded, Grundon did not handle household residual 

waste in the building to which this application refers and upon which the bid 

was made.  

Notwithstanding this contradiction, in all the calculations and information 

provided in this additional information there is no response at all to the most 

concerning factor for nearby residents: that of odour.  Ironically, one of the 

reasons given by Grundon for dismissing the Print Waste site is the need for 

additional controls:

Page 74

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_CLLR_COMM_11AUG21.PDF


49

The Printwaste Recycling site (Appendix A, site 13) is also on Stoke Orchard 

Road and is the second-best option in terms of kilometres travelled per tonne 

of waste however, it also lies in the Green Belt and would need to vary its 

planning permission working hours to manage the waste. 

An application would also need to consider that the amount of waste being 

handled at the facility would double with attendant need to address issues of 

odour and amenity as currently, the site only handles dry commercial waste for 

recycling.  [my emphasis]

As the Grundon site previously handled only dry commercial waste for 

recycling, exactly the same argument applies to their site!

It is unbelievable that there has been no attempt to make this application 

acceptable to the local community - and those working inside the facility - by 

introducing pro-active mitigation features such as fast acting roller shutter 

doors and mechanical air scrubbing systems. Instead, the attitude seems to be 

that people living and working near Wingmoor should simply accept that their 

environment is already polluted and any further disamenity is just to be 

accepted or dealt with after it has arisen.

We still believe that this application presents a real risk of odour and 

disamenity. Grundon clearly agree with us as shown above. Therefore, if this 

facility is deemed to be so crucial in this location, then it should be equipped 

with the highest specification systems to prevent disamenity, just as we would 

expect were it a brand-new proposal for a waste transfer station in the green 

belt. If not, it should be refused.”

Public Health – Gloucestershire County Council

6.6 Date comment received:  16.11.2021

Summary Observation:  No evidence to suggest that there are any specific health 

hazards posed by the site’s current or proposed activity.

Comments made:

 “I write in regard to the consultation on the above planning application.  We 

note that objections to the above application have been received citing 

concerns including increased odour, traffic and potential hazards to health.

Page 75



50

The Gloucestershire County Council Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities 

(public health) are aware of previous and ongoing concerns about the 

Wingmoor Farm facility.  Our team carried out a Health Impact Assessment 

(HIA) at the request of local residents in 2009 which concluded that there was 

no evidence of any detrimental impacts on health in the area surrounding the 

facility above what would be expected when the area is compared to the rest 

of the District.    

The HIA recommended that it would be good practice to review this exercise in 

future years, and so there is currently a review taking place to repeat the 

previous analysis using more up to date data.  At the community's request, the 

current analysis will include a slightly widened area surrounding the facility; the 

data from this area will be compared against that from a wider Gloucestershire 

population to understand if a difference can be determined.  

It is important to note that this kind of HIA study cannot determine whether, if 

an association is found, this is as a direct or indirect result of the Wingmoor 

Farm facility and further investigations would be needed.  In the unlikely case 

that a difference is found between the health of the residents local to 

Wingmoor Farm and the reference population, these results will be then 

explored with relevant agencies including District and County Councils, the UK 

Health Security Agency and the Environment Agency amongst other 

stakeholders.   

Previous investigations have been conducted by key partners over the last 12 

years to investigate concerns about harms from the site.  These studies have 

shown substances that may be harmful to health are present, but are under 

the thresholds at which harm may occur.   In addition, the Environment Agency 

as the regulators, are constantly reviewing data and investigating complaints 

and concerns about the site. 

When assessing the impact of health, it is advisable to consider the impact on 

the economic activity and employment opportunities in an area, as these can 

have positive impacts that would need to be balanced against any risks of, or 

perceived, harms.  At this time, we do not have evidence to suggest that there 

are any specific health hazards posed by the site's current or proposed 

Page 76



51

activity.  This is not withstanding that persistent, unpleasant smells can be very 

distressing for people.  However, whilst odours may be a nuisance to 

residents, they are rarely likely to cause significant or long-term harms to 

health.  It is clear that the community has very real concerns about the 

Wingmoor site and these need to be given due appropriate consideration by 

those involved with the sites, especially in regard to consents and planning 

issues.”

Highway Authority

6.7 Date comment received: 15.06.2021

Recommendation: No objection

Summary/extract of comments made:

 “The Highway Authority has reviewed the submitted information, and are 

satisfied that the proposed amendments to the conditions will not result in a 

significant intensification of trips to the application site. As such there would be 

no harm to the operation of the highway network or to road safety.”

 “Based on the analysis of the information submitted the Highway Authority 

concludes that there would not be an unacceptable impact on Highway Safety 

or a severe impact on congestion. There are no justifiable grounds on which 

an objection could be maintained.”

To view these comments in full click here

6.8 Date comment received: 25.08.2021

Recommendation: No objection

Summary/extract of comments made:

 “Further to the previous response from the Highway Authority, additional 

information has been submitted by the applicant in respect of this application. 

This includes revised transport evidence relating to the current operation of the 

site. There is an existing planning condition, which restricts the amount of 

waste, which can be received at this site, annually at 50,000 tonnes. This 

50,000 tonnes equates to approximately 80 daily HGV movements into the site 

(40 arrivals and 40 departures).”

 “The latest information confirms that the site is currently operating below the 

previously consented 50,000 tonnes of material. Whilst the changes in the 

Page 77

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=consulteeComments&keyVal=PXLYD7HNJD200


52

hours of operation may mean vehicles arrive at the site at different times to the 

current operation, the total vehicular impact has been assessed and accepted 

by the Highway Authority under earlier permissions. The variation in condition 

does not seek to alter the condition which restricts the annual weight of waste. 

Consequently, the proposed amendments to the condition would not result in 

an intensification of trips above the previously accepted and consented levels. 

Whilst it is understood that the nature of the vehicles may alter, with larger 

articulated vehicles utilising the site, there is no evidence that the surrounding 

road network would be harmed by this. The existing access to the site is 

considered appropriate for larger articulated vehicles and this would not pose 

an immediate risk to highway safety.

The Highway Authority has undertaken a robust assessment of the planning 

application. Based on the analysis of the information submitted the Highway 

Authority concludes that there would not be an unacceptable impact on 

Highway Safety or a severe impact on congestion. There are no justifiable 

grounds on which an objection could be maintained. The Highway Authority 

therefore submits a response of no objection.”

To view these comments in full click here

County Ecological Advisor (CEA)

6.9 Date comment received: 17.05.2021

Recommendation:  None

 “In GCC’s (WPA) EIA screening opinion it was concluded – “This proposal 

does not amend the original planning application in terms of ecology or 

biodiversity.” After inspecting the documents submitted under 

19/0066/TWMAJW I do not believe there are any notably different implications 

for ecology/biodiversity from varying conditions 7 and 19 of 

17/0066/TWMAJW.”

6.10 At the request of the CEA, they were not formally consulted on the additional 

supporting information submitted on the 4th October 2021 as the CEA concluded that 

they would have “no observations to make”.

Page 78

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=consulteeComments&keyVal=PXLYD7HNJD200


53

GCC Waste Management Unit

6.11 Date comment received: 20.05.2021

Recommendation: Support

Comments made:

 The application “allows the efficient collection of residual household waste by 

Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Borough Councils by providing a local tipping 

location for refuse collection vehicles. This helps reduce the distances 

travelled by these vehicles, reducing associated costs and vehicular 

emissions.”

 “The bulking and haulage arrangements set out within the application facilitate 

the recovery of energy from residual household waste. This has environmental 

benefits over the previous disposal method used by the county council for this 

waste; landfilling at the neighbouring Wingmoor Farm landfill site.”

 “The bulking and haulage arrangement reduces the number of HGV 

movements to the Gloucestershire Energy from Waste facility (GEfW facility). 

In addition to this, some waste deliveries from the southern areas of 

Tewkesbury borough are now made direct to the GEfW facility, reducing the 

number of refuse collection vehicle movements to Bishops Cleeve compared 

to the previous landfilling arrangements.”

Mineral & Waste Planning Policy

6.12 Date comment received: 02.06.2021

Recommendation: Comments/advice offered without a recommendation.

Summary/extracts of comments made:

 “The applicant has stated that the proposal would result in no changes to the 

existing MRF building or impacts upon the existing waste management 

activities occurring at the MRF. However, it will result in a temporary extension 

of the hours of operation for the MRF and associated vehicular movements. 

This would allow activities to occur on site on Saturday afternoons (until 

4:30pm) following bank holidays and also on the Good Friday Bank Holiday.”

 “Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (WCS) Core Policy WCS 13 - Green 

Belt is likely to be one of the most significant local planning policies concerning 

this proposal. Officers are of the initial view that the proposal is likely to be 

'inappropriate development' in the Gloucester- Cheltenham Green Belt. This 

Page 79



54

means a presumption against granting permission exists. However, 'very 

special circumstances' could also be present that would overcome this initial 

negative conclusion. Although, this will firstly require a carefully considered 

decision to be made as to the extent to which the proposal may generate any 

harm. The responses of technical experts, particularly concerning amenity 

matters (e.g. noise, dust, odour etc.) will be vital in this instance. If there is no 

harm / or the harm generated could reasonably be outweighed by the proposal 

benefits, then 'very special circumstances' can be brought into the 

consideration.”

 “Paragraph 4.227 of the WCS discusses 'very special circumstances' with 

waste development in the Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt. However, the 

applicant's support planning statement doesn't offer a particularly well-argued 

case to show a) what the 'very special circumstances' might be in this 

particular case and b) how compelling they might be individually or collectively. 

Nevertheless, a wider review of the supporting evidence does introduce 

matters that will probably be relevant. The case officer will need to carefully 

consider these. At present officers think it is worth noting the applicant's 

proposed use of the existing MRF infrastructure to achieve further 'recovery' 

from source-segregated LACW that would otherwise be sent direct to the EfW 

facility @ Javelin Park. Albeit this element is unlikely to achieve substantial 

levels of recovery due to the fact the waste stream is residual and has already 

undergone source-segregation, it still offers an opportunity to manage locally-

generated waste further up the waste hierarchy and achieve a more 

sustainable outcome.”

 “The resulting rationalisation of refuse collection vehicles travelling from 

Tewkesbury and Cheltenham Borough areas to the EfW facility @ Javelin Park 

may also be relevant and could also represent an environmental benefit / as 

well as a saving to the public purse due to the reduced vehicle miles being 

travelled. Officers are of the view that it could be helpful to acquire specific 

clarification of this point from the applicant to assess how significant a benefit it 

might prove to be?”

 In summary, “if the evidence shows an absence of potential harm and the 

presence of 'very special circumstances' the initial concern over Core Policy 

WCS 13 could be overcome.”

 “For a complete policy review, the case officer is also reminded of the 

requirements that are associated with Core Policy WCS10 - Cumulative 

Page 80



55

Impact; Core Policy WCS 18 - Bulking and Transfer; and Gloucestershire 

Waste Local Plan 'saved ' policies 37 - Proximity to Other Land Uses; and 38 - 

Hours of Operation.”

To view these comments in full click here

6.13 Date comment received: 18.08.2021

Recommendation: Comments/advice offered without a recommendation.

Summary/extracts of comments made:

 “The opinion expressed by officers in June 2021 remains unchanged in that 

the proposal looks to represent 'inappropriate development' within the 

Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt.”

 “It is important to note that by virtue of the proposal being considered as 

'inappropriate development' there will always be an inescapable degree of 

harm to the Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt.”

 “If the applicant's claim is accepted - that the proposal would not generate 

highway impacts that exceed those already permitted at the application site - 

this circumstance should be recognised as materially significant.”

 “The case officer should seek the specialist advice of the local Environmental 

Health officer (EHO) to determine whether the increase risk of adverse 

amenity impacts caused by odour is likely to be significant and / or whether the 

proposed mitigation will be satisfactory.”

 “In the event that the degree of harm likely to be generated by the proposal is 

deemed to be at a low enough level that 'other considerations' could 

reasonably outweigh it, then the case officer's attention should turn to any of 

the identified 'other considerations' (e.g. benefits of the proposal). In the 

previous comments made by M&W policy officers, it was advised that the 

potential use of existing MRF infrastructure should be recognised as a possible 

benefit (an outweighing 'other consideration') due to the opportunity it creates 

to achieve further 'recovery' from the residual element of source-segregated 

LACW. In addition, the benefit (a further outweighing 'other consideration') to 

the wider efficient and effective management of refuse vehicles associated 

with the duties of the waste collection authorities (WCAs) of Cheltenham 

Borough and Tewkesbury Borough should also be taken into account. 

Furthermore, M&W officers are also aware of the supporting joint submission 

made by the Head of Community Services at Tewkesbury Borough Council 

Page 81

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=consulteeComments&keyVal=PXLYD7HNJD200&consulteeCommentsPager.page=2


56

and the Environmental Partnerships Manager at Cheltenham Borough Council, 

dated 9th August 2021. The case officer is advised that the further suggested 

benefits contained in the joint submission appear reasonable as 'other 

considerations' that might outweigh the harm associated with the proposed 

'inappropriate development' within the Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt.”

To view these comments in full click here

6.14 Date comment received:  01.11.2021

Recommendation: Comments/advice offered without a recommendation.

Comments made:

 “This correspondence supplements previous comments made back in June 

2021 and August 2021 and relates specifically to additional information and 

received from the applicant in early October 2021.

The additional information submitted is centred on providing evidence to show 

that sufficient 'very special circumstances' will exist with the application to 

outweigh the harm caused to the Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt from 

allowing 'inappropriate development'.

For clarification, previous comments from officers were very clear that the 

application is considered to be 'inappropriate development' within the 

Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt.

The additional information includes a site assessment that compares the 

application site with fifteen other possible site options that have been selected 

using a set of qualifying criteria explained by the applicant. In very broad 

terms, the assessment represents a not unreasonable approach to 

demonstrating the comparative merits of the application site and as such 

officers consider its headline conclusion should be afforded some weight in 

deciding whether sufficient 'very special circumstances' exist.

The additional information also discusses the assessment outcome that led to 

GCC awarding the time-limited contract to bulk and transfer residual waste 

municipal waste. Officers acknowledge this submitted evidence and also 

consider that some weight should be afforded to the contract conclusion (i.e. 

the decision to award the contract to Grundon using the facilities @ Wingmoor 

Page 82

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=consulteeComments&keyVal=PXLYD7HNJD200


57

Farm East) when determining whether sufficient 'very special circumstances' 

exist.

In addition, officers recommend that appropriate consideration should be given 

to the temporary time-limited nature of the application. It is the view of officers 

that this circumstance will have a dampening effect upon the significance of 

the likely harm caused by allowing this 'inappropriate development' within the 

Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt.”

To view these comments in full click here

Bishop’s Cleeve Parish Council

6.15 Date comment received: 03.06.2021

Recommendation: Objection

Summary/extracts of issues raised:

 Potential cross contamination of “clean waste”.

 “Altering AND to OR makes a fundamental change to the planning permission 

as it removes the MRF building's need to be aligned to the current approved 

use. This would make this a "stand alone" facility after the cessation of the 

temporary 3-year contract with GCC.”

 “…..allowing this change now will permit the site to be utilised as a WTS (to 

anywhere) until 2029 which is not what the permission was granted for - the 

building was to be used solely in association with and ancillary to the Waste 

Management Facility, thus resulting in more waste being brought to the MRF 

merely to be transferred to another vehicle for onward transmission. As such 

this will result in disamenity to local residents as the residual waste being dealt 

with at this site will, by its nature of being residual waste, be more odorous, as 

stated in the applicant's summary.”

 Odour complaints from residents along Stoke Road will “escalate as the site 

reaches capacity.”

 “Vehicle movements may not be above the numbers stated on the extant 

planning permission but due to the change in the nature of the activity the size 

of some of the vehicles accessing the site and consequentially travelling along 

roads with residential properties adjacent will increase (articulated vehicles 

from MRF to Javelin Park).”

Page 83

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=consulteeComments&keyVal=PXLYD7HNJD200&consulteeCommentsPager.page=2


58

 Concern that, if permitted, the MRF would be classed as a “standalone facility 

(and not in association with and ancillary to the waste disposal site) and the 

use could be permitted for a longer duration (i.e. beyond 2029).”

 “The Council does not consider that the consequential change of a MRF to a 

WTS is an appropriate use of land in the Green Belt.”

 On the issue of the variation of condition 19, the parish council are of the 

opinion that “additional time usage of the site will create more noise nuisance 

to residents of the surrounding area at the time in the week when they should 

be able to enjoy their surroundings - the increase in large articulated vehicles 

to facilitate the transfer of the waste from the MRF to Javelin Park are not 

suitable in increased numbers along the local accessing roads.”

To view these comments in full click here

Gotherington Parish Council

6.16 Date comment received: 06.08.2021

Recommendation: Objection

Summary/extracts of issues raised:

 The parish council objects, “to any increased capacity in the Grundons waste 

site due to the fact that it should be winding down its operation with the bulk of 

waste now going to Javelin Park.”

 The parish council “support all the environmental objections from the public.”

 The parish council state that their concerns are not just about “inconvenient 

odour”, it is about “air quality in general”.

 “GCC [Gloucestershire County Council] should show more concern for public 

health and monitor air quality in the villages, not just accept Grundon's own 

assessment of emissions from their site.”

 The parish council objects on the grounds of health concerns from “waste 

emissions and traffic pollution.”

To view these comments in full click here

Woodmancote Parish Council

6.17 Date comment received: 05.06.2021

Page 84

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=consulteeComments&keyVal=PXLYD7HNJD200
https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=consulteeComments&keyVal=PXLYD7HNJD200


59

Recommendation: Objection

Summary/extracts of issues raised:

 Proposal “is contrary to the primary purpose of the original planning 

permission i.e. as a materials recovery facility.”

 “The use of the site as a transfer station is wholly different from a material 

recovery station.”

 “GCCs earlier failure in awarding the contract to an unsuitable facility does not 

afford the applicant any special treatment.”

 “The application should be a new application for a change of use. A full 

environmental impact assessment and traffic report is therefore required.”

 No “evidence of the necessary measuring equipment in the area monitoring 

the impact on ecology and air quality and disamenity.”

 Odour complaints from local residents “are not being dealt with”.

 “To move rubbish from Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve and then back to 

Javelin Park is contrary to all the policies of TBC to reduce the carbon footprint 

and combat climate change.”

 Application should be refused “as it is not a land use that is acceptable on 

Green Belt land.”

To view these comments in full click here

Stoke Orchard & Tredington Parish Council

6.18 Date comment received: 26.05.2021

Recommendation: Objection

Summary/extracts of issues raised:

 Grounds for objection include: “environmental disturbance”; “odour to nearby 

properties”; “unacceptable increase in traffic”; “potential danger to the public 

from putrescible waste being transferred in uncontrolled 

conditions/environment.”

 “During the floods of 2007, large amounts of waste from the Grundons site 

was washed downstream into the village of Stoke Orchard and a whole row of 

houses was inundated, some to a level exceeding 4ft in depth with flood water 

contaminated with waste from this site.”

 “…..expansion of potentially hazardous material without specialist buildings 

with air entrapment doors, and Safety Controls is totally unacceptable.”

Page 85

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=consulteeComments&keyVal=PXLYD7HNJD200


60

 The parish council is of the opinion that the Waste Planning Authority “sets out 

the background facts and some of the implications correctly and then reaches 

the wrong conclusions. In the Inspector's Report on the land north of Stoke 

Road it leans on what we know to be a broken reed, "proposed development 

would not be exposed to an unacceptable risk from pollution, in particular air 

quality issues arising from the nearby IWMF.””

 Whilst the increase in HGV movements “may be within the initial limits set for 

the site”, the parish council states that “the argument takes no account, as it 

should, of the incremental impact on HGV traffic through the Parish.” 

 Wingmoor Farm East and West “are the constant subject of complaints from 

local residents of odour and flies.”

 Not having identified the site or planning application reference number, the 

parish council state that an “application has had already contaminated water 

courses, proved an odour problem to local commercial property, and failed its 

conditions.”

 The parish council “urges the County Council to find a way in which this 

approval of dangerous and unacceptable processes be adequately controlled.”

 “This Application which purports to be merely an extension of the original 

conditions but including longer hours is once more a totally different 

application with a different agenda. Stoke Orchard and Tredington Parish 

Council condemn this Application and Object most strongly.”

To view these comments in full click here

6.19 Date comment received: 22.10.2021

Recommendation: Objection

Comments made:

 “The members of Stoke Orchard and Tredington Parish Council have 

considered the additional information relating to the above consultation and 

agree the unacceptability of what it believes to be (despite the oblique 

reference in the letter of clarification) a change of use.  There is no reference 

to a decision that planning consent is not required.  Cllr. Hegenbarth's 

comment concerning the fact that the contract had been let when the matter of 

change of use, (hence the convenience of the "determination") makes a salient 

point.

Page 86

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=consulteeComments&keyVal=PXLYD7HNJD200


61

Moreover the statement that vehicles do not use the village has not substantial 

proof, members of the Parish Council do see many Grundon vehicles going 

through the village and do not inspect (m)any of them.  The letter does not 

deal at all with the nuisance occasioned by the use to nearby (and new) 

properties to which the applicant objected on the grounds that it would be a 

nuisance.

Stoke Orchard and Tredington Parish Council therefore see no reason to 

modify its original objections.”

Environment Agency (Lower Severn)

6.20 Date comment received: 10.06.2021

Recommendation: No objection

Summary/extracts of comments made in relation to the EA’s regulation of the site 

under the Environmental Permitting Regulations (EPR):

 “Any waste management facility has the potential to cause odour. We note the 

proposed variation of conditions relates to the Materials Recycling Facility 

(MRF). It is effectively to enable the bulking and transfer of residual waste 

within the existing MRF on a temporary (3-year) basis. In accordance with the 

EPR, the MRF has an environmental permit (EAWML 48023) that covers the 

activities described.”

 “Below is a summary of regulatory history in 2020 and 2021 with regard to off-

site odour to assist with understating of local impacts: 

Environment Agency staff have been completing odour assessments due to 

increased complaints about landfill odours in the locality. On a visit on 18 

November 2020 an odour was detected that was associated with the MRF. 

During this assessment waste odour was detected within the local housing 

estate (level 2/6) and within the car park of the MRF (level 3/6). The odour 

within the car park was at a level which could have caused pollution off site.

The operator was not scored for a breach of the odour permit for condition due 

to the odour strength off site being low. The likely source of odour was 

considered to be waste which was stored prior to transfer off site to 

Page 87



62

incineration. The operator was asked to review the working plan ensuring the 

issues we detailed in our Compliance Report were addressed and odour 

management techniques appropriate and adequately described. The operator 

was set a deadline to submit a revised working plan by 31 December 2020. A 

revised working plan was provided on the 31 December 2020 and it was 

agreed that the document addressed our comments.

No issues with odour off site have been identified by Environment Agency 

officers in 2020, other than on the 18 November 2020, nor since this date with 

regards to this facility. 

For context, we categorise odour on a scale of 0 to 6, using the definition 

below: 

0 - No odour 

1 - Very faint odour (need to inhale into the wind to smell anything) 

2 - Faint odour (you can detect an odour when you inhale normally) 

3 - Distinct odour (there is clearly an odour in the air as you leave your car or 

enter the area) 

4 - Strong odour (a bearable odour but strong, you could stay in the area for 

some time) 

5 - Very strong odour (unpleasantly strong, you will want to leave the area 

quickly) 

6 - Extremely strong odour (likely to cause nausea and a strong need to 

remove yourself from the odour immediately)”

To view these comments in full click here

6.21 Date comment received: 13.10.2021

Recommendation:  No further comments to add.

Comments made: 

 “Thank you for the consultation on the additional information for this 

application. We have reviewed the documents and we have no further 

comments to add to our previous response (our letter dated 10 June 2021, our 

ref SV/2021/110980/01-L01).”

Page 88

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=consulteeComments&keyVal=PXLYD7HNJD200&consulteeCommentsPager.page=2


63

7.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 To regularise the bulking and transfer of residual municipal waste within the existing 

materials recycling building at Wingmoor Farm East, the applicant has submitted an 

application that seeks to vary planning condition 7 (buildings, plant and machinery) 

and 19 (hours of operation) of previously consented application 17/0066/TWMAJW 

dated 19/10/2017. Although a planning authority's powers under s.73 are more limited 

than when dealing with an ordinary application for permission, it is nonetheless right 

to consider relevant planning considerations and policies as at the date of 

its s.73 determination, especially in light of the points made by consultees and third 

parties during the course of the application. Material considerations include the 

practical consequences of amending the conditions.

7.2 The WPA considers the main material planning issues to be as follows:  

 Need and Duration

 Format of Application

 Alternative Sites

 Impact on the Green Belt

 Amenity Impacts (including dust, odour, and air quality)

 Traffic & Highway Safety

 Noise

 Light and Vibration

 Vermin, Flies & Birds

 Litter

 Protecting Groundwater

Need and Duration

7.3 The need for the development to which this variation application relates stems from 

the WDA (GCC) seeking the efficient collection of residual household waste 

generated within the districts of Cheltenham and Tewkesbury. Figure 1 shows that 

between 01 May 2020 and 30 April 2021, 46,554 tonnes of waste was received into 

the MRF at WFE. This figure is comprised of 10,151 tonnes of commercial and 

industrial waste materials that are both mechanically and manually sorted, bulked and 

transported off site for further use or treatment, and 36,403 tonnes of residual 

Page 89

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_FIGURE_1_MRF.PDF


64

household waste that is bulked and transferred to the EfW facility at Javelin Park. The 

efficiency of that waste collection service is determined by the length and number of 

RCV/HGV movements and the savings they bring about in terms of time and cost.

7.4 The procurement of services for ‘Transfer of Residual Waste’ was awarded to 

Grundon following a procurement process carried out pursuant to Regulation 86 of 

The Public Contracts Regulations 2015. The success of Grundon’s tender for this 

waste contract was confirmed in a letter from GCC dated 13th December 2018.

7.5 Details of the scores obtained by Grundon Waste Management Ltd against the 

published award criteria can be found in Appendix D (received 04.10.2021).

7.6 Having reviewed the submitted financial data, transport figures and the need 

argument presented by supportive stakeholders for the provision of a centralised 

bulking and transfer facility to serve the Tewkesbury and Cheltenham area, the WPA 

concurs that the need for such provision is an efficient, responsible and sustainable 

use of limited resources. Based upon the available evidence, the WPA accepts the 

view that direct deliveries of residual municipal waste from the Tewkesbury and 

Cheltenham Borough Council areas to the EfW plant at Javelin Park is not logistically 

currently viable and that the need for a centralised bulking and transfer facility is 

required to serve the waste management objectives of the WDA. Therefore, on the 

issue of need, the WPA is satisfied that this has been adequately demonstrated.

7.7 The proposed alteration to the wording of condition 7 from “…….shall be used solely 

in association with and ancillary to the operation of the Waste Management Facility” 

to “………shall be used solely in association with or ancillary to the operation of the 

Waste Management Facility”, is considered by the WPA to be required because the 

work carried out pursuant to the Javelin Park contract is not considered to be ancillary 

to the operation of the waste management facility at WFE.

7.8 The WPA notes in Appendix D (submitted 4th October 2021) that the contract 

awarded to Grundon is for a “6 year bulking and transfer contract for residual waste, 

with the contract having an initial term of 3 years with an option to extend for a further 

3 years.” In their email dated 20th May 2021 the Head of Waste Management at GCC 

wrote to the WPA confirming that the initial term of three years expires on the 5th July 

2022. 

Page 90

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_APPD_GCC_PROC.PDF


65

7.9 GCC’s contract for bulking and transferring residual waste from the MRF at WFE 

commenced on the 5th July 2019. The application to which this report relates was 

submitted on the 18th December 2019. In their email dated 11th October 2021 the 

applicant confirmed that they are seeking to vary conditions 7 and 19 “for the duration 

of the GCC contract awarded to Grundon”, which will expire on the 5th July 2022.

7.10 Within their reply letter dated 18th October 2021, Grundon confirmed the following:

“The waste contract is for an initial term of 3 years with an option to extend for a 

further 3 years. The residual waste bulking and transfer operation has commenced in 

July 2019, while the planning application was submitted retrospectively in December 

2019. Although, it has been informally stated that the Council would be eager to 

extend the contract with Grundon, the initial term ends in July 2022. As such, 

Grundon would like to confirm that the planning application, ref. no 

19/0066/TWMAJW, as currently being considered by the planning system, is for a 

temporary period with the expiry date of the variations sought by this application to be 

until 5th July 2022.”

7.11 Within the Site Options Appraisal (October 2021) submitted on behalf of Tewkesbury 

Borough Council and Cheltenham Borough Council, the WPA notes in para.3.1.1 the 

acknowledgement by Tetra Tech, the authors of the document, that “the transfer and 

bulking of waste prior to transportation to Javelin Park is likely to be required past the 

point of the three-year contract period (see paragraph 1.2.10) and beyond the period 

of the site’s current planning consent.” This identifiable long-term need of a bulking 

and transfer facility for the residual municipal waste arising in the Boroughs of 

Tewkesbury and Cheltenham is one of the principal concerns from objectors who 

perceive the temporary arrangement sought by this application as setting a precedent 

for any future applications of this type at this MRF site. The WPA is also mindful that 

planning applications need to be considered on their merits and that what the 

decision maker is considering is a temporary proposal from July 2019 – July 2022.

Format of Application

7.12 The original permission 09/0028/TWMAJW described the development as follows:  

“Continuation of mineral extraction and restoration through the importation of wastes 

at Wingmoor Farm Integrated Waste Management Facility (East), Stoke Orchard 

Page 91



66

Road, Bishops Cleeve. Extraction of sand, gravel and clay; restoration of land to the 

profile approved in 1996 (planning permission reference: 95/8446/1099), through the 

importation of non-hazardous and hazardous wastes; operation of the waste 

treatment plant; operation of a Materials Recovery Facility; parking of collection 

vehicles; use of the landfill gas control system and associated landfill gas engines; 

use of ancillary infrastructure, such as leachate treatment plant, weighbridges, sand 

and gravel processing plant, vehicle servicing facilities, offices and mess facilities 

required for the operation and restoration of the site.”

7.13 A subsequent s.73 application (17/0066/TWMAJW) was granted which changed the 

hours of operation, but did not alter the operational description of development. It is 

the wording of conditions 7 and 19 of this section 73 application 17/0066/TWMAJW 

that the applicant is seeking to alter through application 19/0066/TWMAJW. 

7.14 Questions have been raised as to whether this application should have been one for 

full planning permission. Under s.73, any new condition must be one which the WPA 

could lawfully have imposed on the original grant of planning permission. The 

description of the development under the original permission does not require the 

MRF to be ancillary, which is why that restriction on its use had to be imposed by way 

of condition. So the variation sought to condition 7 complies with that principle. In 

other words, the WPA consider this application for the variation of conditions 7 and 19 

is one which can properly be made under s.73.

Alternative Sites

7.15 Whilst there is no wording of any relevant development plan policy requiring the

applicant to demonstrate that there is a lack of alternative sites, paragraph 4.227 of 

the supporting text for policy WCS13 (Green Belt) states that “the matters which may 

indicate that very special circumstances could exist in relation to waste related 

proposals might include the lack of suitable and available non - Green Belt sites. In 

particular, a proposal would need to indicate a particular identified need for the facility 

to be located where it is proposed such as proximity to the main waste arisings, or a 

relationship to an existing waste management facility.”

7.16 A letter from the Head of Community Services at Tewkesbury Borough Council dated 

09.08.2021 confirms that Grundon’s IWMF at WFE has been used as a “waste 

Page 92



67

transfer site for household residual waste (refuse) before onward transportation to 

Javelin Park energy from waste (EfW) site for the last 2 years”, and that “work has 

been undertaken to seek to source an alternative waste transfer station and there are 

none available with the logical geographical area.”

7.17 Whilst the submission of an Alternative Sites Assessment is not directly sought as 

part of any relevant policy within the Development Plan, the demonstration of a lack 

of suitable alternative sites could form part of the reasoned argument in justifying that 

very special circumstances exist for inappropriate development within the Green Belt. 

The assessment of this proposal against Green Belt Policy is considered in the next 

sub section paragraphs 7.33-7.57. 

7.18 Within their letter of support dated 9th August 2021, Tewkesbury Borough Council’s 

Head of Community Services and Cheltenham Borough Council’s Environmental 

Partnership Manager set out the following reasoned justification for approving the 

bulking and transfer of residual municipal waste in the MRF building at WFE:

 “No alternative local waste transfer station available”;

 In the absence of a logistically suitable alternative site, both TBC and CBC 

would “be required to direct deliver all of its residual household waste” to 

Javelin Park;

 Direct delivery to Javelin Park would “result in a significant increase in the 

number of refuse vehicles driving on the road network to Javelin Park, a 

greater amount of emissions and mileage driven with the associated negative 

environmental impact, something both local authorities have tried to reduce 

and avoid in their support of the climate emergency.”

The impact that direct delivery to Javelin Park would have upon the number of 

vehicle movements and increased CO2 emissions are set out below:

“Tewkesbury Borough Council is currently responsible for 1,052 vehicle 

movements to Javelin Park (direct delivery) per year plus approximately 364 

vehicular movements from Grundon’s local waste transfer site to Javelin Park 

via bulk haulage vehicles per year for the remaining waste not direct delivered 

to Javelin Park, resulting in a total of approximately 1,416 vehicular 

movements per year to Javelin Park.

Page 93

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_COMMUNI_SERV_09AUG21.PDF


68

The number of vehicular movements to Javelin Park, if local waste transfer at 

Grundons was unavailable, would increase from approximately 1,416 to at 

least 4,432 vehicular movements per year.

In mileage terms, this equates to a change from approximately 33,186 miles 

per year to Grundons to approximately 126,245 miles per year to Javelin Park, 

an increase of approximately 93,059 miles per year. This will mean that there 

is an increase of 113 tonnes of CO2 being released into the environment 

based on the calculated mileage Cheltenham Borough Council is currently 

responsible for approximately 1,116 vehicle movements to Javelin Park per 

year for all household residual waste via bulk haulage vehicles from Grundons’

waste transfer site.

The number of vehicular movements to Javelin Park, were Cheltenham unable 

deliver to Grundons’ waste transfer site locally and had to direct deliver, would 

increase from approximately 1,116 to approximately 5,730 per year, an 

increase of approximately 4,614 vehicular movements per year.

In mileage terms, this equates to a change from approximately 22,920 miles 

per year to Grundons to approximately 154,710 miles per year to Javelin Park, 

an increase of approximately 131,790 miles per year. This will mean that there 

is an increase of 160 tonnes of CO2 being released into the environment 

(based on the calculated mileage).

For both authorities, there would be an increase of approximately 9,043 

vehicular movements per year to Javelin Park if the Grundons’ local waste 

transfer site was unavailable.”

 Direct delivery from TBC and CBC would “go against the Highways Agency 

recommendation” for residual waste being bulk transferred to Javelin Park.

 Current bulk hauling from Grundon’s MRF site to the EfW at Javelin Park 

equates to 1,052 trips. In the event that TBC and CBC are required to direct 

deliver to the EfW at Javelin Park it would lead to 10,162 trips, resulting in “a 

total increase of 273 tonnes of CO2 being released into the environment.”

Page 94



69

7.19 To further evidence their earlier comment that there is “no alternative local waste 

transfer station available”, TBC’s Head of Community Services and CBC’s 

Environmental Partnership Manager engaged the services of Tetra Tech to produce a 

“third party” Site Options Appraisal, which was received by the WPA on the 18th 

November 2021.

7.20 The purpose of the Site Options Appraisal (SOA) document is “to assess whether the 

‘very special circumstances’ exist” and “whether there is precedent for development 

of this nature to be allowed”. The SOA sought to “expand on the work completed by 

Grundon”, including the analysis of other factors in assessing ‘very special 

circumstances’, in addition to alternative sites. 

7.21 Having reviewed the SOA, the WPA considers Tetra Tech’s approach to be valid, 

reasonable and adequate. A copy of the matters reviewed as part of their assessment 

is set out below:

a. review of alternative waste sites within three 10km radius searches from 

Cheltenham Town Centre, Tewkesbury Town Centre and a point in between. 

Grundon’s search area covered a 20 mile radius from WFE;

b. use of sieving process based on the physical capacity of sites’, distance and

travel time to both the bulking facility and Javelin Park, and kilometres travelled 

per tonne of waste;

c. search for sites that have an existing environmental permit and removal of the 

three environmental permits related to Grundon’s operation at WFE, which 

cannot be considered as alternative sites;

d. search through the Environment Agency’s Permit Register website (Public 

registers (data.gov.uk));

e. site searches conducted by local property agents;

f. site searches of websites for Novaloca and the Estates Gazette. [Separate 

searches were run on both websites so that industrial sites with buildings a 

minimum footprint of 1,500m2 plus and open land with a minimum area of 

15,000m2 (1.5ha) were identified. Sites for sale and for rent were searched for 

and all sites were searched within a 20-mile radius of Cheltenham];

g. removal of those sites that are at least 10km away from Tewkesbury, and not 

in the direction of Cheltenham;

h. sites would need to have a building (area of around 0.2ha) and have a 

processing capacity of around 30,000tpa of residual waste; and 

Page 95



70

i. any alternative site is required to be available immediately.

7.22 The five ‘proposed sites for strategic waste facilities’ in the GWCS cannot be 

considered suitable alternative sites to the application site as three of the five sites 

(Wingmoor Farm East & West and The Park) are within the Green Belt. By virtue of 

their proximity to Javelin Park, the other two strategic waste facilities (Javelin Park 

and Moreton Valence) would not serve the purposes of the alternative facility.

7.23 In para.4.0.5 of the SOA it states that: “After the sieving process six waste transfer 

sites remained, as shown in Table 3, which can all accept household waste.” Three of 

the four identified sites that are located outside of the Green Belt have a small 

building, in which it would likely not be possible to carry out the type of required waste 

operation.

7.24 Of the remaining short-listed sites to come out of the sieving process, para.4.0.7 

states: “The building at Cowfield Mill Transfer Station is approximately 2,000m2, 

approximately half of the size of Grundon’s transfer station building at Wingmoor 

Farm East. Whilst it might be possible for the operations to be carried out in a building 

of this size, the current planning permission restricts the capacity to 24,999tpa 

(Condition 12). The site would need to manage around 30,000 tpa. Therefore, a 

variation of condition application (s.73) would be required to carry out the operations 

at this site. A planning application (00/000/71/COUNTY) has previously been started 

to vary condition 12 of the planning permission (T.99/3401/0032/FUL) at Cowfield 

Mill. The application was not proceeded with.”

7.25 In respect of Cowfield Mill, Table 4 of the SOA shows that the waste would have to be 

“transported proportionately a much further distance than if the operations were to 

remain at Wingmoor Farm East.”

7.26 Using the criterion set out in para.7.21(f) of this report, para.5.2.4 of the SOA states 

that: “51 sites were identified in total, both from the searches and from the estate 

agent enquiries (after removing duplicates [some sites were marketed by more than 

one agent]). As with the analysis of sites with Environmental Permits, the sites were 

first sieved out that were clearly in an unsuitable location. 34 sites were sieved out at 

this stage as they were not in the periphery of Tewkesbury Town or Cheltenham 

Town or in the area in between.”

Page 96



71

7.27 Having sieved and excluded those sites that were too small and either being 

marketed at ‘lighter uses’, such as IT and technology companies or sites containing 

no current built development that are located within the Green Belt were removed 

from the list of potential alternative sites.

7.28 In para.5.2.6 of the SOA it states that Tetra Tech’s analysis of the seven remaining 

sites “included a review of more detailed information such as its recent planning 

history and having limited external space.” Due to the commercial sensitivities of the 

data arising from this exercise, Tetra Tech provided the findings from the site search 

“to organisations of the waste management contract.” Although redacted within the 

online version of the SOA, the WPA has seen and reviewed the findings from the 

online site search and has no cause to dispute Tetra Tech’s conclusions that the sites 

in question would be inappropriate as waste facilities by virtue of a variety of physical 

and locational constraints that could not realistically be overcome within the 

immediate or short term. Any subsequent planning application that sought to extend 

the bulking and transfer of residual municipal waste beyond July 2022 would need to 

explore the availability and feasibility of such potential alternative sites in more detail 

in order to ascertain whether they could be brought forward in the medium to long 

term.

7.29 Whilst objectors have raised the point that the bulking and transfer of residual 

municipal waste could potentially be carried out elsewhere in the locality in a more 

isolated rural setting away from populated built up areas, this appears to be a point 

made generally as no evidence has been submitted to the WPA that supports the 

feasibility/viability of an alternative site.

7.30 Having reviewed the submitted supporting information and had regard for the 

logistical factors presented by Tewkesbury Borough Council (Head of Community 

Services) and Cheltenham Borough Council (Environmental Partnerships Manager) 

in their joint statement dated 9th August 2021, the WPA is satisfied that there is 

currently no suitable alternative site in the locality that can meet the immediate or 

short term need for a bulking and transfer facility for residual municipal waste.

7.31 Core Policy WCS18 provides a criteria-based approach for bringing forward new 

bulking and transfer facilities in appropriate locations across the county. The policy 

states, amongst other matters, that “in order to promote greater efficiency and to 

reduce the potential impact of transporting waste by road, particularly on the Strategic 

Page 97



72

Road Network (SRN) the Council will support in principle, proposals relating to the 

development of new and expanded bulking and transfer facilities.”

7.32 In the absence of an alternative site that could meet the immediate need and 

requirements of the municipal waste contract, and having regard for the supporting 

evidence provided by Tewkesbury Borough Council (Head of Community Services) 

and Cheltenham Borough Council (Environmental Partnerships Manager), the WPA 

is of the opinion that the MRF site at WFE offers the “greater efficiency” and meets 

the criteria set out in Policy WCS18. 

Impact on the Green Belt

7.33 The application site is located in the Green Belt. NPPF (2021) para.147 informs us 

that “inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should 

not be approved except in very special circumstances.” It advises that when 

considering any planning application, local planning authorities should ensure that 

substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special 

circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of 

inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.

7.34 Within the Green Belt, most development will be regarded as inappropriate 

development with the exception of those set out in paragraph 149 (in respect of new 

buildings) and other forms of development as set out in paragraph 150 of the NPPF 

(2021).

7.35 The development to which this retrospective s.73 application relates does not include 

“the construction of new buildings”, therefore, the exceptions set out in paragraph 149 

of the NPPF (2021) are not relevant in the consideration of this application.

7.36 Provided those “other forms of development” preserve the openness of the Green 

Belt and “do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it”, the following 

“other forms of development” are not inappropriate:

a) mineral extraction;

b) engineering operations;

c) local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a Green 

Belt location;

Page 98



73

d) the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent

and substantial construction;

e) material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor sport

or recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds); and

f) development, including buildings, brought forward under a Community Right

to Build Order or Neighbourhood Development Order.

7.37 Core Policy WCS13 (Green Belt) of the adopted GWCS (2012) is of particular 

relevance. Policy WCS13 states: -

“‘There will be a presumption against proposals for waste management that amounts 

to inappropriate development within the Gloucester – Cheltenham Green Belt except 

where it can be demonstrated that there are ‘very special circumstances…”

7.38 Paragraph 4.227 of the GWCS provides guidance on the content and considerations 

for assessing whether ‘very special circumstances’ exist: - 

“The matters which may indicate that very special circumstances could exist in 

relation to waste related proposals might include the lack of suitable and available 

non - Green Belt sites. In particular a proposal would need to indicate a particular 

identified need for the facility to be located where it is proposed such as proximity to 

the main waste arisings, or a relationship to an existing waste management facility. 

However, the proposal would need to demonstrate that it did not conflict with the 

purposes of Green Belt designation and the positive contribution that can be made by 

the development to the use of land in the Green Belt.”

7.39 At para.4.277 of the supporting text for Core Policy WCS18 (Bulking and Transfer) of 

the GWCS, it states that the “Waste Data Paper suggests that we already have 

adequate transfer capacity”, but that there “are a number of reasons why new or 

expanded facilities or a different spatial arrangement might be required in the future.” 

The example given for such circumstances “include changes in local authority 

contracts, different collection arrangements (for example arising from the 

implementation of the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS)) and 

commercial changes.”

7.40 In light of the significant weight that can be given to the lack of suitable and available 

non-Green Belt sites when assessing whether ‘very special circumstances’ exist, the 

Page 99



74

WPA considers the development to which this application relates to be in accordance 

with Policy WCS13 (Green Belt) of the GWCS.

7.41 The bulking and transfer of residual municipal waste does not fall within any of the 

exceptions listed above.  Therefore, the development to which this retrospective 

application relates is considered by the WPA to be ‘inappropriate development’ in the 

Green Belt. This view is supported by GCC’s Minerals and Waste Policy Officer who 

states in their consultation response (dated 17th Aug 2021) that “the opinion 

expressed by officers in June 2021 remains unchanged in that the proposal looks to 

represent ‘inappropriate development’ within the Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt.”

7.42 In ‘Identifying suitable sites and areas’, policy 6 in the NPPW states that “Green Belts 

have special protection in respect to development. In preparing Local Plans, waste 

planning authorities, including by working collaboratively with other planning 

authorities, should first look for suitable sites and areas outside the Green Belt for 

waste management facilities that, if located in the Green Belt, would be inappropriate 

development. Local planning authorities should recognise the particular locational 

needs of some types of waste management facilities when preparing their Local 

Plan.” Whilst this policy is referring to the preparation of Local Plans rather than the 

determination of applications, the WPA is mindful that the NPPW considers waste 

management facilities in the Green Belt to be inappropriate development.

7.43 Inappropriate development in the Green Belt needs to be able to demonstrate ‘very 

special circumstances’ and be in accordance with part 13 (Protecting Green Belt 

land) of the NPPF (2021), along with development plan policy WCS13 (Green Belt) of 

the GWCS (2012) and policy SD5 of the JCS.

7.44 Having informed the applicant on the 17th Sept 2021 that the WPA were of the 

opinion that ‘very special circumstances’ had not been adequately demonstrated, the 

applicant responded with the submission of the following further supporting 

information:

 Letter from Grundon dated 4th October 2021;

 Appendix A - Table 1_List of EA permitted facilities;

 Appendix B – Map - Alternative sites Appendix C;

 Appendix C - Award Letter;

 Appendix D - Further info on GCC procurement;

Page 100



75

 Figure 3rev_Net gain or less around Bishops Cleeve - Impact on Green Belt.

7.45 Previously consented application 05/0065/TWFUL (T/05/4037/1317/FUL) was for “the 

erection of a Materials Recovery Facility (MRF), including replacement ancillary 

vehicle servicing and offices, replacement weighbridge facilities including control 

cabin, inert waste classification storage and transfer shed and storage of baled 

recovered materials.”  Within para.2.34 (Policy 35: Green Belt) of the Agenda report 

for that application it states that “noting the lack of suitable alternatives, the proximity 

advantages, the identification of the site by the WLP and the European Directive 

requirement to pre-treat waste, the applicant considers that these provide the very 

special circumstances at this site. The applicant goes further to state that with the 

requirement for pre-treatment and the contribution to the government’s recycling 

objectives, there is an essential need for this proposal.” Within the Green Belt section 

of the Applicant’s supporting letter for application 05/0065/TWFUL (dated 23rd 

January 2006) it states that “in the case of this proposal the proximity to the 

population centres, the site’s recognition in the local plan, the opportunity to move 

waste up the hierarchy and the contribution to regional self-sufficiency all combine to 

present very special circumstances, which suggest that the application should be 

permitted. The site has significant advantages over any non green belt sites within 

the plan in terms of location and likelihood of coming forward.”

7.46 Within para.7.14 (Observations of the Planning Manager: Green Belt) of the Agenda 

report for application 05/0065/TWFUL (T.05/4037/1317/FUL) the WPA’s conclusion 

on the suitability of the development in the Green Belt was as follows:

“The proposal will help in the provision of a sustainable waste management system 

for Gloucestershire as acknowledged in paragraphs 7.6 to 7.7 and the locational 

aspects of the proposal have been considered in paragraphs 7.8 to 7.9. Noting the 

guidance of PPS10 with the significant weight that should be attached to the 

locational needs of certain waste management facilities and the provision of 

sustainable waste management, it is considered that there is special justification for 

this development in the Green Belt that outweighs the harm to the Green Belt. The 

proposal seeks to address the environmental constraints of the Green Belt as 

outlined in paragraph 7.13 above and taking into account the guidance of PPS10 it is 

considered that the proposal is in general accordance with WLP Policy 35.”

Page 101

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/Data/Planning%20Committee/20060316/Agenda/Grundon%20Waste%20Management%20Limited,%20Goulds%20Grove,%20Ewelme,%20Wallingford,%20Oxfordshire%20OX10%206PJ%20-%20attachment%201.pdf


76

7.47 At para.7.42 of the conclusions and summary of reasons section of the Agenda report 

for application 05/0065/TWFUL (T.05/4037/1317/FUL), it states that “the application 

site is within the Green Belt however, considering the locational aspects of the 

proposal and its contribution to sustainability, it is considered that there are special 

circumstances to justify this development. The MRF would be associated with an 

existing landfill operation and has been assessed against the criteria set out in the 

development plan policy.”

7.48 Previously consented application 09/0028/TWMAJW was for the “continuation of 

mineral extraction and restoration through the importation of wastes at Wingmoor 

Farm Integrated Waste Management Facility (East), Stoke Orchard Road, Bishops 

Cleeve. Extraction of sand, gravel and clay; restoration of land to the profile approved 

in 1996 (planning permission reference: 95/8446/1099), through the importation of 

non-hazardous and hazardous wastes; operation of the waste treatment plant; 

operation of a Materials Recovery Facility; parking of collection vehicles; use of the 

landfill gas control system and associated landfill gas engines; use of ancillary 

infrastructure, such as leachate treatment plant, weighbridges, sand and gravel 

processing plant, vehicle servicing facilities, offices and mess facilities required for 

the operation and restoration of the site.” The application was for the continuation of 

previously consented activities, which had no permission beyond May 2009.

7.49 Application 09/0028/TWMAJW was accompanied by an Environmental Statement 

(ES) that was submitted under the Town and Country Planning (Environmental 

Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 1999. Paragraph 7.4 of the 

Planning Assessment section of the Agenda report advises that “the planning 

application, Environmental Impact Assessment and associated documents were 

comprehensively reviewed by Atkins, an independent consultant providing specialist 

technical advice.” 

7.50 Under the heading of ‘Planning Observations’ the following paragraphs in the WPA’s 

Agenda report for application 09/0028/TWMAJW provide poignant context for the 

assessment of the appropriateness of the development to which application 

19/0066/TWMAJW relates:

 para.7.42: “The MRF is not intended as a permanent facility and will be 

removed upon cessation of the waste operation.”

Page 102

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/Data/Planning%20Committee/20060316/Agenda/Grundon%20Waste%20Management%20Limited,%20Goulds%20Grove,%20Ewelme,%20Wallingford,%20Oxfordshire%20OX10%206PJ%20-%20attachment%201.pdf
https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=externalDocuments&keyVal=KJN3R6HN00600


77

 Para.7.45: “Should the applicant wish to increase the capacity of the MRF to 

100,000 tonnes per annum, a new planning application would have to be 

submitted and the associated issues addressed accordingly.”

 Para.7.47: “The principle of the MRF would be supported by policy (e.g. 

PPS10 paragraphs 1 and 3) because it would make a significant contribution in 

moving waste up the waste hierarchy.”

 Para.7.58: “Government waste planning guidance in PPS10 has now 

acknowledged that the locational needs of certain waste management facilities 

may require sites in the Green Belt which, together with the wider 

environmental and economic benefits of sustainable waste management, 

should be given significant weight in determining planning applications.”

 Para.7.59: “The WLP criteria for the development of the site identifies that with 

the Green Belt status the site requires demountable buildings and that the 

duration of operations should be tied to the landfill operations.”

 Para.7.60: “Noting the guidance of PPS10 with the significant weight that 

should be attached to the locational needs of certain waste management 

facilities and the provision of sustainable waste management, it is considered 

that there is justification for this development in the Green Belt that outweighs 

any harm to the Green Belt.”

 Para.7.61: “…in the medium to longer term the site will be restored, is not 

intended to be built on for housing and the restoration scheme will allow for a 

degree of biodiversity interest and public access via the proposed permissive 

footpath. For the above reasons I do not consider that this proposal represents 

inappropriate development in the green belt. As it is not considered to be 

inappropriate development the issue of very special circumstances does not 

apply.”

 Para.7.81: “There are several potential sources for odour at the site, but 

primarily these arise from leachate, landfill gas or an odorous load of waste 

deposited at the site. These are closely monitored by the EA, with action taken 

as appropriate.”

 Para.7.125: “it was predicted that the MRF would take up to 50,000 tonnes per

annum over the lifetime of its operations (i.e. to 2028). It was also estimated 

that some 37,500 tonnes of this (75%) would be recycled and moved off site, 

and 12,500 tonnes (25%) would be disposed of in the non-hazardous landfill 

part of the site.”

Page 103



78

 Para.7.127: “For the assessment the average weight of vehicles in tonnes was 

calculated from information from Grundon including weighbridge data and 

used to convert the predicted annual tonnages in to the predicted number of 

vehicles per year. These figure were then divided by the number of working 

days at the site to produce daily flows.”

 Para.7.129: “The predicted 2014 flows for the proposed scheme, as detailed in 

table 9.10 of the ES, are 194 HGVs entering the site each day and 183 HGVs 

leaving. This represents an increase of approximately 20% compared with the 

present day traffic survey data, and the applicant contends that this is mainly 

due to the operation of the MRF.” “the predicted overall number of traffic 

movements in this 12 hour period each day in the year 2014 are 524 

movements, of which 377 of these (approximately 72% ) are HGV 

movements.”

7.51 The WPA is of the opinion that with the bulking and transfer of residual municipal 

waste only taking up about one seventh of the internal floor space of the existing 

MRF building, the ability of the MRF building to accommodate both waste streams 

has not been significantly impeded by the introduction of concrete bays to allow for 

the bulking and transfer the residual waste. However, what is apparent to the WPA is 

the fine margin within which the combined tonnage from the MRF and bulking/transfer 

activity is currently operating and the inability for either waste stream to be able to 

expand beyond current throughput levels without breaching the 50,000 tonne annual 

limit.

7.52 Existing waste management facilities in the Green Belt are acknowledged as having 

wider benefits where the co-location of facilities can be determined as essential to 

their use. Notwithstanding this, further development of any of the existing waste 

facilities should meet the requirements of Green Belt policy in the NPPF, NPPW, be 

in accordance with the Development Plan, and not compromise the openness of the 

Green Belt or increase the risk of urban sprawl.

7.53 The WPA agrees with some objectors in that the bulking and transfer of residual 

waste at WFE is not dependant on the site’s landfill operation and could therefore be 

carried out elsewhere. However, for the reasons set out in the Alternative Sites 

section above, the evidence-based outcome from the submitted supporting 

Page 104



79

documents has demonstrated that no other site in the locality is available or viable for 

the duration of the permission sought by this retrospective application. 

7.54 The unloading and loading of residual municipal waste is located inside an existing 

building within an established integrated waste management facility and therefore 

would achieve co-location.

7.55 Policy WCS13 (Green Belt) of the GWCS supports the principle of the Green Belt and 

recognises the relationship between the Green Belt and existing waste management 

facilities. Policy SD5 of the JCS also follows the same approach and considers 

operations that maintain the openness of the Green Belt to not conflict with policy.

7.56 Policy WCS13 states, inter alia, that ‘‘very special circumstances’ to justify 

inappropriate waste development proposals will not exist unless the totality of the 

harm to the Green Belt and any other harm can be clearly outweighed by other 

considerations.’ In respect of ‘any other harm’ the WPA considers the most significant 

‘harm’ to arise from the noise and odour generated from inside the MRF building. 

7.57 In the absence of an alternative site and any objections from environmental 

regulators and the Highway Authority, the WPA is of the opinion that ‘very special 

circumstances’ do exist and that they have been adequately demonstrated within the 

body of this report. As such, the WPA considers the continued provision of this much 

needed bulking and transfer facility to be acceptable for the temporary time period 

sought by this application and in accordance with Policy WCS13 (Green Belt) of the 

GWCS, Policy SD5 (Green Belt) of the JCS and part 13 (Protecting Green Belt land) 

of the NPPF (2021).

Amenity Impacts (including dust, odour, and air quality)

7.58 The NPPF makes it clear at paragraph 188 that the focus of planning policies and 

decisions should be on whether proposed development is an acceptable use of land, 

rather than the control of processes or emissions which are subject to separate 

pollution control regimes.  In the case of the development to which this application 

relates, the operations are subject to the Environmental Permitting regime regulated 

by the Environment Agency.  The NPPF states at paragraph 188 that planning 

decisions should assume that the pollution control regimes will operate effectively.  

This point is reinforced by the NPPW at Paragraph 7, bullet point 5:

Page 105



80

“when determining waste planning applications, waste planning authorities should: 

concern themselves with implementing the planning strategy in the Local Plan and 

not with the control of processes which are a matter for the pollution control 

authorities.  Waste planning authorities should work on the assumption that the 

relevant pollution control regime will be properly applied and enforced.”

7.59 The activities associated with the bulking and transfer of residual municipal waste 

within the existing MRF building have the potential to cause odour and become a 

nuisance for people within the locality. Whilst the issue of odour was considered and 

assessed under previously consented application 09/0028/TWMAJW, it would only 

have done so based upon the waste streams associated with the recovery facility and 

not based upon the bulking and transfer of residual municipal waste.

7.60 From correspondence exchanged with the Environment Agency (EA) the WPA has 

established that a permit issued by the EA governs the current activities at the MRF 

site. This permit allows material recovery and storage of municipal wastes 

(households waste and similar commercial, industrial and institutional wastes).

7.61 Measures to diminish odour associated with the transport and storage of the residual 

waste include sheeting container vehicles before they leave site and transferring the 

waste on the day of its arrival and not storing any waste materials outside.

7.62 From the description of kerbside collections for household waste set out in para.4.34 

above, the WPA notes the source segregation of food waste and garden waste, both 

of which significantly reduce the putrescible element within the residual municipal 

solid waste. Thereby reducing the percentage of odour generating waste that is 

received and bulked at Grundon’s MRF site.

7.63 In paragraphs 2.6.13 and 2.6.14 of Grundon’s ‘Planning Supporting Statement’ dated 

December 2019 the Applicant states the nature of the residual municipal waste is ‘not 

inherently dusty’, and that the hard surfaced yard around the MRF is ‘swept by a road 

sweeper at regular intervals’ to avoid an accumulation of litter and other loose 

material from tracking beyond the site boundary.

7.64 Since Cheltenham and Tewkesbury’s household residual waste ceased being 

landfilled at Wingmoor Farm West in July 2019, TBC’s Head of Community Services 

Page 106

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


81

and CBC’s Environmental Partnership Manager are of the opinion that “odours at this 

site from municipal waste will have reduced.” Further to this, the WPA notes that for 

logistical reasons 30% of TBC’s current household residual waste is directly delivered 

to Javelin Park, with the remaining 70% of Tewkesbury’s household waste, along with 

all of Cheltenham’s household residual waste which is now being bulked and 

transferred from inside the MRF building at WFE.

7.65 During the two years since the bulking and transfer of residual waste commenced out 

of Grundon’s MRF site at WFE, TBC’s Head of Community Services and CBC’s 

Environmental Partnership Manager point out that only one odour incident, in 

November 2020, has been attributed by the EA to the bulking and transfer of residual 

waste from inside the MRF building at WFE. In the EA’s consultation response dated 

10th June 2021 they confirmed this single incident took place, and added that “the 

operator was not scored for a breach of the odour permit for condition due to the 

odour strength off site being low.” The operator (Applicant) was asked to review the 

working plan ensuring the issues the EA detailed in their Compliance Report were 

addressed and that odour management techniques were appropriate and adequately 

described. The operator was set a deadline by the EA to submit a revised working 

plan by 31 December 2020. A revised working plan was provided to the EA on the 31 

December 2020 and it was agreed by the EA that the document addressed their 

comments. The EA confirm in their letter dated 10.06.2021 that “no issues with odour 

off site have been identified by Environment Agency officers in 2020, other than on 

the 18 November 2020, nor since this date with regards to this facility.”

 

7.66 Attributing odour to a specific source when the area to the west and south-west of 

Bishop’s Cleeve is dominated by two large neighbouring IWMFs with multiple 

potential odour emitting waste related activities is difficult. As the prevailing winds are 

south westerly, any winds blowing from the west or south west would pass over one 

or more of the following waste activities before reaching the MRF building where the 

bulking and transfer of residual municipal waste is being carried out:

 Gilders (Land adjoining Wingmoor Farm West): biosolids cake liming treatment 

(5 year temporary permission);

 Ubico (Wingmoor Farm West): Household Recycling Centre;

 Enovert (Wingmoor Farm West): non-hazardous landfill site;

 Enovert (Wingmoor Farm West): composting facility;

Page 107



82

 Andigestion (Wingmoor Farm East): anaerobic digestion plant and associated 

liquid digestate lagoon; and

 Grundon (Wingmoor Farm East): Hazardous and non-hazardous landfill sites.

7.67 For context, the EA categorise odour on a scale of 0 to 6, using the definition below: 

0 – No odour  

1 – Very faint odour (need to inhale into the wind to smell anything)  

2 – Faint odour (you can detect an odour when you inhale normally)  

3 – Distinct odour (there is clearly an odour in the air as you leave your car or 

enter the area) 

4 – Strong odour (a bearable odour but strong, you could stay in the area for 

some time)  

5 – Very strong odour (unpleasantly strong, you will want to leave the area 

quickly)  

6 – Extremely strong odour (likely to cause nausea and a strong need to 

remove yourself from the odour immediately)  

During the odour incident on the 18th November 2020, the EA detected an odour that 

was associated with the MRF.  In the EA’s assessment, waste odour was detected 

within the local housing estate (level 2/6) and within the car park of the MRF (level 

3/6). The odour within the car park was “at a level which could have caused pollution 

off site”.

7.68 Paragraph 2.6.22 of the Applicant’s ‘Planning Supporting Statement’ dated December 

2019 states that “a daily routine will include the monitoring of odour emissions around 

the yard at least twice per day in various areas. The main area being in front of the 

doors to the MRF. On detection of an exceedance or on receipt of a complaint 

immediate action is to be taken. Any odours detected and the remedial actions will be 

recorded.” In the event that odour is detected and attributed to the activities within the 

MRF building, the Applicant states within para.2.6.23 of the Statement that a tow 

along bowser will be filled with a “mix of water and odour neutralizer to treat the 

immediate area and inner perimeter of the building with the resulting mist to 

neutralize the odorous substances from the atmosphere.” To ensure that provision for 

such measures is made and implemented, an odour control condition has been 

applied to the planning conditions list set out in section 8 of this report.

Page 108



83

7.69 The MRF building has three large apertures within its east facing side elevation, two 

of which remain open during normal operational hours to allow for a one-way system 

for vehicles and to provide passive ventilation in the absence of any internal 

mechanical air handling equipment. These large apertures also allow natural daylight 

to enter the MRF building.

7.70 With only one substantiated complaint and the absence of any objection to the 

application from either the EA or TBC’s Environmental Health Advisor reinforces 

Grundon’s opinion that any requirement to install mechanical air handling mitigation 

measures would be unfounded. The absence of any objection from technical 

consultees on the grounds of odour has led the WPA to conclude that to use such 

mitigation measures to suppress any unfettered odour escaping the envelope of the 

building could not be secured by planning condition as the WPA does not consider 

that such conditions would meet the ‘planning conditions and obligations’ test set out 

at para.56 of the NPPF (2021).

7.71 At para.47 of the Inspector’s appeal decision (APP/G1630/W/19/3229581 dated 

11.11.2019) in which he allowed the proposed residential and commercial 

development on the north side of Stoke Road, the WPA notes the Inspector’s 

comment in their conclusion that the “proposed development would not be exposed to 

an unacceptable risk from pollution, in particular air quality issues arising from the 

nearby IWMF.” The issue of amenity impacts from the IWMF was a main matter in 

dispute before the Inspector who heard expert evidence from the parties and as part 

of the inquiry his site visit attended the IWMF during the working day. At this time the 

MRF was in the exact same use which the proposed development seeks to 

regularise.

7.72 In the WPA’s consideration of the impact of odour arising from the bulking and 

onward transfer of residual municipal waste at WFE, the WPA notes that those 

activities were operational inside the MRF building at the time the Inspector 

conducted their appeal site visit on land north of Stoke Road. 

7.73 Further to the above, the WPA notes that the Environmental Health Advisor at 

Tewkesbury Borough Council has “no objection to the application in terms of odour 

nuisance.” In their consultation response, dated 10.06.2021 the EA has stated that 

they have “no objections to the proposed development.” The absence of any 

Page 109

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaseID=3229581&CoID=0


84

objection from either of these two technical consultees suggests to the WPA that the 

current monitoring and preventative measures are working to the satisfaction of these 

regulators and that no other odour controls could be justified through the imposition of 

additional planning conditions.

7.74 Whilst noting the objection from Tewkesbury Borough Council on the grounds of 

odour, the advice of the District Environmental Health advisor was not to object. The 

dominant complaint raised by the 130 objectors is focused on odour and the 

disamenity arising from the potential negative impact of air quality on human health. 

Objections on the grounds of odour were also received from the County Councillor for 

Bishop’s Cleeve Division; the District Councillor for Bishop’s Cleeve West Ward; 

Bishop’s Cleeve Parish Council; Woodmancote Parish Council; Stoke Orchard & 

Tredington Parish Council and Gotherington Parish Council. Noting that neither the 

District’s Environmental Health advisor nor the EA have any objection to this 

application and, through the Environmental Permit, the EA provide ongoing 

monitoring and controls for noise, dust, odours, flies and vermin. 

7.75 The cumulative effects of all of the waste processes in the area have been 

considered by the WPA to ensure that any notable impact on the local community 

would be kept within limits that the regulatory bodies consider to be acceptable.

7.76 The development to which this application relates is considered by the WPA to be in 

accordance with Policy WCS10 (Cumulative Impact) and Policy WCS18 (Bulking and 

Transfer) of the GWCS, Policy SD14 (Health & Environmental Quality) of the JCS 

and saved Policy 37 (Proximity to other land uses) of the GWLP. Accordingly, the 

WPA is of the opinion that the development complies with criterion (h) of the 

Locational Criteria set out in Appendix B of the NPPW, along with the aims and 

objectives that para.174(e) of the NPPF seeks to protect and promote in respect of 

air quality and public health.

Traffic and Highway Safety

7.77 Following the period of consultation the WPA reviewed the comments received and 

considered the supporting information submitted by the Applicant to be inadequate 

and deficient in sufficient detail for the WPA to come to an informed decision. 

Subsequently, the WPA raised queries and requested clarification on a number of 

Page 110



85

points, along with additional supporting data, which resulted in the submission of the 

documents listed below:

 Grundon letter dated 30th July 2021 that provides additional information and 

clarification to comments made by consultees and the public.

 Figure 1: Wingmoor Farm East MRF weighbridge /12 months data (01.05.2020 

– 30.04.2021)

 Figure 2: Tewkesbury Borough Council residual waste direct deliveries to 

Javelin Park (12 months data, 01.05.2020-30.04.2021)

 Figure 3: Residual waste traffic movement around Bishop’s Cleeve, Stoke 

Road.

 Figure 4: Wingmoor Farm East ‘Monitoring point locations and cell boundaries’ 

dated 20.03.2019. Drawing Ref. BISH1903-MP. Drawing No.1. Version ‘A’.

The above information was supplemented with later exchanges in correspondence 

between the WPA and the Applicant, where clarification was provided in respect of 

operational matters, including pollution control measures and vehicle movements.

7.78 As shown in Figure 1 (Wingmoor Farm East MRF weighbridge/12 months data), 

46,554 tonnes of waste was received into the MRF between 01 May 2020 and 30 

April 2021. This figure is comprised of 10,151 tonnes of recyclable waste and 36,403 

tonnes of residual municipal waste (RMW) arising from the Boroughs of Tewkesbury 

and Cheltenham. Outbound from the MRF during the same period was 9,701 tonnes 

of recyclable waste and 35,921 tonnes of RMW. This equates to an average of 20 

(one-way) daily RCV and HGV movements to the MRF site and 6 (one-way) daily 

HGV movements from the MRF site to the EfW plant at Javelin Park.

7.79 Objectors have raised concerns about incremental increases in HGV movements at 

WFE and the cumulative impact that sudden and significant incremental changes are 

having on the local road network, and how the impact that noise, vibration and air 

pollution arising from increased HGV movements is adversely affecting the health 

and amenity of local residents. 

7.80 Planning application 05/0065/TWFUL (T/05/4037/1317/FUL) was for “the erection of 

a Materials Recovery Facility (MRF), including replacement ancillary vehicle servicing 

and offices, replacement weighbridge facilities including control cabin, inert waste 

Page 111

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_FIGURE_1_MRF.PDF
https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


86

classification storage and transfer shed and storage of baled recovered materials.” 

Within para.2.19 of the Agenda report for this application that was approved at 

Planning Committee on the 16th March 2006, it states that:

“The application is accompanied by a Transport Assessment (TA). The TA notes that 

the existing daily traffic movements show 39 HGV trips (78 movements), with records 

showing no seasonal variation. The maximum recorded trips are 54 and minimum 27. 

The future traffic generation figures taking into account that of the 47,500 tonnes per 

annum coming into the MRF 35,000 tonnes is already being imported to the existing 

landfill site. In terms of recovery up to 35,000 tonnes would be exported as recycled 

material with the remainder going to the landfill site. The skip waste figure of 2,500 

tonnes per annum would see 2,375 tonnes being exported as recycled material. The 

additional daily trips generated by the proposals would be 17 trips (34 movements). 

The TA has considered existing traffic flows, capacities, safety information, the 

existing highway network, environmental impact and traffic policy. The TA 

recommends additional signage at the site access and the overall conclusion on 

highways matters is that the proposed development will have minimal impact.”

7.81 In para.50 of the Non-Technical Summary (dated May 2009) for application 

09/0028/TWMAJW, it states that “in terms of two-way Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGV) 

movements, the Scheme will generate approximately 377 trips per day. This 

compares with 315 trips per day from the current 2009 operation on the site, and 268 

that would be anticipated to be required to undertake the ‘minimum engineered 

scheme’ scenario.” The “Scheme” referred to in application 09/0028/TWMAJW 

relates to the activities of the whole IWMF site edged red on Site Location Plan 

drawing No.GRU000 Rev.A dated 28.04.2009. The red line boundary shown on this 

plan matches that shown on the site location plan for applications 17/0066/TWMAJW 

and 19/0066/TWMAJW.

7.82 The development to which application 19/0066/TWMAJW relates intensifies the 

number of HGV movements from 26 per day (13 in and 13 out) to 54 per day (27 in 

and 27 out) and takes account of all movements created by the new activity, including 

movements from waste delivery and waste transfer vehicles. The applicant states that 

the bulking and transfer of municipal residual waste would generate on average an 

additional 2 HGV movements per day.

Page 112

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f09_0028_TWMAJW_NON_TECH_SUM.PDF


87

7.83 Whilst the importation of residual municipal waste and the operational activities 

associated with the MRF increases the number of vehicle movements from 26 per 

day to 54 per day, this increase does not exceed the 50,000 tpa output full capacity  

limits that have previously been assessed and permitted at this site (at full capacity 

the applicant identifies that equates to 80 movements per day – 40 in and 40 out).

7.84 As shown in the summary of issues set out in para.5.5 above, objectors have 

expressed considerable concern regarding the intensification in the number and size 

of HGVs associated with WFE using the local road network. Objectors are particularly 

concerned by the use of larger HGVs to transport the residual municipal waste from 

WFE to Javelin Park. It is alleged by objectors that the noise and vibrations 

generated by these larger HGVs is adversely affecting those residential properties 

fronting the highway and the amenity of residents.

7.85 In response to the consultation on the EIA screening opinion the Highway Authority 

acting in its role as statutory consultee undertook a full assessment of the information 

submitted. Based on their appraisal of the submitted documents the Highways 

Development Management Manager on behalf of the County Council had no view if 

this proposal represented EIA development or not. However, the Highway Authority 

did comment that they found the proposal to be acceptable and raised no objection. 

In light of this, the Highway Authority deemed that no additional Traffic Assessment 

was necessary.

7.86 In the opinion of the County Highway Authority, the existing vehicular access at 

Grundon’s eastern entrance off Stoke Road is “considered appropriate for larger 

articulated vehicles” entering and leaving the MRF site.

7.87 A proportion of Tewkesbury borough’s waste is also directly delivered to the EfW at 

Javelin Park where this is “considered appropriate for the efficient use of the limited 

Council fleet as direct delivery ties up the vehicles and their crews for a long journey.” 

A one-year data was obtained from the Gloucestershire Waste Unit to demonstrate 

the number of movements directed to Javelin Park EfW by Tewkesbury BC. On 

average, there were 4 one-way RCVs/HGVs deliveries of residual waste directly from 

Tewkesbury BC to the EfW facility daily.

7.88 The Highway Authority has no objection to the variation of planning conditions 7 and 

19 of previously consented application 17/0066/TWMAJW. They have stated in their 

Page 113

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


88

consultation response dated 25.08.2021 that “there are no justifiable grounds on 

which an objection could be maintained”. Furthermore, the Highway Authority 

considers that the application “would not be an unacceptable impact on Highway 

Safety or a severe impact on congestion”. In light of these comments and the 

absence of any technical evidence to the contrary, the WPA is of the opinion that the 

development is acceptable in highway terms and compliant with paragraph 111 of the 

NPPF, which states that “development should only be prevented or refused on 

transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe”.

7.89 Based on the technical evidence and comments received from the Highway Authority 

following their analysis of the information submitted, the WPA considers the 

development to be in accordance with policy WCS19 (Sustainable Transport) of the 

GWCS and policy INF1 (Transport Network) of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and 

Tewkesbury JCS 2011-2031. In coming to this view, the WPA is of the opinion that 

the development satisfies criterion (f) (Traffic and Access) in Appendix B of the 

NPPW’s locational considerations, along with the transport guidance set out in 

paragraph 013 of the NPPG.

Noise

7.90 The site has operated as a MRF since 2006 when the MRF building was consented 

under application 05/0065/TWFUL. The cumulative impact from noise generating 

activities associated with the operation of the MRF and bulking/transfer of residual 

municipal waste arises from vehicle movements and waste handling operations.

7.91 The WPA acknowledges and accepts the Applicant’s evidence that the increase in 

vehicle movements does not exceed those limits that have previously been assessed 

and permitted for the importation of 50,000 tonnes of ‘general non-hazardous waste 

per annum’ into the MRF (condition 5 of application 17/0066/TWMAJW). During the 

original assessment, the envisaged traffic associated with an annual tonnage of 

50,000 was calculated at an average of 80 two-way movements per day (40 in and 

40 out). Submitted Figure 1 shows the WFE MRF weighbridge data from the 

01.05.2020 to 30.04.2021. During this period, the data records a daily average of 

between 36 and 44 RCV and HGV one-way movements. Whilst these daily RCV and 

HGV movements are consistent with ‘envisage traffic’ movements associated with an 

annual throughput of 50,000 tonnes per annum, the average two-way vehicle 

Page 114

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_FIGURE_1_MRF.PDF


89

movements to the MRF site prior to the GCC contract for bulking and transferring 

residual waste was 26 per day (13 in and 13 out). This means the site has historically 

operated significantly under capacity and well below the consented traffic limits.

7.92 The Applicant advises that “all vehicles travel directly to/from the east of the site 

using Stoke Road and not via Stoke Orchard village. Bulked residual waste from 

Gloucestershire is transferred from the MRF to Javelin Park via ‘A’ type roads and 

M5.” In addition, the Applicant has highlighted the fact that prior to the GCC contract 

to bulk and transfer residual waste at Grundon’s MRF site, “all residual waste 

deliveries from Cheltenham and Tewkesbury boroughs went to the Enovert landfill 

site (located at: Stoke Road, Bishops Cleeve, GL52 7RS). To access the site all such 

traffic would pass the Wingmoor Farm East MRF site (the Application Site) and travel 

c.1.5 km further west to arrive at the landfill. All such residual waste traffic have been 

therefore passing Grundon site previously.”

7.93 Figure 3 (Residual waste traffic movement around Bishop’s Cleeve Stoke Road) 

shows a simple analysis between previous and current arrangements in regards to 

GCC’s household waste management to demonstrate the overall increase/decrease 

of number of RCV/HGV movements around Bishop’s Cleeve/Stoke Road since the 

commencement of bulking and transfer of residual municipal waste to and from the 

MRF at WFE. The document draws a conclusion that currently there is a small daily 

net increase in traffic movement around Bishop’s Cleeve/Stoke Road of on average 2 

vehicles. In terms of the significance in net noise levels generated by such nominal 

additional vehicle movements, the WPA is of the opinion that the impact upon local 

amenity is negligible and still consistent with the noise impact assessed when 

granting planning permission for the importation of 50,000 tonnes of ‘general non-

hazardous waste per annum’ into the MRF.

7.94 The waste handling, sorting and loading operations are carried out within the existing 

MRF building and the Applicant states in para. 2.6.11 of their submitted ‘Planning 

Supporting Statement’ (dated December 2019) that the background noise monitoring 

at the two nearest residential properties are already undertaken and will be 

continued. Furthermore, at para.2.6.12 the Applicant states that “In the event of noise 

level exceeding the permitted levels or on receipt of a complaint immediate action is 

to be taken (to be recorded) to identify and minimise the noise source.” At para.2.6.3 

of the Applicant’s Statement, the WPA notes reference to the fact that the 

Page 115

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_FIGURE_3.PDF


90

Environmental Permit issued by the EA “contains conditions relating to the monitoring 

and control of noise, dust and odorous emissions”, the details of which “were agreed 

with the EA before the Permit was issued.”

7.95 The proposed amendment to planning condition 19 (Hours of operation) of previously 

consented application 17/0066/TWMAJW (dated 19/10/2017) would give rise to noise 

generating activities being carried out on a number of days in the year where no such 

activities had previously been permitted. This includes extending operational hours 

on those Saturdays following a Bank Holiday and one Bank Holiday in Easter (Good 

Friday).

7.96 The intensification in noise generating activities is therefore linked to both the 

additional daily movements of RCVs and HGVs and the extended times and days 

when those vehicle movements and on site waste handling operations are being 

carried out.

7.97 The Applicant’s ‘Noise Technical Note’ considers the variation of condition 19 to allow 

the MRF operations and associated vehicle movements on one Bank Holiday in a 

year and a two hour extension on seven Saturdays in a year to be “minor and 

insignificant in noise terms”. Whilst TBC object to the application, they have done so 

on the grounds of odour, not noise. The WPA has noted that the Environmental 

Health advisor for TBC agrees with the opinion in the submitted ‘Noise Technical 

Note’ prepared by the applicant’s Acoustic Consultants, and has “no objection to the 

application in terms of noise nuisance.” The absence of any comment on noise 

matters by the EA in their consultation response and correspondence reinforces the 

view that the noise impact from the bulking and transfer operation is not significant 

enough to be objectionable in planning terms.

7.98 In considering noise impact, the guidance relating to noise in paragraph 185 of the 

NPPF (2021) is of particular relevance, along with Policy WCS10 (Cumulative 

Impact) and Policy WCS18 (Bulking and Transfer) of the GWCS, Policy SD14 (Health 

& Environmental Quality) of the JCS, saved Policy 37 (Proximity to other land uses) 

of the GWLP and criterion (j) of the Locational Criteria set out in Appendix B of the 

NPPW.

Page 116

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_APPENDIX_3.PDF
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/14056/adopted_wcs_211112-53886.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/5853/adopted_gloucestershire_waste_local_plan_-2002_-_2012-22434.pdf


91

7.99 As the bulking and transfer of residual municipal waste at Grundon’s MRF site has 

been operational for over two years, the WPA has been able to form opinions on the 

appropriateness of the proposal to vary planning condition 7 and 19 from personal 

observations and comments based on actual data.

7.100 As the number of HGV movements entering and leaving the MRF site is within 

‘envisaged traffic’ volumes associated with the already consented throughput of 

50,000 tonnes per annum of non-hazardous waste, the WPA’s focus turns to the 

proposed increase in the hours and days when those HGV movements can be 

carried out. The WPA accepts the view of objectors that the proposed change in 

operating hours that would be brought about by varying condition 19 of extant 

permission 17/0066/TWMAJW, would introduce noise from activities and processes 

on a Bank Holiday in Easter (Good Friday) when residents would reasonably expect 

no such noise on that day. Therefore, the operational activities to which this 

application relates has the potential to affect adversely the amenity of residents at a 

time when it did not before.

7.101 The absence of any objection from technical consultees on the grounds of noise has 

led the WPA to conclude that additional mitigation measures could not properly be 

secured by planning condition as the WPA does not consider that such conditions 

would meet the ‘planning conditions and obligations’ test set out at para.56 of the 

NPPF (2021).

7.102 Whilst noting the objection from Tewkesbury Borough Council, it was not raised on 

the grounds of noise. Whilst the dominant complaint by objectors was focused on 

odour and disamenity from environmental pollution in general, some residents 

specifically referenced noise as one of the grounds for their objection, as did the local 

Member for Bishop’s Cleeve Division. Noting that neither the District’s Environmental 

Health advisor nor the EA have any objection to this application and, through the 

Environmental Permit the EA provide ongoing monitoring and controls for noise, dust, 

odours, flies and vermin. 

7.103 The development to which this application relates is considered by the WPA to be in 

accordance with Policy WCS10 (Cumulative Impact) and Policy WCS18 (Bulking and 

Transfer) of the GWCS, Policy SD14 (Health & Environmental Quality) of the JCS 

and saved Policy 37 (Proximity to other land uses) of the GWLP. Accordingly, the 

WPA is of the opinion that the development complies with criterion (j) of the 

Page 117

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


92

Locational Criteria set out in Appendix B of the NPPW and the advice relating to 

noise as set out in paragraph 185 of the NPPF (2021).

Light and Vibration

7.104 Whilst the cumulative impact of light pollution is not specifically referenced in Policy 

WCS10 (Cumulative Impact) of the GWCS, part 2 (ii) of Policy SD14 (Health and 

Environmental Quality) of the JCS states that new development must “result in no 

unacceptable levels of air, noise, water, light or soil pollution or odour, either alone or 

cumulatively, with respect to relevant national and EU limit values.” Furthermore, part 

(viii) of Policy SD14 seeks to “avoid any adverse impact from artificial light on 

intrinsically dark landscapes.”

7.105 Saved Policy 37 (Proximity to other land uses) of the GWLP requires the WPA to take 

into account, amongst other matters, “occupants’ and users’ amenity and health” and 

“any adverse cumulative effect in combination with other development in the area.” 

The issue of light and vibration is also one of the 12 locational considerations set out 

in Appendix B in the NPPW.

7.106 The proposed variation of planning conditions 7 and 19 of previously consented 

planning application 17/0066/TWMAJW would not introduce any additional sources of 

external artificial lighting or vibrations, other than those associated with the movement 

of vehicles operating within the boundary of the MRF site during the additional hours 

of operation proposed by the variation of condition 19.

7.107 The bulking and transfer operation takes place entirely within an existing building and 

should not cause vibration, other than that which may arise through the movement of 

plant machinery and HGVs.  There should be no other processing associated with the 

bulking and transfer of residual waste that would give rise to noise or vibration.  

7.108 The site is fairly well screened from the public realm by mature vegetation along the 

site boundary and having had regard for the relevant development plan policies set 

out in para.7.104 and 7.105 above, the WPA is of the opinion that the scale and 

nature of the development to which this application relates does not introduce any 

notable additional sources of light or vibrations that would have a cumulative and 

adverse impact upon the amenity of neighbouring occupiers and residents. The 

Page 118



93

absence of any comment on this matter from TBC’s EHO or the EA suggests that 

they have no concerns on the matter. Therefore, in regard to the issue of light and 

vibration, the development is considered by the WPA to be in accordance with Policy 

WCS10 of the GWCS, Policy SD14 of the JCS, saved Policy 37 of the GWLP and in 

compliance with criterion (j) of Appendix B in the NPPW.

Vermin, Flies & Birds

7.109 Saved Policy 37 (Proximity to other land uses) of the GWLP is of particular relevance 

as it specifically references the need for proposals to “mitigate, attenuate and control 

noise, dust, litter, odour, landfill gas, vermin, leachate and flue emissions.”

7.110 The issue of residual waste attracting vermin, flies and birds has been raised by 

multiple objectors. Within their consultation responses, neither the Environmental 

Health Officer at Tewkesbury Borough Council nor the EA raised any concerns 

regarding the control of these pests. Public Health Gloucestershire were consulted on 

this application but no response had been received at the time of writing this report.

7.111 The bulking of residual waste only takes place inside the MRF building where this 

waste is bulked and “promptly transferred off site (in this case to Javelin Park EfW) 

within 24 hours whenever possible”. [para.2.6.20 of Planning Supporting Statement] 

7.112 The adequate control of vermin, flies and birds is an issue that requires effective and 

timely management across other operational activities within the wider IWMF at WFE. 

Such control measures are also in force at the neighbouring IWMF at Wingmoor 

Farm West, which is owned and managed by Enovert. Section 4 of Grundon’s 

additional supporting letter dated 30th July 2021 states that “vermin control is 

contracted out with weekly visits for bait boxes” and that Grundon have fly spraying 

carried out inside the MRF building either at the weekend or at the end of a day so 

the building can be shut up and left for at least twelve hours, thereby avoiding any 

adverse effects on staff. The fly spraying process is not monitored specifically by the 

EA but is covered under the pest prevention measures. The fly spraying mist/fog 

process is not a condition of the site’s Environmental Permit but an additional control 

measure carried out by Grundon. The site has operated as proposed for two years 

and there is no evidence to demonstrate the actions taken so far by the operator 

have not been effective. In any event, there are a range of enforcement issues that

Page 119

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_GRUNDON_LET_30JUL21.PDF


94

could resolve any issues with vermin, flies or birds should they arise.

7.113 Paragraph 188 of the NPPF reminds us that planning decisions should assume that 

pollution control regimes such as those carried out by the EA and those regulatory 

controls to safeguard human health that are carried out by Environmental Health will 

operate effectively.

7.114 In the absence of any objection from technical consultees or substantiated evidence 

that the bulking and transfer of residual waste inside the MRF building is giving rise to 

problems with vermin, flies and birds, the WPA is satisfied that the current control 

measures are effective and satisfactory and considered to be in accordance with 

saved policy 37 (proximity to other land uses) of the Gloucestershire WLP 2002-

2012. Accordingly, the WPA considers the development to be compliant with criterion 

(i: vermin and birds) of Appendix B in the NPPW, which seeks to guard against new 

or increased hazards caused by development. 

Litter

7.115 Objectors to the development have raised concerns that litter escapes from the IWMF 

site and from vehicles approaching the site, the evidence for which can be seen on 

surrounding land and along the approach road to WFE. Evidence suggests that the 

primary source of litter escaping the site has been attributed to the non-hazardous 

landfill cells and not from the recyclables and residual waste that is being processed 

and bulked inside the MRF building.  

7.116 Two of the three larger apertures within the east facing side elevation of the MRF 

building remain open during operational hours to act as a one-way system for plant 

and vehicular movements. These two apertures remain open to provide passive 

ventilation and additional natural daylight for the staff working inside the MRF 

building. By these apertures remaining open for prolonged periods during operational 

hours, the WPA acknowledges that there is the potential for litter to escape the 

confines of the MRF building.

7.117 The WPA is mindful that the control and regulation of litter forms part of the 

Environmental Permit process, which is regulated by the EA, who have not raised 

any concerns regarding litter.

Page 120



95

7.118 The ES that accompanied the previous substantive permission for the wider IWMF at 

WFE states that litter emanating from the site is controlled in a number of ways, 

including litter fences when tipping at high levels, closing the site during extremely 

windy conditions, placing daily cover on deposited waste; and litter picking within and 

outside the site.

7.119 In mitigation the site has a dedicated road sweeper that operates between the MRF 

and the landfill area and sweeps the yard of the MRF depot area twice a day and the 

internal floor of the MRF building once a week. The MRF team undertake regular 

inspections and litter patrols of the immediate site and the landfill team do regular 

litter patrols of the wider site area. All vehicles accessing the site are required to have 

their load areas sheeted, sealed or enclosed upon entering and exiting the site. 

Therefore, with such measures in place, the WPA considers this development to be 

in accordance with Policy 37 of the GWLP and Policy SD14 of the JCS. Accordingly, 

the WPA considers the development to be compliant with locational criterion (k: Litter) 

of Appendix B in the NPPW, which states that “litter can be a concern at some waste 

management facilities.”

Protecting Groundwater

7.120 The application site is not located within an area at risk of flooding but is located on 

the Quaternary River Terrace sands and gravels of the River Avon, which is a 

protected area that is classified as being a Minor Aquifer.

7.121 The application does not amend the original planning application in terms of the 

control of surface waters, groundwater quality or water resources. To control surface 

waters and safeguard local watercourses, the Applicant states in their email dated 

02.09.2021 that “the MRF drainage scheme features a three stage oil interceptor to 

treat runoff”, which received approval from the EA.

7.122 By virtue of the design of the MRF building and site, surface water does not enter the 

MRF building from the yard. The concrete apron at the front of the building has a fall 

away from the building, so all external water is guided into the site’s environmental 

filtration drainage system.

7.123 Internally, the floor of the MRF building has an impervious concrete floor and the 

Page 121



96

Applicant states that “the MRF building has a one in one-hundred fall to the west side 

(rear) of the internal floors. This then falls to a sump at the rear of the building to 

capture any liquids internally. This sump is regularly emptied by the MRF team and 

then transferred to the enclosed tank on the truck wash for removal to an appropriate 

facility for this type of waste.”

7.124 The site has a standard rules permit (Sr2008 no14 75) issued by the EA, and under 

the conditions of this permit the drainage systems on site are monitored.

7.125 The summary of issues in para.5.5 above shows that flooding and contamination of 

watercourses is a material planning issue that objectors have sought to raise as a 

matter of concern to them. However, based upon the available evidence, site 

observations and absence of any technical consultee comment to the contrary, the 

WPA does not perceive any potential impacts of the development upon the 

geological, hydrological and hydrogeological environment. The currently consented 

mitigation measures and the requirements of the Environmental Permit issued by the 

EA are considered by the WPA to be sufficient to ensure that the development to 

which this application relates would not adversely affect water resources including 

groundwater. The development is therefore considered by the WPA to comply with 

locational criterion (a: protection of water quality and resources and flood risk 

management) of Appendix B in the NPPW, along with saved Policy 33 (Water 

resources – pollution control) of the GWLP, Policy INF2 (Flood risk management) of 

the JCS and the aims and objectives that the NPPF seeks to safeguard in respect of 

protected waters.

Other Matters Raised:

Lack of local support

7.126 In assessing the development, due regard has been given by the WPA to the views 

expressed by local residents, a summary of which are set out in paragraph 5.4 of this 

report.  Planning decisions should not be made based on the number of 

representations made either for or against a proposal.  The Localism Act 2011 has 

not changed this, nor has it changed the advice that local opposition or support for a 

proposal is not in itself a ground for refusing or granting planning permission unless it 

is founded on valid planning reasons. 

Page 122

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted


97

Land stability 

7.127 The WPA is of the opinion that by virtue of the scale, nature and location of the waste 

activity on an impervious concrete base inside an existing building that is regulated by 

the EA, the development does not give rise to any adverse impact on the stability of 

land. The development is therefore considered by the WPA to accord with criterion 

(b) of the locational considerations set out in Appendix B of the NPPW and criterion 

2(v) of Policy SD14 of the JCS.

Landscape and visual impacts

7.128 The IWMF is within the Severn Vale of Gloucestershire, lying to the west of Bishop’s 

Cleeve and to the north of Cheltenham. The Cotswold Scarp, part of the Cotswold 

AONB, lies to the east of the site, and certain views from the Scarp include the IWMF 

at WFE. The boundary of the MRF and wider IWMF lies entirely within the 

Cheltenham Green Belt. There is a locally designated Key Wildlife Site, also in the 

ownership of the applicant, immediately to the south of the landfill footprint. There are 

no areas or features on or around the site that are designated for landscape value. 

The Cotswolds AONB is circa 2.9 km to the east of the site, beyond the urban form of 

Bishop’s Cleeve and impacts on this designated area are therefore not anticipated.

7.129 The bulking and transfer of residual waste and the building in which this waste 

operation is being carried out are both temporary. The County Council’s 3-year waste 

contract with Grundon expires on the 5th July 2022 and under planning condition 2 of 

extant permission 17/0066/TWMAJW the MRF building in which the residual waste is 

being bulked is required to be removed on or before the 31st December 2029 with the 

site fully restored to agriculture by June 2030. Furthermore, the development to which 

this application relates does not involve any changes to the external appearance of 

the existing MRF building.

7.130 The doubling of vehicle movements associated with the site contributes to the 

cumulative impact of traffic on the local highway network. By virtue of their size and 

the increased frequency, HGVs can have a cumulative visual impact upon a 

landscape and its tranquillity. However, the WPA does not consider that the 

intensification in HGV movements in this landscape to be so significant as to warrant 

the application being refused.

Page 123

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/364759/141015_National_Planning_Policy_for_Waste.pdf
https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f17_0066_TWMAJW_DEC_NOT.PDF


98

7.131 Whilst the MRF site is within Green Belt, it is not within and does not adjoin the 

Cotswolds AONB and there are no objections on grounds of landscape and visual 

impact from any technical consultee. For the reasons given above, the WPA is of the 

opinion that the development is acceptable in landscape terms and would not be 

contrary to Policy WCS14 of the GWCS, Policy SD6 of the JCS, and the aims and 

interests that the NPPF seeks to protect and promote in respect of the landscape and 

visual impact. Having been deemed by the WPA to be in accordance with the 

aforementioned landscape policies, the WPA is of the opinion that the development 

has satisfied locational criterion (c) in Appendix B of the NPPW.

Nature conservation

7.132 The development to which this application relates takes place on an impervious 

concrete base inside an existing consented building within a wider waste 

management facility. The CEA has considered the submitted information and raised 

no objection or concerns with regards to ecology or biodiversity. The MRF site is not 

located within and does not adjoin any natural environment designations such as a 

Special Area of Conservation, Site of Special Scientific Interest, Special Wildlife Site, 

Local or National Nature Reserve.

7.133 Having reviewed the information submitted and given due consideration to the 

comment made by the CEA, the WPA is satisfied that the development does not 

adversely affect the ecology and biodiversity of the site or any neighbouring wildlife 

habitat. Therefore, in the absence of any identifiable harm

the WPA is of the opinion that the development accords with policy WCS15 of the 

GWCS, policy SD9 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury JCS and the 

aims and objectives that paragraph 180 of the NPPF (2021) seeks to protect and 

promote in respect of biodiversity and ecology. Having been deemed by the WPA to 

be in accordance with the aforementioned natural environment policies, the WPA is of 

the opinion that the development has satisfied locational criterion (d) in Appendix B of 

the NPPW.

Conserving the historic environment

7.134 Criterion (e) of the Locational Criteria in Appendix B of the NPPW relates to 

“conserving the historic environment” and requires the WPA to consider “the potential 

effects on the significance of heritage assets, whether designated or not, including 

any contribution made by their setting”.

Page 124

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/14056/adopted_wcs_211112-53886.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/364759/141015_National_Planning_Policy_for_Waste.pdf


99

7.135 The development to which this application relates does not amend the original 

planning application in terms of archaeology, the historical environment or heritage 

assets. The MRF building is located on previously disturbed ground and Tewkesbury 

Borough Council has not raised any concerns regarding the historic environment.

7.136 In the absence of any evidence to the contrary, the WPA is satisfied that the 

development accords with criterion (e) of Appendix B in the NPPW, along with the 

policies contained within the Development Plan and the aims and interests that the 

NPPF seeks to protect and promote in respect of safeguarding the historic 

environment.

Employment

7.137 Grundon employs six full time staff in the processing side of the MRF building at 

WFE, of which three are “directly associated with the GCC contract” for the bulking 

and transfer of residual municipal waste.

7.138 Grundon’s email to the planning case officer dated 31.08.2021 states that “the GCC 

contract has resulted in a direct creation of at least three new positions, the two artic 

drivers and the full time weighbridge operator.”

7.139 Whilst there are 12 pickers per day working on the sorting of recyclables inside the 

MRF building, little if any of this work is linked to the GCC contract.

7.140 There are two drivers per day moving the GCC residual waste to the energy from 

waste plant at Javelin Park, which is a journey that takes approximately 40 minutes 

(each way). Within the boundary of the MRF site, the other half of the depot employs 

circa.43 people, which consists of drivers, workshop and office staff.

7.141 The development plan policy of most relevance to the consideration of matters 

concerning employment is Policy SD1 (Employment – Except Retail Development) of 

the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury JCS 2011-2031, which states at part vii 

that this policy supports employment-related development “where it allows the growth 

or expansion of existing business especially in the key growth sectors, subject to all 

other policies of the plan.”

Page 125



100

7.142 One of the eight key growth sectors listed at para.4.2.16 of the JCS is “Energy”. 

Waste management facilities like Grundon’s at WFE that are managing the bulking 

and transfer of feed stock (residual waste) for the EfW plant at Javelin Park are 

considered by the WPA to be a vital part of the chain that supports the energy sector. 

The WPA therefore considers the development to which this application relates to be 

in accordance with Policy SD1 of the JCS where it accords with all other relevant 

policies within the JCS.

Potential land use conflict

7.143 Objectors are of the opinion that the introduction of residual putrescible waste (RPW) 

gives rise to a conflict in compatible land uses in the vicinity. The issue of land use 

conflict forms criterion (l) of the Locational Criteria set out in Appendix B of the NPPW 

and is an issue that has been raised by those objectors who have concerns that the 

importation of RPW has introduced a waste stream for which the MRF building and 

depot site was never intended.

7.144 Whilst having regard for such concerns, the WPA is mindful that the principle of 

waste management use on this site is already well established. Therefore, any 

subsequent permission for other uses must take that into account. In this case the 

application is a s.73 (variation of planning conditions associated with an existing 

planning permission). So, it would be anticipated that the changes being sought to 

the extant planning permission (17/0066/TWMAJW) should not be so great as to 

fundamentally alter that which already benefits from planning permission. Therefore, 

the issue for the WPA to assess is the extent to which the s.73 application materially 

alters what is already permitted. From the formal commentary submitted by technical 

consultees, it would not be unreasonable for the WPA to conclude that the extent of 

alteration is not so significant as to cause incompatibility.

7.145 The WPA accepts that RPW is “general non-hazardous waste” and thereby its 

importation complies with planning condition 5(a) of extant planning application 

17/0066/TWMAJW.

7.146 Policy WCS18 (Bulking and Transfer) of the GWCS states that planning permission 

will be granted subject to the following criteria being met:

Page 126



101

1. It can be demonstrated that the impact on the environment and 

neighbouring land uses is acceptable.

2. The highway access is suitable for the proposed vehicle movements.

3. The proposal contributes towards providing a sustainable waste

management system for Gloucestershire.

7.147 When determining planning applications, waste planning authorities are also required 

to consider the Locational Criteria set out in Appendix B of the NPPW. In testing the 

suitability of sites and areas, criterion (l) (potential land use conflict) requires the WPA 

to take into account the “likely proposed development in the vicinity of the location 

under consideration”.

7.148 At para.47 of the Inspector’s appeal decision (APP/G1630/W/19/3229581 dated 

11.11.2019) in which he allowed the proposed residential (264 metres from MRF 

building) and commercial development on the north side of Stoke Road, the WPA 

notes the Inspector’s comment in their conclusion that the “proposed development 

would not be exposed to an unacceptable risk from pollution, in particular air quality 

issues arising from the nearby IWMF.” The WPA considers that the Inspector’s 

comment provides material evidence that the development to which this application 

relates would satisfy criterion 1 of Policy WCS18 of the GWCS.

7.149 The WPA is of the opinion that criterion 2 of Policy WCS18 is satisfied by virtue of the 

comments made by the Highway Authority in their consultation response dated 

25.08.2021 (see para.6.7 above), where they have stated that the existing site access 

is suitable for larger articulated HGVs.

7.150 The WPA is of the opinion that criterion 3 of Policy WCS18 is satisfied by virtue of the 

bulking and transfer of residual municipal waste forming an essential part in the 

supply chain of feedstock for the EfW facility at Javelin Park, which in itself 

contributes towards providing a sustainable waste management system for 

Gloucestershire.

7.151 As the waste operation takes place within the confines of an existing MRF building 

within a long established IWMF with only minor internal changes to facilitate the 

bulking and transfer of the imported residual waste, the WPA considers the bulking 

and transfer of RPW to be entirely consistent with current land uses. This is 

Page 127

https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ViewCase.aspx?CaseID=3229581&CoID=0


102

supported by the EA’s comment (dated 10.06.2021) that the MRF has an 

environmental permit (EAWML 48023) that covers the activities described.

7.152 Based upon available evidence and for the reasons described above, the WPA is of 

the opinion that the likely proposed development in the vicinity of the MRF building 

has been suitably assessed and that the development complies with criterion (l) 

(potential land use conflict) of the Locational Criteria set out in Appendix B of the 

NPPW and Policy WCS18 of the GWCS.

Climate Change

7.153 The County Council’s adopted Climate Change Strategy Part 1-December 2019 is 

centred around 8 key themes, of which the following two are considered by the WPA 

to be of particular relevance to this retrospective application:

 No.3 Transport (‘carbon busting options for all’); and

 No.5 Waste (‘reducing and dealing with’).

7.154 In support of the climate emergency, a key environmental benefit of bulking and 

transferring residual municipal solid waste at the Grundon’s MRF building is the 

reduction in vehicle movements and CO2 emissions when compared to the alternative 

of direct delivery to the EfW facility at Javelin Park. Within their letter dated 09 August 

2021, the Head of Community Services at Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC) and 

the Environmental Partnerships Manager at Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) set 

out the following figures:

 TBC: “The number of vehicular movements to Javelin Park, if local waste 

transfer at Grundons was unavailable, would increase from approximately 

1,416 to at least 4,432 vehicular movements per year.”

 “In mileage terms, this equates to a change from approximately 33,186 miles 

per year to Grundons to approximately 126,245 miles per year to Javelin Park, 

an increase of approximately 93,059 miles per year.”

 “This will mean that there is an increase of 113 tonnes of CO2 being released 

into the environment based on the calculated mileage.”

 CBC: “The number of vehicular movements to Javelin Park, were Cheltenham 

unable deliver to Grundons’ waste transfer site locally and had to direct deliver, 

Page 128

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f19_0066_TWMAJW_COMMUNI_SERV_09AUG21.PDF


103

would increase from approximately 1,116 to approximately 5,730 per year, an 

increase of approximately 4,614 vehicular movements per year.”

 “In mileage terms, this equates to a change from approximately 22,920 miles 

per year to Grundons to approximately 154,710 miles per year to Javelin Park, 

an increase of approximately 131,790 miles per year.”

 “This will mean that there is an increase of 160 tonnes of CO2 being released 

into the environment (based on the calculated mileage).”

7.155 Per annum, the direct delivery of residual municipal solid waste to the EfW facility at 

Javelin Park would result in a total increase of 273 tonnes of CO2 being released into 

the environment. The savings in CO2 emissions that are brought about by the bulking 

and transfer of residual municipal solid waste at the Grundon site supports GCC’s 

climate emergency response and accords with those policies in Section 4 of this 

report that seek to reduce environmental pollution and promote reductions in vehicle 

movements.

7.156 In respect of key theme No.5 Waste, the bulking and transfer of residual municipal 

solid waste at Grundon’s MRF building facilitates approximately 36,403 tonnes of 

feedstock for the EfW facility at Javelin Park, which came online in October 2019. At 

para.13 of the ‘Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy Annual Report & Action 

Plan 2021/02-2026/07’ dated 16th December 2020, it states that “50% of the 

electricity generated [at Javelin Park] is deemed to be renewable; 30GWh for the 

period [2019/20]. This is a reduction of 7,143 tCO2e for standard grid electricity and 

reduces our net emissions to 577 tCO2e; a reduction of 97% on our baseline.”

Human Rights

7.157 From 2nd October 2000, the Human Rights Act 1998 has the effect of enshrining 

much of the European Convention on Human Rights in UK law. Under 6(1) of the Act, 

it is unlawful for a public authority to act in a way, which is incompatible with a 

convention right.  A person who claims that a public authority has acted (or proposes 

to act) in a way which is made unlawful by Section 6(1) and that he is (or would be) a 

victim of the unlawful act, may bring proceedings against the authority under the Act 

in the appropriate court or tribunal, or may rely on the convention right or rights 

concerned in any legal proceedings.

Page 129

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s67581/20201216%20Cabinet%20Glos%20Climate%20Change%20Strategy%20Annual%20Report%20inc%20Annexes%20Cabinet%20APPROVED.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s67581/20201216%20Cabinet%20Glos%20Climate%20Change%20Strategy%20Annual%20Report%20inc%20Annexes%20Cabinet%20APPROVED.pdf


104

7.158 The main Convention rights relevant when considering planning proposals are Article 

1 of the First Protocol (the peaceful enjoyment of property) and Article 8 (the right to a 

private and family life).  Article 1 of the First Protocol guarantees the right to peaceful 

enjoyment of possessions and Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998 guarantees a 

right to respect for private and family life.  Article 8 also provides that there shall be 

no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right except as in 

accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society in the interests of 

national security, public safety, or the economic wellbeing of the country, for the 

prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, or for the 

protection of the freedom of others.

7.159 Objections have been received from 134 members of the public, along with 

Tewkesbury Borough Council, Bishop’s Cleeve Parish Council, Stoke Orchard & 

Tredington Parish Council, Woodmancote Parish Council, Gotherington Parish 

Council, County Councillor for Bishop’s Cleeve Division, and Tewkesbury Borough 

Councillor for Bishop’s Cleeve West ward.  The concerns raised within those 

objections have been addressed in the report above.  For the reasons set out in the 

planning observations it is not thought there would be any breach of the convention 

rights.  Even if there was considered to be an interference with convention rights 

then, in this case, it is thought that the interference would be justified in the interests 

of public safety, the protection of the health of the wider community and economic 

wellbeing of the country.  Accordingly, it would not be unlawful to grant planning 

permission for this development.

Conclusions and summary reasons for the grant of planning permission 

7.160 The importation, bulking and onward transfer of residual municipal waste from inside 

the existing MRF building on an established IWMF has logistical benefits in terms of 

the role it plays in enabling waste to be processed higher up the waste hierarchy and 

its contribution towards sustainable waste management objectives.

7.161 The proposal has generated a large number of objections from local people, along 

with four local Parish Councils, the local district councillor for Bishop’s Cleeve West 

ward and the county councillor for Bishop’s Cleeve division, mainly with concerns 

over the inappropriateness of the development in the Green Belt, the potential 

adverse impacts on human health, amenity of the locality and the environment from 

Page 130



105

odorous smells and the intensification of HGVs on the local road network. Technical 

consultees, including the environmental health advisor for TBC, the EA and the 

County Highway Authority, have raised no objections. 

7.162 Whilst the development to which this s.73 application relates is considered by the 

WPA to be inappropriate development within the Green Belt, for the reasons set out 

in paragraphs 7.33 to 7.57 (Impacts on the Green Belt) of this report, the WPA is of 

the opinion that the absence of an alternative site and any objections from 

environmental regulators and the Highway Authority demonstrates that ‘very special 

circumstances’ exist.

7.163 While local concern is being expressed about the impact that bulking and transfer of 

residual waste inside the MRF building has upon human health, and local amenity 

these are matters controlled by planning conditions and separate pollution control 

regimes. A planning decision should assume that all the proper pollution controls 

operate effectively as identified in the NPPF and NPPW.

7.164 Consultees have raised no concerns on heritage grounds. The proposal does not 

impact upon the historical environment or heritage assets, whether they be 

designated or undesignated, neither does it amend the original planning application in 

terms of archaeology.

7.165 The NPPF’s focus is on acceptable land uses, and whilst the local community to this 

application has raised a number of concerns, all the matters have been considered 

and addressed in turn through the paragraphs within the Planning Considerations of 

this report. 

7.166 The proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy WCS1 of the GWCS 

where the presumption in favour of development applies unless there are material 

considerations, which indicate otherwise.  Having regard to the applicable policies in 

the NPPF and locational criteria for waste sites set out in the NPPW, the proposal is 

considered to comply with national planning policies and the relevant policies of the 

Development Plan for Gloucestershire.  All issues raised through the application 

process have been carefully considered and appropriate mitigation can be made 

which has satisfied statutory consultees that the impacts of the development can be 

controlled within acceptable limits.  

Page 131



106

7.167 Overall, the proposal gives rise to no material harm that cannot be mitigated or 

controlled by planning conditions or by regulatory bodies, is in accordance with the 

Development Plan, the NPPF and NPPW and there are no sustainable material 

considerations that could justify and sustain a reason for refusal.

7.168 In light of the above, the WPA has concluded that the continued use of the MRF 

building for bulking and transferring residual municipal waste is acceptable in 

planning terms and that all amenity matters can be adequately controlled by planning 

condition and the continued function of environmental regulatory bodies.

Positive and Proactive Statement

7.169 In determining this planning application, the WPA has worked with the applicant in a 

positive and proactive manner based on seeking explanations and clarification on 

matters raised in relation to dealing with the planning application by liaising with 

consultees, respondents and the applicant/agent.  This approach has been taken 

positively and proactively in accordance with the requirement in the NPPF, as set out 

in the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 

(Amendment No.2) Order 2012.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION

8.1 That planning permission be GRANTED for the reasons set out in paragraphs 7.160 

to 7.168 and subject to the following conditions (those conditions carried through from 

the original planning permission are either deleted or parts of conditions no longer 

relevant are amended with a strikethrough as appropriate. New amendments to 

conditions are shown in bold text.):

1. Commencement
The developer shall ensure that at least 7 days prior notification of the date of HGVs 

leaving the eastern entrance in accordance with condition 19(a) in this application 

shall be given in writing to the County Planning Authority.

Reason: To enable the County Planning Authority to monitor the operations and to 

ensure compliance with this permission.

Page 132



107

1.2. Duration
The development hereby approved under substantive extant permission 
09/0028/TWMAJW and subsequently amended under approved section 73 
applications 17/0066/TWMAJW and 19/0066/TWMAJW shall cease on or before 

the following dates:

a. The importation of hazardous waste and the use of the waste treatment 

facility shall cease on or before the 31 December 2027;

b. The Materials Recovery Facility hereby permitted shall cease operations on 

or before the 31st December 2028;

c. The importation of non-hazardous waste and the landfilling operations shall 

cease on or before the 31st December 2029;

d. All plant, machinery and buildings (except for the plant and equipment for 

the landfill gas engines and leachate treatment (illustrated on plan 

no.GRU004 Revision A dated 30/04/09)) shall be dismantled and removed 

from the site on or before 31st December 2029;

e. The site shall be restored by 30th June 2030 or within 12 months of the 

achievement of the pre-settlement levels as illustrated on plan no. GRU005 

(dated March 2009), whichever date is the earlier, in accordance with the 

relevant conditions below;

f. The plant and equipment for the landfill gas engines hereby authorised shall 

be removed from the site within 6 months of when it ceases to be used for 

electricity generation fuelled by the landfill gas; and
g. The importation, bulking and onward transfer of residual waste inside 

the MRF building shown on drawing No. DG/WF/VAR7&19/02 (dated July 
2019) shall cease on or before the 5th July 2022.

Reason: To secure the proper restoration of the site within a reasonable and 

acceptable timescale and to clarify that the development must be carried out in full 

conformity with the details submitted including the mitigation measures proposed in 

the planning application, supporting documents, and condition compliance 

submissions in accordance with Core Policies WCS3, WCS4, WCS5, WCS6, WCS8, 

WCS9, WCS10, WCS13, WCS14, WCS15, WCS16 of the Gloucestershire Waste 

Core Strategy (2012) and saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 

2002-2012.

Page 133



108

2.3. Definition of Permission
This planning permission shall only relate to the site area edged red on drawing 

number GRU001, Revision A Application area (dated 28/04/09). The landfilling of 

non-hazardous waste materials shall be restricted to cells 1a, 1b, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9a 

and 9b and hazardous waste restricted to cells A, B, C, D and E as shown on plan 

GRU011, Revision A (dated 30/04/09) -- Phasing Plan.

Reason: To define the scope of the development in the interests of safeguarding the 

amenity of nearby residents, highway safety, for the avoidance of any unacceptable 

impacts on the highway network and monitoring purposes in accordance with policy 

WCS8 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (2012) and saved policy 37 of 

the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

3.4. Approval of plans and application documents
The development hereby shall be carried out in strict accordance with the plans 
and documents approved under substantive extant permission 
09/0028/TWMAJW and as amended under approved section 73 applications 
17/0066/TWMAJW and 19/0066/TWMAJW. The approved list of plans and 
documents are set out below:

 Existing site survey GRU001 Rev A dated 28/04/09

 Existing site plan GRU003 Rev A dated 28/04/09

 Proposed operational site plan GRU004 Rev A dated 30/04/09

 Pre-settlement restoration contours Rev 0 GRU005 dated March 2009

 Post-settlement restoration contours Rev 0 GRU006 dated March 2009

 Cross-section 1 GRU007 Rev 0 dated March 2009

 Cross-section 2 GRU008 Rev 0 dated March 2009

 Cross-section 3 GRU009 Rev 0 dated March 2009

 Cross-section 4 GRU010 rev 0 dated March 2009

 Phasing pan GRU011 Rev A dated 30/04/09

 Surface water management plan GRU013 Rev 0 dated April 2009

 Proposed restoration scheme GRU014 Rev 0 dated April 2009

 Proposed MRF layout GRU016 Rev 0 16/03/09

 DG/EN/BC/WDL/1041 Amend MRF/Workshop elevations

 Existing wheel wash by MRF GRU020 dated 16/04/09

 Existing gates at MRF GRU021 dated 16/04/09

Page 134



109

 Existing cycle shelter GRU022 dated 30/04/09

 MRF Fuel islands GRU023 dated 16/04/2009

 Vehicle wash down GRU024 dated 16/04/09

 Existing MRF surface water scheme GRU025 dated 16/03/09

 Waste treatment plant GRU026 dated 16/03/09

 Sand and gravel plant GRU027 (2 sheets) dated 16/03/09

 Mess and weighbridge GRU028 dated 16/03/09

 Existing gas compound GRU029 dated 16/03/09

 Wheel wash and replacement gas engine GRU030 dated 16/03/09

 Wingmoor Farmhouse and barn GRU031 dated 16/03/09

 Wingmoor Farm main barn GRU032 dated 16/03/09

 Existing workshop and barns GRU033 dated 16/03/09

 Environmental compound GRU034 dated 16/03/09

 Building for bat roost mitigation GRU035 Rev A dated 030325

 Proposed noise attenuation bund in North West corner of site GRU036 April 09

 Proposed noise attenuation bund in North West corner of site - sections

GRU037 April 09

 DG/WF/VAR20/02 HGVs Operational Hours Change Application Area

Grundons Supporting Statement including appendices and plans June 2017

 Location Plan drawing No.DG/WF/VAR7&19/01 dated July 2019

 Site Plan drawing No. DG/WF/VAR7&19/02 dated July 2019

 Planning Supporting Statement (dated December 2019) for Variation of 
Conditions No.7 and 19 of Planning Permission Ref.17/0066/TWMAJW 
dated 19th October 2017.

 Grundon letter dated 30th July 2021 providing additional information and 
clarification on the activities associated with the bulking and transfer of 
residual municipal waste.

and specifications with any scheme, working programme or other details submitted 

for the written approval of the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority in pursuance of 

any condition attached to those consents, except where varied by another condition 

of this consent.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out as approved and to clarify 

that the development must be carried out in full conformity with the details submitted 

Page 135



110

including the mitigation measures proposed in the planning application, supporting 

documents.

4.5. The overall throughput of material through the site edged red on Location Plan 
drawing DG/WF/VAR7&19/01 dated July 2019 shall not exceed the following levels:

a. The total amount of material received into the Materials Recovery Facility 

shall not exceed a level of 50,000 tonnes of general non-hazardous waste 

per annum;

b. The total amount of clinical waste accepted at the site shall not exceed a 

level of 500 tonnes per annum;

c. Not more than 38,400 tonnes of clay shall be extracted and removed from the 

site per annum;

d. Not more than 10,000 tonnes of sand and gravel shall be removed from the 

site per annum;

e. The total amount of hazardous waste accepted at the site shall not exceed 

65,000 tonnes per annum, and 30,000 tonnes of inert waste for use as cover 

per annum;

f. The total amount of non-hazardous waste accepted at the site shall not 

exceed 150,000 tonnes per annum.

Reason: To define the planning permission, and in order that the Minerals and Waste 

Planning Authority can control the throughput of the site and to define the scope of 

the development in the interests of safeguarding the amenity of nearby residents, 

highway safety, for the avoidance of any unacceptable impacts on the highway 

network and monitoring purposes in accordance with policy WCS8 of the 

Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (2012) and saved policy 37 of the 

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

5.6. Restriction of permitted development rights
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 

Order)

a. No fixed plant or machinery, building structures and erections, or private 

ways shall be erected, extended, installed or replaced within the site without 

Page 136



111

the prior written approval of the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority;

b. No additional lights or fences shall be installed or erected at the site unless 

details of them have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Minerals and Waste Planning Authority.

Reason: The site is in the Green Belt and there is a need to secure control over 

additional plant and machinery, in the interests of the amenity of the area and to 

accord with saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012 and 

policy SD5 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 
2011-2031.

6.7. Buildings, plant and machinery
The Materials Recovery Facility and its building as shown on plan no GRU004 (dated 

30/04/2009), the vehicle service area and associated offices shall be used solely in 

association with or ancillary to the operation of the Waste Management Facility.

Reason: The site is within the Green Belt and there is a need for the Minerals and 

Waste Planning Authority to retain control over the land uses and activities within 
the site and to accord with saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 

2002-2012.

7.8. There shall be no importation of sand and gravel to the site.

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the local area and to accord with saved 

policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

8.9. Highway conditions
The No Left Turn sign at the Western access, within the curtilage of the site edged 
red on Location Plan drawing DG/WF/VAR7&19/01 dated July 2019 shall be 

maintained for the duration of the permission.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety and to accord with policy WCS19 of the 

Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (2012) (WCS) and policy INF1 of the 
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031.

Page 137



112

9.10. The Eastern and Western accesses as indicated on plan no. GRU004 Rev A (Dated 

30/04/09) shall be surfaced in bituminous macadam, or other approved material for at 

least the first 30.0 metres from the edge of the public highway and thereafter similarly 

maintained.

Reason: To prevent loose material being carried onto the highway in the interests of 

highway safety and to accord with policy WCS19 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core 

Strategy (2012) and policy INF1 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury 
Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031.

10.11. Visibility splays to the Western and Eastern accesses illustrated on plan no. GRU004 

Rev A (Dated 30/04/09) shall be maintained to provide visibility extending from a 

point 3.0 metres back from the carriageway edge along the access centre line to a 

point on the nearside carriageway edge 90.0 metres distant in each direction with the 

area in advance of the splay lines so defined cleared of all obstructions to visibility 

and thereafter similarly maintained.

Reason: To ensure that adequate visibility is provided for the duration of the use and 

maintained in the interests of highway safety and to accord with policy WCS19 of the 

Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (2012) (WCS) and policy INF1 of the 
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031.

11.12. No loaded lorries shall leave the site un-sheeted except those only carrying stone in 

excess of 500mm.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, neighbouring amenity and to allow the 

Waste Planning Authority to monitor the amenity of the area and to accord with 

saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

12.13. The wheel cleaning facilities installed on the haul road approach from the Western 

access and the wheel cleaning facilities installed on the haul road approach from the 

Eastern access adjacent to the MRF shall be maintained and used until the access 

road to the landfill site is removed and restored upon completion of phases 1b and 

9b, as illustrated on plan no. GRU011 - Phasing Plan (dated 30/04/09).

Page 138



113

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to prevent mud and dust getting on 

the highway, thereby safeguarding neighbouring amenity in accordance with  
saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

13.14. No commercial vehicles shall enter the public highway unless their wheels and 

chassis have been cleaned to prevent materials being deposited on the highway.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to prevent mud and dust getting on 

the highway, thereby safeguarding neighbouring amenity in accordance with  
saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

14.15. From the date of commencement of this permission the operator(s) shall maintain 

records of their monthly throughput including mineral production, importation of 

hazardous and non-hazardous waste, clinical waste, inert waste, non-putrescible 

waste and residual transferred waste at the MRF and shall make them available to 

the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority at any time upon request. The records 

should be kept for a minimum of 12 months.

 Reason: To define the scope of the development in the interests of safeguarding    

the amenity of nearby residents, highway safety, for the avoidance of an 

unacceptable impacts on the highway network and monitoring purposes in 

accordance with policy WCS8 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (2012) 
and saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

15.16. CCTV monitoring within the curtilage of the site for enforcement of the access and 

weight limit restrictions to and from the western access shall be undertaken in 

accordance with the details submitted by email on 01/05/2012.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with policy INF1 of the 
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 and 

saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

16.17. There shall be no general public use of the Materials Recovery Facility.

Reason: General public use of the facility would be likely to generate additional traffic 

and resultant possible hazards or nuisance. Such usage would require further 

Page 139



114

analysis and possible remedial works and in accordance with policy INF1 of the 
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 and 

saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

17.18. Access to and egress from the site, shall only be via the Eastern and Western 

accesses to Stoke Orchard Road as shown in drawing number GRU004 rev A (dated 

30/04/09).

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy INF1 of the 
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 and 

saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

18.19. Hours of operation
The following restrictions shall apply to the operations of the site:

a. There shall be no acceptance of waste to the Materials Recovery Facility 

(MRF), no transportation of waste, or landfilling operations, or mineral 

operations (including the manoeuvring, loading, unloading of vehicles, or any 

primary or ancillary activity associated with the waste management facility or 

mineral extraction operations) on the Site and with the exception of deliveries 

to the waste treatment plant, no HGVs shall enter or leave the site except 

between the following hours (excluding HGVs parked by the MRF/workshop 

area that are allowed to leave the site via eastern site entrance from 06:00 on 

Monday to Friday):

07:00 -18:00 Monday to Friday; and

07:30 -13:00 Saturday (and till 16:30 on any Saturdays following a Bank 
Holiday);

b. Operations within the MRF building, including vehicle servicing shall only take 

place between the following hours:

06:30 - 21:00 Monday to Friday; and

07:00 - 14:00 Saturday (and till 16:30 on any Saturdays following a Bank 
Holiday),
09:00 – 16:30 for one Bank Holiday in Easter (Good Friday)

Page 140



115

c. Access to the waste treatment plant (APC treatment plant) for deliveries is 

permitted 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

d. Except in emergencies (details of which shall be communicated to the 

Minerals and Waste Planning Authority as soon as possible after the event) 

and with the exception of operations within the Materials Recovery Facility 

building, there shall be no waste delivered to the site and no operations at the 

Site on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays other than Good Friday, except for 

essential maintenance work or in response to any emergencies.

Reason: In the interests of limiting the effects on local amenity, to control the impacts 

of the development in accordance with saved policy 38 of the Gloucestershire 
Waste Local Plan 2002-2012 and as in accordance with the application document.

19. The following parts of the operational hours permitted under planning 
condition 18 shall cease at midnight on the 5th July 2022:

Part a: “(and till 16:30 on Saturdays following the Bank Holiday)”;
Part b: “(and till 16:30 on Saturdays following the Bank Holiday)” and

“09:00 – 16:30 for one Bank Holiday in Easter (Good Friday)”
Part d: “other than Good Friday”.

Reason: In the interests of limiting the effects on local amenity, to control the 
impacts of the development in accordance with saved policy 38 of the 
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012 and as in accordance with the 
application document.

20. Noise
All plant and machinery shall be fitted with and use effective silencers at all times in 

accordance with the manufacturers recommendations and shall operate only within 

the permitted hours.

Reason: To reduce the impact of the development on the locality in accordance with 

saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

Page 141



116

21. The amenity and site management control scheme to control dust, noise and litter 

shall be undertaken in accordance with the details submitted by email dated 

01/05/2012 and maintained throughout the duration of the development.

Reason: To protect the amenity of the locality, especially for people living and 

working nearby and to conform with saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste 

Local Plan 2002-2012.

22. Between the hours of 06:00 and 18:00 hours, the noise levels arising from the 

development shall not exceed 55 dB (Laeq) (one hour), freefield, at the curtilage of 

any of the noise sensitive properties [known as Home Farm, Wingmoor Lodge and 

Haydon].

Reason: In the interests of the local amenity and to accord with saved policy 37 of 

the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

23. Between the hours of 18:00 and 06:00 hours, the noise levels arising from the 

development shall not exceed 42dB (LAeq)(one hour), freefield at the curtilage of any 

of the noise sensitive properties (known as Home Farm, Wingmoor Lodge and 

Haydon).

Reason: In the interests of the local amenity and to accord with saved policy 37 of 

the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

24. Without prejudice to the requirements of any other conditions of this consent, the 

authorised operation shall be so conducted that noise emitted from engineering and 

restoration operations shall not exceed 70dB(LAeq)(1hr) freefield at the curtilage of 

any of the noise sensitive properties (known as Home Farm, Wingmoor Lodge and 

Haydon) when stripping soils and overburden from the site, for a maximum period of 

eight weeks in any 1 year period between 1st January to the 31st December of the 

same year.

Reason: To protect the amenities of residents and to accord with saved policy 37 of 

the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

Page 142



117

25. Odour Control
The operator shall provide, implement and maintain effective odour suppression 

measures inside the MRF building, having particular regard for the bay areas 

containing the bulked residual municipal waste and the inner perimeter of the building 

in accordance with the measures set out in paragraph 2.6.23 of the ‘Planning 

Supporting Statement’ produced by Grundon and dated December 2019.

Reason: To minimise environmental impact, to safeguard the amenities of local 

residents/occupiers and to accord with policy WCS10 of the Gloucestershire Waste 

Core Strategy (2012) and saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 

2002-2012.

26. Dust
The operator shall provide, implement and maintain effective dust suppression 

measures, including damping down of the site accesses, all haul roads and mineral 

stockpiles during periods of prolonged dry weather in accordance with appropriate 

mitigation measures proposed in paragraphs 11.96 and 11.97 of chapter 11 (Air 

Quality) of the Environmental Statement submitted in connection with the 
approved substantive extant application 09/0028/TWMAJW.

Reason: To minimise environmental impact, to safeguard the amenities of local 

residents/occupiers and to accord with saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste 

Local Plan 2002-2012.

27. Any vehicles used for the movement of any material, including soil, overburden or 

aggregate, shall have exhausts pointed away from the ground and heavy plant shall 

be fitted with radiator fan deflector plates.

Reason: In the interests of amenity, and to minimise any disturbance or nuisance that 

may be caused by noise or dust to local residents and users of the area, and to 

accord with policy DM03 of the adopted Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire 
2018-2032.

28. Litter
Litter shall be prevented from leaving the site through the use of litter fences, placing 

daily cover on wastes, and regular litter picking. During periods where windblown litter 

Page 143



118

cannot be controlled by the mitigation measures in place, the site shall be closed.

Reason: To minimise environmental impact and to safeguard the amenities of local 

residents and to accord with saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local 

Plan 2002-2012.

29. Lighting
External floodlighting and other illumination at the site shall be undertaken in 

accordance with the details submitted by email on 01/05/2012 and maintained 

throughout the duration of the development.

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area and to accord with saved policy 

37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

30. Environmental protection/pollution control
Any facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on impervious 

bases and surrounded by impervious bund walls. The volume of the bunded 

compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the tank plus 10%. If there is 

multiple tankage, the compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the 

largest tank, vessel or the combined capacity of interconnected tanks or vessels plus 

10%. All filling points, associated pipework, vents gauges and sight glasses must be 

located within the bund or have separate secondary containment. The drainage 

system of the bund shall be sealed with no discharge to any watercourse, land or 

underground strata. Associated pipework shall be located above ground and 

protected from accidental damage. All filling points and tank/vessels overflow pipe 

outlets shall be detailed to discharge downwards into the bund.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to accord with saved 
policy 33 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

31. Prior to being discharged into any watercourse, surface water or soakaway system, 

all surface water drainage from the Eastern and Western access roads, parking areas 

and hard standing shall be passed through an oil interceptor designed and 

constructed to have a capacity and details compatible with the site being drained. 

Roof water shall not pass through the interceptor.

Page 144



119

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment and to accord with saved 
policy 33 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

32. Within 6 months of the date of this permission, a scheme for a detailed surface water 

drainage strategy for the restoration phase(s) of the development based on 

sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and 

hydrogeological context of the development, shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority. The scheme shall 

subsequently be implemented and completed in accordance with the approved 

details.

The scheme shall also include:

a. details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed after 

completion;

b. time scales for implementation.

Reason: To ensure the future surface water drainage system minimises the risk of 

surface water flooding, improves and protects water quality, improves habitat and 

amenity, and ensures future maintenance of the surface water drainage system and 

to accord with saved policy 33 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

33. Leachate treatment facilities shall not be brought into operation at the site until details 

of the plant and buildings, including design, dimensions, materials and maintenance 

scheme, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Minerals and Waste 

Planning Authority.

Reason: To minimise environmental impact and to safeguard the amenities of local 

residents and to accord with saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local 

Plan 2002-2012.

34. Protection of the railway line
No operations shall take place within a lateral distance of 25 metres from the railway 

boundary, and outside that distance no excavation shall take place that will encroach 

upon the plane drawn at 1 vertical to 1.5 horizontal downwards from the 25 metre 

berm.

Page 145



120

Reason: To maintain the integrity of the existing drainage systems and prevent 

flooding of railway infrastructure or land and to accord with saved policy 37 of the

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

35. The exposed face of the working, adjacent to the railway boundary, shall be 

maintained in a stable condition until backfilling takes place.

Reason: To maintain the integrity of the existing drainage systems and prevent 

flooding of railway infrastructure or land and to accord with saved policy 37 of the 

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

36. Trees planted close to the railway should be located at a distance in excess of their 

mature height from railway property.

Reason: Derailment of trains can occur where trees are blown down across railway 

tracks and to accord with saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 

2002-2012.

37. The works shall not generate an increase in the existing flow rates into any culvert 

that passes beneath the railway without the prior written approval of the Minerals and 

Waste Planning Authority.

Reason: To maintain the integrity of the existing drainage systems and prevent 

flooding of railway infrastructure or land and to accord with saved policy 37 of the 

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

38. Storm or surface water must not be discharged onto or towards Network rail property.

Reason: To maintain the integrity of the existing drainage systems and prevent 

flooding of railway infrastructure or land and to accord with saved policy 37 of the 

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

39. Soakaways or lagoons constructed as a means of storm/surface water disposal or 

storage must not be constructed within 25 metres of the railway boundary or at any 

point which could adversely affect the stability of Network Rail infrastructure.

Page 146



121

Reason: To maintain the integrity of the existing drainage systems and prevent 

flooding of railway infrastructure or land and to accord with saved policy 37 of the

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

40. Cranes and jibbed machines, used in connection with the works, must be so 

positioned that the jib or any suspended load does not swing over the railway 

infrastructure. All cranes, machinery and constructional plant must be so positioned 

and used to prevent the accidental entry onto railway property of such plant, or loads 

attached thereto, in the event of failure.

Reason: To maintain the safety of the railway operations and to accord with saved 

policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

41. A suitable trespass-proof fence adjacent to the existing railway boundary shall be 

provided by the developer when public access to the permissive footpath is allowed.

Reason: To prevent public access to the railway and to accord with saved policy 37 

of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

42. Ecology
Landscape Restoration and Management site shall be undertaken in accordance with 

the details submitted by email on 01/05/2012 (David Jarvis Associates, Landscape 

Restoration and Management Scheme, 13 April 2012) and maintained for the 

duration of the development.

Reason: To conserve and enhance local biodiversity and to accord with policy 
WCS15 of the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (2012), saved policy 37 of 

the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012, and policy SD5 of the 
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031.

43. Landscape
Tree removal and tree surgery shall be undertaken in accordance with details 

submitted by email on 01/05/2012.

Reason: To protect the boundary and site trees without the requirement for a full 

arboricultural survey that may cause the applicant abortive work and costs given the 

Page 147



122

timescales involved and scope of work, and to accord with saved policy 37 of the 

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

44. Landscape Restoration shall be undertaken in accordance with the details submitted 

by email on 01/05/2012 by David Jarvis Associates, Detailed Landscape Scheme, 13 

April 2012) and maintained for the duration of the development.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory and timely restoration of the site as works 

progress in accordance with policy SD5 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031, along with saved policies 37 and 42 

of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

45. The Landscape Management Plan shall be undertaken in accordance with the details 

submitted in the report by David Jarvis Associates entitled Detailed Landscape 

Scheme dated 13 April 2012 and maintained for the duration of the development.

Reason: To ensure the successful restoration of the site, so that landscape, visual 

and biodiversity requirements are met and to accord with policy SD5 of the 
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031, along 
with saved policies 37 and 42 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

46. The details and locations of all permanent fencing, gates or similar, hard surfacing, 

and structures or buildings to be retained at the completion of the restoration works to 

include materials, finishes and colours shall be undertaken in accordance with details 

provided on plan reference 1823/C49/001 and maintained for the duration of the 

development.

Reason: To ensure an appropriate, rural appearance to the restored site in keeping 

with the surrounding landscape and to accord with policy SD5 of the Gloucester, 
Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 and saved policy 37 

of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

47. The Permissive Public Access shall be undertaken in accordance with the details 

submitted in the report by David Jarvis Associates entitled Detailed Landscape 

Scheme, dated 13 April 2012.

Page 148



123

Reason: This to ensure appropriate and early public access to the restored area for 

the general benefit and health of the public and to accord with policy SD5 of the 
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 and

saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

48. Premature cessation of landfilling operations
In the event of a cessation of operations (the date of which should be communicated 

in writing to the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority within 14 days of such 

cessation), for a period exceeding 6 months, at any time before the development is 

completed, a reinstatement and restoration scheme shall be submitted to the Waste 

Planning Authority for written approval within 9 months of the cessation. The scheme 

shall provide revised details of final levels, restoration, capping, landscaping and a 

timescale for the implementation of the scheme and each element within it. The 

approved scheme shall be carried out in accordance within the approved timescale.

Reason: To provide for the completion and progressive restoration of the site within 

the approved timescale in accordance with policy WCS8 of the Gloucestershire 

Waste Core Strategy (2012).

49. Review of restoration progress
A review of the available void space and rates of infill at the site shall be carried out 

by the operator, or successor in title, and submitted to the waste planning authority by 

1st December 2022.

If the pre-settlement restoration levels shown on Drawing No. GRU005 (dated March 

2009) are unlikely to be met in accordance with dates set out in Condition 1 above a 

revised scheme to provide for complete restoration of the site by 30th June 2030 shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing. Once such a scheme has been approved, it 

shall be implemented in full, including if necessary seeking planning permission for 

the changes to the operations and restoration scheme.

Reason: To secure the proper restoration of the site within a reasonable and 

acceptable timescale and to accord with policy SD5 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham 
and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 and saved policy 37 of the 

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

Page 149



124

50. Restoration
Any building, plant, machinery, foundation, hard standing, roadway, structure or 

erection in the nature of plant or machinery (including the MRF and associated office 

accommodation), the weighbridge, and wheel wash used in connection with the 

development hereby permitted shall be removed from the site when they are 

respectively no longer required for the purpose for which they were installed and in 

any case not later than 30th June 2030 and upon their removal the land shall be 

restored in accordance with the agreed restoration scheme.

Reason: To secure the proper restoration of the site within a reasonable and 

acceptable timescale and to comply to secure the proper restoration of the site within 

a reasonable and acceptable timescale and to accord with policy SD5 of the 
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 and 

saved policy 37 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

51. The waste treatment plant associated with the hazardous waste shall be removed 

from the site on or before the 30th June 2028 or upon the cessation of the importation 

of hazardous waste, whichever is the sooner. The site shall be restored in 

accordance with the agreed restoration scheme.

Reason: To secure the proper restoration of the site within a reasonable and 

acceptable timescale and to accord with policy SD5 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham 
and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 and saved policy 37 of the 

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002-2012.

Notes to Applicant:

1. The Highways Authority will seek to recover extraordinary maintenance payments for 

any damage to the Stoke Orchard Road in the vicinity of the site access and 

unclassified roads as identified in the routing plan, that are attributed to the proposed 

operations in accordance with the provisions of Section 59 of the Highways Act 

1980. 

2. If a protected species (such as great crested newt, badger or reptile) is discovered 

using a feature on site that would be affected by the development or construction 

work all work at that locality should cease. A suitably qualified ecological consultant 

Page 150



125

or Natural England should be contacted and the situation assessed before operations 

can proceed. This action is necessary to avoid possible prosecution and ensure 

compliance with the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the 

Conservation (Natural Habitats & c.) Regulations 2010 and the Protection of Badgers 

Act 1992. This advice note should be passed on to any persons/contractors carrying 

out the development.

3. If at any time nesting birds are observed on site, then certain works which might 

affect them should cease and advice sought from a suitably qualified ecological 

consultant or Natural England. This is to comply with the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981 (as amended) and avoid possible prosecution. You are additionally advised that 

tree or shrub removal works should not take place between 1st March and 31st 

August inclusive unless a survey to assess nesting bird activity during this period is 

undertaken. If it is decided on the basis of such survey to carry out tree or shrub 

removal works then they should be supervised and controlled by a suitably qualified 

ecological consultant. This advice note should be passed onto any 

persons/contractors carrying out the development.

4. In relation to the County Council's Service Level Agreement with the Local Biological 

Records Centre and to assist in the strategic conservation of countywide biodiversity, 

all species and habitat records from the ecological work commissioned by the 

applicant should be copied [preferably in electronic format] to the Gloucestershire 

Centre for Environmental Records (GCER).

5. The Environment Agency requires that the final drainage scheme post restoration is 

designed in accordance with PPS 25 (or any future update of this policy). This will 

entail designing all drainage features including ditches to at least the 1 in 100 year 

flood event plus the appropriate allowance for climate change. We also advise an 

assessment of an extreme event and residual risk is included (this could be based on 

the rainfall that occurred on the 19 and 20 July 2007 that contributed to the significant 

floods in the area at that time).

6. The Environment Agency recommend including a specific sacrificial area within the 

final pond designs to minimise future disturbance to these features through future 

maintenance.

Page 151



126

7. From the commencement of the to the cessation of the use hereby permitted a copy 

of the terms of this planning permission including all documents hereby approved and 

any documents subsequently approved in accordance with this permission (or 

amendments approved pursuant to this permission) shall be displayed at the office on 

the site and shall be made known to any person(s) given responsibility for the 

management or control of the waste operations on site.

8. It would be preferable for deciduous trees and pines not to be planted close to the 

operational railway to avoid shedding of foliage which can present operational 

difficulties.

9. For safety reasons, Network Rail needs to be aware of all development adjacent to its 

property and should be notified of any significant alteration to the characteristics of 

the work or site, for example changes in the depth of working, limits of extraction and 

nature of any waste materials.

10. To prevent contamination of the railway property, all appropriate measures shall be 

employed to ensure that litter from the site does not enter Network Rail Property.

11. To prevent contamination of railway property if the levels of methane (CH4) or carbon 

dioxide (CO2) recorded in monitoring boreholes sited alongside the railway property 

achieve the trigger levels specified in the Waste Management paper 27 (which are 

CH4 1% by volume in air, and CO2 1.5% by volume in air), or the levels as specified 

in the site licence, Network Rail requires immediate notification of such an occurrence 

together with copies of the gas monitoring results and details of the measures to be 

implemented to mitigate the situation.

12. There must be no reduction in the effectiveness of any drain or watercourse 

belonging to Network Rail. Furthermore, there must be no interference to any existing 

drainage rights that Network Rail enjoys.

13. Storm or surface water drainage: Suitable drainage or other works must be provided 

and maintained by the developer to prevent surface flows or run-off affecting the 

railway.

Page 152



127

14. Any alteration, building or ground works proposed in the vicinity of Central Network 

cables that may or may not directly affect Central Network cables, must be notified in 

detail to Central Networks.

15. Gloucestershire Geological Trust should be allowed reasonable periodic access to 

the site for scientific recording.

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



Sarah Pearse 12/01/2022

Delegated decisions between 24th June 2021 and 12th January 2022
County Matters 

Application Ref Proposal Site Location Decision Issue 
Date

Decision

20/0030/CWMAJW Proposed increase in importation of waste 
for feedstock for the existing Anaerobic 
Digester Plant from 70,000 tonnes up to 
120,000 tonnes annually.

Stanleys Quarry
Greenway Road
Blockley
Gloucestershire

20/09/2021 Consent

20/0057/CWMAJM Extension to Nayles larch building stone 
quarry with restoration to limestone 
grassland.

Land Parcel to The Northwest 
of Nayles Larch Building
Snowshill Hill
Cutsdean
Gloucestershire

03/12/2021 Consent

20/0062/STMAJW Variation of condition 2 (Scope of 
Development) and removal of condition 6 
(No Clay) relating to planning consent 
15/0026/STMAJW dated 13.08.2015.

Brooklands
Coaley
Gloucestershire
GL11 5DP

10/09/2021 Consent

21/0003/SCOPE Scoping opinion request to vary condition 
2, 3 and 9 of planning permission 
19/0009/CWMAJM dated 19.03.2020 to 
allow recycling of imported inert material.

Farmington Stone Quarry
Farmington
Gloucestershire
GL54 3NZ

09/08/2021 Screening/Sc
oping Opinion 
Issued

21/0022/SCREEN Screening request for a proposed ground-
mounted solar generator on part of the 
Sewage Treatment Works.

Cirencester Sewage 
Treatment Works
Nursery Road
Siddington
Gloucestershire GL7 6DA

05/08/2021 Screening/Sc
oping Opinion 
Issued

P
age 155

A
genda Item

 8



Sarah Pearse 12/01/2022

21/0040/NONMAT Non-material amendment to condition 
29(Landscaping scheme - revised fencing 
type) relating to 16/0101/CWMAJW dated 
06.07.2017 and 19/0082/COMPLI dated 
22.01.2020.

Cotswold Hills Golf Club
Ullenwood Manor Road
Ullenwood
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire GL53 9QT

07/07/2021 Non Material 
Amendment 
Approval

21/0043/SCREEN Screening request in relation to proposed 
upgrading of STW the scheme includes a 
range of works to increase hydraulic flow 
through the STW and upgrade the existing 
treatment infrastructure.

Blockley Sewage Treatment 
Works (STW)
Station Road
Blockley
Gloucestershire

04/08/2021 Screening/Sc
oping Opinion 
Issued

21/0047/GLS73W Variation of condition 9 (Ancillary to 
Landfill Operation) relating to planning 
consent 15/0024/GLMAJW dated 
06/08/2015.

Hempsted Landfill Site
Hempsted Lane
Gloucester
Gloucestershire

23/11/2021 Consent

21/0051/PAPP3 Pre-application advice to vary condition 3 
and 10 of planning permission 
19/0059/CWMAJM to amend the approved 
drainage strategy by removing the high 
conductivity drainage channels.

Manor Farm Pit
Washpool Lane
Kempsford
Gloucestershire
GL7 4NJ

30/09/2021 Pre-app 
advice letter 
issued

21/0058/CWMAJM Planning Application to Permit the 
Development of a Vehicular Bridge 
Crossing the Dudgrove Brook and 
Removal of Hedgerow.

Manor Farm Pit
Washpool Lane
Kempsford
Gloucestershire
GL7 4NJ

29/11/2021 Consent

21/0063/FDS73W Variation of condition 2 (Scope of 
Development) & 8 (restoration and 
aftercare) relating to planning consent 
19/0004/FDMAJW, dated 17/05/2019; 
12/0046/FDMAJW dated 05/03/2014 and 
08/0058/FDMAJW for the infilling of the 
former quarry with inert material an and 

The Former Sand Quarry
Bell Lane
Bromsberrow Heath
Ledbury
HR8 1NX

13/12/2021 Consent

P
age 156



Sarah Pearse 12/01/2022

restoration to amenity use comprising 
wildflower/meadow grass mix with 
woodland planting, dated 20.10.2009

Regulation 3 Applications   
Application Ref Proposal Site Location Decision Issue 

Date
Decision

20/0036/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 7 (Tree & 
Hedge Protection ) & 10(Archaeology) 
relating to planning consent 
20/0006/CWR3MJ dated 07/08/2020.

Cotswold School
Station Road
Bourton-On-The-Water
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire GL54 2BD

01/12/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

20/0052/GLREG3 40 space private car park including access 
and boundary treatments at Llanthony 
Road (Amended red line).

Gloucester South West 
Bypass (GSWB) 
Llanthony Road
Gloucester
Gloucestershire

10/11/2021 Consent

21/0024/CHR3MJ Re-development of Warden Hill primary 
school.  Construction of new 14 
Classroom Primary school to immediate 
south of existing school. The existing 
buildings remaining in place while the new 
building is constructed. New car parking, 
improved pedestrian access and improved 
playing field.

Warden Hill Primary School
Durham Close
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL51 3DF

09/09/2021 Consent

21/0030/CWREG3 Proposed modular building. Temple Guiting C of E School
Temple Guiting
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL54 5RW

02/08/2021 Consent

21/0034/TWR3MJ Variation of condition 2 (scope of Winchcombe Secondary 03/09/2021 Consent

P
age 157



Sarah Pearse 12/01/2022

development) relating to planning consent 
20/0002/TWR3MJ dated 17/06/2020. The 
design for the canopy over the central 
courtyard has been revised to create a 
clear open space and omit a central line of 
columns. This changes the roof form from 
a double barrel vaulted form to a single 
vault.

School
Greet Road
Winchcombe
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL54 5LB

21/0037/GLREG3 Demolition of building and erection of new 
single storey children’s home (use class 
C2)

Land to The North Of
8 Barnwood Road
Gloucester
Gloucestershire GL2 0RX

12/08/2021 Consent

21/0038/GLREG3 The proposals include two storey side and 
roof extensions to 6 and 8 Barnwood Road 
and change of use to children’s home 
(C2).

6-8 Barnwood Road
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL2 0RX

12/08/2021 Consent

21/0041/COMPLI Compliance with condition 7(biodiversity 
scheme) relating to planning consent 
20/0065/CHREG3 dated 10/02/2021.

Belmont School
Warden Hill Road
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire GL51 3AT

24/06/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

21/0042/STREG3 Installation of 3m high security fence 
around the front of the site to create 
secure, tarmacadam drop off, parking and 
play areas. Creation of a new, secure 
vehicular access with drop kerb. Retention 
of existing vehicular and pedestrian 
access points, with new secure gates.

7 Tyndale Road
Cam
Gloucestershire
GL11 6LH

05/08/2021 Consent

21/0044/GLREG3 Erection of 2.4m high weld mesh fencing 
to rear boundary.

Rutherford House
Olympus Park
Quedgeley
Gloucester
Gloucestershire GL2 4NF

25/08/2021 Consent

P
age 158



Sarah Pearse 12/01/2022

21/0049/TWREG3 Permission for temporary building and 
Nursery relocation on existing school site.

Ashchurch Primary School
Ashchurch Road
Tewkesbury
Gloucestershire GL20 8LA

26/08/2021 Consent

21/0053/COMPLI Compliance with condition 7 (landscape 
compensation) of planning permission 
20/0011/CHREG3 dated 18/05/2020

Belmont School
Warden Hill Road
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire GL51 3AT

15/09/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

21/0057/COMPLI Compliance with condition 5 (School 
Travel Plan) relating to planning consent 
19/0013/TWREG3 dated 16/12/2019.

Ashchurch Primary School
Ashchurch Road
Tewkesbury
Gloucestershire GL20 8LA

05/11/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

21/0059/NONMAT Non-material amendment for the 
relocation of some areas previously 
agreed as wildflower meadow  (3842-106 
Rev J is superseded by plan 3842-106 
Rev L) relating to planning consent 
20/0006/CWR3MJ dated 07/08/2020.

Cotswold School
Station Road
Bourton-On-The-Water
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL54 2BD

01/09/2021 Non Material 
Amendment 
Approval

21/0061/COMPLI Compliance with condition 15 (Details of 
MUGA pitch) relating to planning consent 
20/0032/CHR3MJ dated 18.03.2021.

Land Between
Farm Lane/Kidnappers Lane
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

11/11/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

21/0062/NONMAT Non-material amendment to change the 
existing specification of the metal roof 
manufacturer from Euroclad to Kalzip only 
relating to planning consent 
20/0032/CHR3MJ dated 21/07/2020. 
 

Land Between
Farm Lane/Kidnappers Lane
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

11/08/2021 Non Material 
Amendment 
Approval

21/0065/TWREG3 Erection of wooden screen up to 1.9 
metres high.

Station Road
Tewkesbury
Gloucestershire

12/10/2021 Consent

P
age 159



Sarah Pearse 12/01/2022

21/0073/NONMAT Non-material amendment to vary the 
consented drainage scheme relating to 
planning consent 19/0013/TWREG3 dated 
16/12/2019. 

Ashchurch Primary School
Ashchurch Road
Tewkesbury
Gloucestershire GL2O 8LA

13/10/2021 Non Material 
Amendment 
Approval

21/0074/CHR3MJ Engineering works to Arle Court Park and 
Ride Facility including provision of right 
turn lane from Grovefield Way

Arle Court Park & Ride
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

05/11/2021 Consent

21/0076/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 2(Prior 
Notification of Commencement), 
17(Landscape Details) and 22(Sewage 
Treatment) relating to planning consent 
21/0024/CHR3MJ dated 09/09/2021.

Warden Hill Primary School
Durham Close
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL51 3DF

18/11/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

21/0077/COMPLI Compliance with condition 17(Fencing) 
relating to planning consent 
20/0006/CWR3MJ dated 07/08/2020.

Cotswold School
Station Road
Bourton-On-The-Water
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire
GL54 2BD

02/11/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

21/0080/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 7 (Site 
Compound), 8 (Site Access and Egress), 
14 (Bat Roost Detection Survey) & 26 
(Hoarding & Fencing) relating to planning 
consent 18/0052/GLR3MJ dated 
10/04/2021.

Gloucester South West 
Bypass (GSWB) 
Llanthony Road
Gloucester
Gloucestershire

08/12/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

21/0082/COMPLI Compliance with condition 25 (Ecology - 
lighting) relating to planning consent 
20/0032/CHR3MJ dated 21/07/2020.

Land Between
Farm Lane/Kidnappers Lane
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

17/12/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

21/0087/COMPLI Compliance with Condition 13(External 
lighting) and 16(Odour) relating to 
planning consent 20/0054/TWR3MJ dated 
23/03/2021

Land at Henley Bank School 
(North Of Mill Lane)
Mill Lane
Brockworth

17/12/2021 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

P
age 160



Sarah Pearse 12/01/2022

Gloucester
Gloucestershire GL3 4QF

21/0095/NONMAT Non-material amendment to condition 
3(construction working hours) relating to 
planning consent 21/0074/CHR3MJ dated 
05/11/2021.

Arle Court Park & Ride
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

07/01/2022 Non Material 
Amendment 
Approval

P
age 161



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of previous meeting
	Minutes

	6 Members Site Visit
	19_0066_TWMAJW_ Figure 1 - daily weighbridge calcs 01.05.2020 to 30.04.2021
	19_0066_TWMAJW_Figure_1_monthly_weighbridge_data_01.05.2020 to 30.04.2021
	Notes MSV 20 Jan 2022 final

	7 SITE: Wingmoor Farm East, Stoke Road, Bishop’s Cleeve, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire, GL52 7DG  Application No: 19/0066/TWMAJW
	8 Delegated Decisions Report

